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PART

Freescale Semiconductor Ltd and its wholly-owned subsidiaries including Freescale Semiconductor Inc

Freescale Inc are collectively referred to as the Company Freescale we us or our as the

context requires Freescale the Freescale logo Code Warrior Coldfire Coldfire Kinetis Layerscape

PowerQUICC QorIQ Qorivva StarCore VortiQa and Xtrinsic are our trademarks and copyrights Other

names used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are for informational purposes only and may be trademarks of

their respective owners We were incorporated in Bermuda on November 2006

Item Business

Overview

We are global leader in embedded processing solutions An embedded processing solution is the

combination of embedded processors complementary semiconductor devices and software Our embedded

processor products include microcontrollers MCUs single-and multi-core microprocessors MPUs digital

signal controllers DSCs applications processors and digital signal processors DSPs These programmable

devices along with software provide the core functionality of electronic systems adding essential control and

intelligence enhancing performance and optimizing power usage while lowering system costs We also offer

complementary semiconductor products including radio frequency RF power management analog

mixed-signal devices and sensors key element of our strategy is to combine our embedded processors

complementary semiconductor devices and software to offer highly integrated solutions that are increasingly

sought by our customers to simplify their development efforts and shorten their time to market In addition we
are expanding our customer base by more aggressively leveraging the unique breadth and depth of our product

portfolio We have heritage of innovation and product leadership spanning over 50 years and have an extensive

intellectual property portfolio We sell our products directly to original equipment manufacturers OEMs
distributors original design manufacturers and contract manufacturers Our close customer relationships have

been built upon years of collaborative product development

Our products are used in some of the fastest growing applications within the industrial networking

automotive and consumer markets These applications include automotive safety vehicle efficiency next

generation wireless infrastructure cloud computing and data centers smart energy portable medical devices

consumer appliances and smart devices We leverage our deep customer relationships intellectual
property

portfolio extensive suite of software and design tools and technical expertise to introduce innovative new

products and solutions in the markets we are targeting We believe our ability to leverage our intellectual

property across product lines and target markets enables us to be early to market with our products

The trend of increasing connectivity and the need for enhanced intelligence in existing and new markets are the

primary drivers of the growth of embedded processing solutions Growing electronic content in automobiles

increasing network bandwidth connected industrial and medical electronics context-based sensing the proliferation

of smart devices and the increasing importance of power efficiency are the growth drivers of our business

In connection with the appointment of Gregg Lowe as our president and chief executive officer CEO we

performed detailed review of our strategic direction with the overall objective of identifying opportunities that

would accelerate revenue growth and improve profitability As result of this analysis during the fourth quarter

of 2012 we realigned our product groups as follows

Microcontrollers include our MCUs and application processors focusing on industrial multi-market

connectivity smart energy healthcare and multimedia applications This group will also be the primary

driver for our overall microcontroller technology development creating technology platforms that will

eventually be deployed to our Automotive MCU product group

Digital Networking includes scalable portfolio of multi-core communication and DSP system-on-chip

solutions serving the networking and communications markets We are increasing our investment in

software to effectively enable our highly integrated solutions in systems aimed at these markets



Automotive MCUs includes our MCUs developed for the automotive market Our focus is to capture

new growth opportunities in Asia and Japan and to gain overall market share in automotive MCUs We

plan to accomplish this by building on our latest developments for powertrain advanced safety and

vehicle networking applications while leveraging existing and new applications

Analog and Sensors includes our automotive analog mixed-signal analog and sensor products Our

focus in analog is to capture new markets and target investments in automotive and mixed signal

analog We are developing analog products that complement our MCUs and various products sold into

the consumer market Our sensors portfolio is focused on high growth markets including industrial and

consumer while continuing to develop applications for the automotive market

RF includes our RF power amplifiers Our focus is to utilize increased research and development

spending to drive into new markets and accelerate revenue growth

In connection with this realignment we began reallocating our research and development investment to

reflect our strategic focus on the product groups highlighted above We anticipate overall research and

development spending levels at target rate of 17% of sales over the long-term We also began shifting sales

resources to align with industry growth in China and select opportunities in Korea Taiwan and Japan As

result we expect to increase the number of accounts covered and expand our presence in distribution Along with

these changes we have combined all of our manufacturing operations under single leader to drive sharper

focus on execution efficiency and reduced manufacturing costs Our manufacturing operations include our

fabrication facilities assembly and test operations planning procurement quality and technology organizations

Our Industry

Semiconductor Market Overview

Semiconductors perform broad variety of functions within electronic products and systems including

processing data storing information and converting or controlling electronic signals Semiconductor

functionality varies significantly depending upon the specific function or application of the end product in which

the semiconductor is used Semiconductors also vary on number of technical characteristics including the

degree of integration level of customization for particular application or customer and the process technology

utilized to manufacture the semiconductor Advances in semiconductor technology have increased the

functionality and performance of semiconductors improving their features and power consumption

characteristics while reducing their size and cost These advances have resulted in the proliferation of

semiconductors and electronic content across diverse array
of products

Increasing Proliferation of Embedded Processing Solutions

Embedded processors are stand-alone semiconductors that perform dedicated or embedded computing

functions in electronic systems They provide the core functionality within electronic systems adding essential

control and intelligence enhancing performance and optimizing power usage while lowering system costs These

products can be programmed to address specific requirements of electronic systems in wide variety of

applications and products Embedded processing solutions combine an embedded processor most commonly

MCU MPU DSC or DSP with software and various sensors interfaces analog power management RF

and networking capabilities

The proliferation of embedded processing solutions is being driven by the need for increased performance and

capabilities connectivity power efficiency and lower costs Advances in semiconductor design have resulted in

smaller and more energy
efficient embedded processors

and solutions that enable design engineers to increase system

intelligence across broad and continually increasing variety of products Embedded processors are well-suited to

meet the demands of these products as they provide an efficient combination of processing capabilities per unit of

energy consumed Offering embedded processing solutions by integrating embedded processors
with complementary

products such as RF power management and analog and mixed-signal semiconductors and several categories of

sensors enables OEMs to offer products with higher performance at lower cost



Our Target Markets

We have strategic focus on markets that we believe are characterized by long-term attractive growth

opportunities and where we enjoy sustained competitive differentiation through our technology leadership

Industrial Networking Automotive Consumer

Key Applications Building factory Cloud computing data Automotive safety chassis Smart devices

automation centers
Powertrain engine Electronic gaming

Portable medical devices Wired wireless management
infrastructure basestations

eReaders

Smart grid smart Body security

energy meters Wireless small cell
Phone game sensors

basestations
Automotive infotainment

Consumer appliances systems

home energy control Networked printing imaging

gateways
Vehicle networking

information

Servers security
Radar and vision systems

Growth Drivers Power efficiency Proliferation of smart devices Increasing unit sales of
Digital content creation

mobile data automobiles worldwide distribution and consumption
Machme to machine M2M

communications Increasing demand for Increasing semiconductor Proliferation of smart mobile

bandwith cloud computing content per vehicle devices

Digital content creation Government requirements Gaming

distribution and consumption consumer demands for

increased safety comfort

and efficiency

Industrial Market

The industrial market is comprised of wide variety of diverse submarkets such as smart energy and smart

meters white goods M2M connectivity portable medical devices and home and building automation The

demand for
energy conservation including the increased adoption of electronic utility metering also commonly

known as smart meters drives increased semiconductor demand These smart meters incorporate semiconductors

to enable precision metrology and connectivity with the power grid and home networks In the white goods

market consumer appliances require more sophisticated electronic control systems to reduce resource

consumption such as electricity water and gas and to provide richer user interface through touch controls The

use of M2M connectivity in commercial and industrial environments also is increasing This technology allows

device such as sensor or meter to capture an event such as temperature reading or inventory level and turn

it into meaningful information for example by communicating that an item needs restocking The market for

medical imaging diagnostics therapy and portable remote monitoring equipment is expected to benefit from

aging populations in developed economies and the need for portability in emerging markets creating demand for

precision analog connectivity and ultra low-power components

Networking Market

Growth in the networking market is driven by strong consumer demand for digital content increased

enterprise adoption of advanced video communications and the trend towards an increasingly global and mobile

workforce that requires constant connectivity to real-time data Wireless enterprise and Internet traffic is

increasing due to trends including greater adoption of mobile Internet services and smart devices cloud

computing Internet Protocol television and online gaming Media-rich applications for both consumers and

enterprises like video sharing sites social networks HD movie downloads and video conferencing are among
the major drivers of growth Internet delivery of video to TVs and mobile devices followed by cost-effective HD
interactive video communications is expected to continue fueling the growth of video traffic over the Internet

Service providers enterprises and consumers are demanding wireless infrastructure networking and

electronic equipment that can address the significant market opportunities created by these applications As

result demand continues to grow on providers of wireless infrastructure networking and storage equipment to

introduce new technologies and products with enhanced performance and functionality while reducing design



and manufacturing costs For example in the wireless infrastructure market equipment manufacturers are

currently supplying carriers with wireless infrastructure equipment based on long term evolution or LTE

specification being marketed as 4G that provides downlink peak rates of at least 100 Mbps and uplink peak

rates of at least 50 Mbps This compares to currently prevailing 3G networks which have typical downlink peak

rates of Mbps and uplink peak rates of approximately 200 kbps These transitions highlight the need for

networking semiconductor providers to deliver higher performance high signal bandwidth low-power multi-core

solutions along with enabling software tools and reference designs to accommodate the increase in data traffic

over networks

Automotive Market

Growth in semiconductor sales to the global automotive market which includes applications for powertrain

driver safety engine management and driver information and convenience systems relies on global economic

trends and growth in semiconductor content per vehicle Due to the high degree of regulatory scrutiny and safety

requirements the automotive semiconductor market is characterized by stringent qualification processes zero

defect quality processes extensive design-in timeframes and long product life cycles resulting in significant

barriers to entry and increased revenue visibility

Semiconductor content per vehicle continues to increase because of government regulation of safety and

emissions standardization of higher-end options across greater number of vehicle classes and consumer

demand for greater fuel efficiency and new comfort and multimedia applications Automotive safety features are

evolving from passive safety to integrated active and passive safety systems with regulatory actions in North

America Europe China and Korea driving increases in applications such as tire pressure monitoring electronic

stability control occupant detection and advanced driver assistance systems We expect this evolution to

continue Semiconductor content is also increasing in engine management and fuel economy applications

occupant comfort and convenience systems and user interface applications In addition the use of networking in

automotive applications continues to increase as various sub-systems communicate within the automobile and

with devices and networks external to the automobile

Consumer Market

Growth in the consumer market is driven by the demand for an assortment of rich media content that is

consumed on variety of smart devices such as smart phones and tablets In addition the application of sensors

in consumer devices such as mobile phones and other smart devices has expanded due to the demand for display

rotation and touch screen interfaces To address and further stimulate consumer demand electronics

manufacturers have continued advances in the performance cost quality and power consumption of their

products and are continuously implementing advanced semiconductor technologies in new generations of

electronic devices including application processors and sensors

Our Competitive Strengths

We possess number of competitive strengths that we believe allow us to capitalize on growth opportunities

in the semiconductor industry including the following

worldwide leader in embedded processing We have one of the most comprehensive and technologically

advanced embedded processing portfolios in the industry We historically have maintained leading global market

positions in overall embedded processors including specifically within communications processors automotive

MCUs RF power devices for cellular and mobile wireless infrastructure and eReader applications processors

We have the ability to offer full suite of embedded
processors

that leverage mixture of proprietary and open

processor architectures including ARM and Power Architecture technology We believe that our scale and

breadth of products allow us to better serve our customers



Strong system level technology and applications expertise We have deep system-level applications

expertise as result of our long standing customer relationships Our design tools reference designs and software

and platform solutions allow our customers to efficiently adopt and integrate our products We believe our

unique system-level technology and applications expertise enhance our ability to anticipate industry trends and

customer needs This knowledge enables us to collaborate with our customers during their product development

process allowing us to be early to market with new innovative products

Strong intellectual property portfolio We are technology leader in our industry with strong track record

of innovation dating back more than 50 years We believe that our $742 million research and development

investment in 2012 which represented 19% of our net sales for the year positions us to continue to grow our

business over the long-term We have research and development staff of approximately 5500 employees

focusing on embedded processing and system-level solutions engineering We have an extensive intellectual

property portfolio that includes over 6000 patent families covering key technologies used in products within our

target markets patent family includes all of the equivalent patents and patent applications that protect the same

invention covering different geographical regions By leveraging our extensive patent portfolio and intellectual

property and continuing to invest in research and development we are able to efficiently deliver market leading

products

Well-established collaborative relationships with leading customers We have established strong

relationships with leading customers across our target markets through our highly experienced global sales and

field engineering teams Our close customer relationships have been built on years of collaborative product

development and enable us to develop critical expertise regarding our customers requirements This

system-level expertise close collaboration with our customers and the mission critical role our products perform

in electronic systems have allowed our products to be designed into multiple generations of our customers

products

Efficient operating model with lean manufacturing base Our variable and low-cost operating model

enabled by our lean manufacturing base allows us to operate with greater flexibility and at reduced cost We
maintain our internal manufacturing capacity to produce the majority of our products that require our

differentiated and specialty process technologies and exclusively utilize third party foundry partners for process

nodes below 90-nanometers This enables us to maximize our responsiveness to customer demand and to reduce

our investments in manufacturing capacity and
process technology

Executive management team with extensive industry experience Our president and CEO Gregg Lowe was

hired in 2012 to refocus the companys goals towards growing revenue to gain market share and increasing our

gross margins to improve profitability Mr Lowe has assembled highly experienced executive management team

with deep industry knowledge and an average of more than 20 years experience in high technology industries

Our Strategy

We work to capitalize on the proliferation of embedded processing and to leverage our leading embedded

processor technology and solutions in each of the markets we are targeting We believe our scale broad

technology portfolio focused research and development investment differentiated products and close customer

relationships position us to grow at rates in excess of those of our target markets The key elements of this

strategy are to

Focus research and development on multiple high-growth applications We focus our research and

development activities on some of the fastest growing applications in our target markets such as automotive

safety vehicle efficiency next generation wireless infrastructure smart energy portable medical devices cloud

computing and data centers consumer appliances and smart devices We intend to continue to invest in

developing innovative embedded processing products and solutions to pursue attractive opportunities in our

current markets and in new markets where our solutions improve time to market and reduce development costs

for our customers



Increase our net sales from distribution Distributors provide us with an effective means of reaching

broader and more globally diversified customer base particularly in underpenetrated end markets and

geographies We believe that our distribution partners provide us access to significant number of potential

customers We provide training to our distribution partners field application and sales engineers to provide

coverage and support for our products to those distribution partners We have created additional incentive

programs and are making more of our products distribution-ready by focusing portion of our research and

development investment on products that are specifically tailored toward the distribution channel such as our

Kinetis line of MCUs which incorporate the ARM CortexM0 and M4 architectures and our Xtrinsic line of

intelligent sensors Distribution sales were approximately 23% of our total net sales for each of the three years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Leverage our presence in Asia to drive growth We believe that we are well positioned to significantly

grow in Asian markets given our history in China over 35 years and India over 15 years Additionally and in

association with the change in the Companys strategic direction during the fourth quarter of 2012 we are

shifting sales resources to align with industry growth in select Asian markets We intend to increase resources in

multiple markets including China Taiwan Korea and Japan to drive growth in our business We believe this

focus will increase the number of accounts covered in this region

Deliver first-to-market highly differentiated products and solutions We leverage our significant research

and development investment broad and deep customer relationships intellectual property system-level expertise

and complementary product portfolio across our target markets This allows us to increase the rate of

introduction of products and solutions in these markets For example we were early to market with the following

products our 32-bit Kinetis MCU products that offer exceptional low-power performance and mixed signal and

memory scalability our QorIQ Qonverge platform of scalable multimode wireless basestation
processors

which

offer advantages in processing speed and power consumption in the networking market and our Layerscape

architecture the industrys first software-aware core-agnostic networking multi-core architecture which delivers

greater efficiency and scale and leverages our communications processors based on Power Architecture and

ARM Instruction Set Architectures ISA We intend to continue to leverage our research and development

including our software capabilities to deliver early to market products and solutions

Improve gross and operating margins and free cash flow We continue to execute plan for margin

improvement which encompasses cost reduction efficiency improvement via increased manufacturing yield and

test time reductions manufacturing footprint reduction greater pricing efficiency and portfolio mix

enhancement Our efforts include the closure of our 150 millimeter facilities which has and continues to result in

significant fixed cost reductions and should improve utilization when production volumes increase in our 200

millimeter wafer fabrication facilities Given our streamlined manufacturing footprint and our strategy to utilize

outsourced manufacturing partners for advanced process technology nodes we expect to continue to efficiently

manage our capital expenditures We believe we are well positioned to achieve improvements in margins and

cash flow as we execute on our other margin initiatives

Products and Applications

Our key products are embedded processors which include MCUs single- and multi-core MPUs DSCs

applications processors and DSPs We also offer customers broad portfolio of differentiated semiconductor

products that complement our embedded processors including RF power management analog mixed-signal

devices and sensors key element of our strategy is to combine our embedded processors complementary

semiconductor devices and open architecture software to offer highly integrated solutions that are increasingly

sought by our customers to simplify their development efforts and shorten their time to market We have

approximately 800 software engineers who work in conjunction with our partners to develop robust design

ecosystems
for our solutions The implementation of these solutions can take various forms including devices

which encompass high level of integration within single piece of silicon the combination of several

semiconductor devices into single package or the highly integrated combination of multiple semiconductor

devices and software into subsystem



During 2012 and in connection with the detailed review of our strategic direction under our new CEO we

aligned our product revenues into five focused product groups Microcontrollers Digital Networking

Automotive MCU Analog and Sensors and RE We have realigned our product groups to streamline the speed

of our decision making increase clarity of roles and drive more authority into lower levels of the organization

allowing us to focus on products and technologies which will grow market share and increase profitability

Microcontrollers

We have been provider of MCU solutions for more than 30 years MCUs integrate all the major

components of computing system onto single semiconductor device Typically this includes programmable

processor core memory interface circuitry and other components MCUs provide the digital logic or

intelligence for electronic applications controlling electronic equipment or analyzing sensor inputs We are

trusted long-term supplier to many of our customers especially in the automotive and industrial markets Our

products provide the intelligence for many systems ranging from engine management systems that reduce

emissions improve fuel efficiency and enhance driver performance to consumer appliance control systems that

utilize resources such as water and energy more efficiently while increasing cleaning capability

Our MCU product portfolio ranges
from ultra low power low end 8-bit products to higher performance

16-bit and 32-bit products with on-board flash memory We have migrated much of our portfolio to our new

90-nanometer process technologies Our Qorivva product line based on Power Architecture technology is one of

the industrys most powerful MCU developed utilizing 55-nanometer process technology Our portfolio is highly

scalable and coupled with our extensive software tools such as CodeWarrior MQX and Processor Expert

enables our customers to more easily design in our products and use our MCUs in the same software

environment as their systems change over time become more complex and demand greater processing

capabilities We have integrated touch sensing software in our 8-bit S08 MCUs and our 32-bit ColdFire and

Kinetis MCUs minimizing system complexity for customers who need to add touch sensing to their system user

interfaces We have also introduced optimized 32-bit Power Architecture-based products for the automotive

market and 32-bit Kinetis and Vybrid products for the industrial market and many multi-media applications We

introduced the Kinetis family of 90-nanometer 32-bit MCUs based on the new ARM Cortex-M0 and M4

processors
for the industrial and consumer markets to complement our existing Coldfire solutions The Kinetis

family is one of the most scalable portfolios of ARM Cortex-M0 and M4 MCUs in the industry featuring

hardware and software compatible MCU families that offer exceptional low-power performance mixed signal

and memory scalability Similar to our Kinetis line our 16-bit DSCs are primarily used in the consumer

appliance market where they manage motor control and enable quieter and more energy efficient consumer

appliances For the automotive market we have recently introduced our highly integrated mixed signal MagniV

product line enabling further system level integration for wide range of applications such as window lifts

wipers instrument clusters and fuel pumps

Wireless Connectivity

Our wireless connectivity products provide low power wireless communications functionality for the

industrial and consumer markets focused on devices and applications that utilize low data rate and require long

battery life and secure networking Our wireless products utilize and support multiple standards and frequencies

including the IEEE standard 802.15.4 which is also the basis for the Zigbee wireless specification and sub-i

GHz solutions We offer or integrate this technology in our solutions for medical devices smart meters and smart

energy consumer appliances RF remote controls and home automation

Communications Processors

Communications processors are programmable semiconductors that perform tasks related to control and

management of digital data as well as network interfaces They are designed to handle tasks related to data

transmission between nodes within network the manipulation of that data upon arrival at its destination and

protocol conversion Our product portfolio includes 32-bit and 64-bit offerings ranging from single core to



28- and 45-nanometer multi-core QorIQ communications processors For over 25 years our communication

processors based on the Power Architecture technology have powered communication networks around the

world Our PowerQUICC communications processors are used throughout the wired and wireless infrastructure

today Our multi-core QorIQ platforms use one or more high-performance 32- or 64-bit cores integrated with

specific network accelerators and support wide range of embedded networking equipment industrial and

general-purpose computing applications Our Layerscape architecture is the industrys first software-aware and

core-agnostic networking multi-core architecture delivering greater efficiency and scale This flexible

architecture emphasizes software capabilities and programmability leveraging communications processors from

both the QorIQ family and products based on ARM ISA

key component to our solutions utilizing communications processors is our ability to offer optimized

silicon software that decreases the customers burden of semiconductor integration into complex systems and

allows customization of our products for individual applications Our historical software acquisitions have

provided the foundation for the VortiQa software suite We continue to invest in the tools applications and

partnerships to create suite of products built around standard platforms with the flexibility to be configured for

specific vertical solutions An example of this type of investment is the strategic alliances we have formed with

embedded software partners ENEA Systems Green Hills Software and Mentor Graphics These strategic

alliances are intended to allow us to create simpler more integrated embedded software development

environments to help our customers manage the growing complexity of multi-core
processors

and the tools

required to assimilate them into their end products

Radio Frequency Devices

Our products provide the RF power needed to transmit communications signal over wireless networks from

20 to 4G to land mobile Our RF devices target the wireless communications market and provide solutions for all

of the major frequency bands and modulation formats such as GSM EDGE CDMA HD broadcast W-CDMA
TD-SCDMA and LTE We also offer RF products that serve as source of RF power in markets such as

avionics military microwave ovens scientific and medical Applications for our RE infrastructure products

include general purpose amplifiers low noise amplifiers linear amplifiers attenuators basestation IC drivers and

RF high-power transistors We have consistently provided market leadership in broad
range

of RF products

Digital Signal Processors

DSPs are MPUs that can perform advanced calculations very rapidly on real-time basis Within

networking products DSPs are utilized to perform functions such as baseband modem processing We are on our

fifth generation of multi-core digital signal processing technology Our DSP portfolio includes single-core to

multi-core DSPs based on the StarCore architecture integrated with specific wireless acceleration technology

These products enable baseband processing in the wireless base station market support multiple air-interfaces in

cellular networks such as LTE HSPA TD-SCDMA CDMA2000K and WiMAX at leading wireless

infrastructure OEMs worldwide Our DSPs used in conjunction with our communications processors give us

broad portfolio in the market to satisfy wireless infrastructure requirements

Digital Signal Con trollers

DSCs are hybrid that combines the functionality of MCUs and the processing power of DSPs often with

an added set of peripherals Our DSC families offer optimized solutions for digital power conversion motor

control and many other applications across consumer industrial and healthcare markets requiring high speed and

high resolution capability

Applications Processors

Applications processors consist of computing core with embedded memory and special purpose hardware

and software for multimedia applications such as graphics and video Our products focus on mobile and home

consumer devices automotive driver information and infotainment systems and industrial applications that

10



require processing and multimedia capabilities We provide highly integrated ARM-based i.MX application

processors with integrated audio video and graphics capability that are optimized for low-power and

high-performance applications Our i.MX family of processors is designed in conjunction with broad suite of

additional products including power management solutions audio codecs touch sensors and accelerometers to

provide full systems solutions across wide range of operating systems and applications We recently introduced

our i.MX family of applications processors The series integrates one two or four ARM CortexA9 cores

running up to 1.2 GHz and includes five devices the single-core i.MX 6Solo and i.MX 6SoloLite dual-core

i.MX 6Dual and i.MX 6DualLite and quad-core i.MX 6Quad processors Together these products provide

family of applications processors featuring software power and pin compatibility across single- dual- and

quad-core implementations Software support includes Linux and Android implementations

Analog and Mixed-Signal Products

Our analog and mixed-signal products perform various functions including driving actuators such as in

motors valves lights and speakers providing power to the electronic components in system filtering or

amplifying signals and providing the voltage and current for electronic systems These advanced analog and

mixed-signal devices perform audio processing backlight management control power management and

charging functions The product portfolio includes an array of system-on-a-chip SoC solutions that allow the

integration of significant amounts of digital processing logic in conjunction with sophisticated analog

functionality An example of how our analog and mixed-signal semiconductors play critical role in key

applications is the highly efficient and safe battery management for hybrid and all-electric vehicles Our 77GHz

radar products enable the convergence of active and passive safety systems in automobiles These products are

sold into all of our markets frequently as part of our solutions as well as specialized components

Sensors

Sensors serve as primary interface between an embedded system and the external environment We

provide several categories of semiconductor-based sensors pressure inertial magnetic proximity and

gyroscopic sensors Our Xtrinsic smart sensor platform introduced in 2010 combines an inertial sensor

embedded processor with connectivity and power management along with reference software toolset for ease of

design-in that allows contextual based processing and decision intelligence These products provide orientation

detection gesture recognition tilt to scroll functionality and position detection in mobile devices and gaming

applications Within automotive our inertial sensors enable vehicle stability control and our pressure sensors are

well-positioned for continued growth in tire
pressure monitoring
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Principal Key

Products Applications

MCUs Qorivva ColdFire Kinetis and MagniV powertrain engine management

8- 16- and 32-bit MCUs built on Power ColdFire

body secunty
and ARM architectures

Wireless connectivity IEEE 802.15.4 Zigbee
chassis safety

low power sub-i GHz wireless radar vision systems advanced driver assistance

Communications processors QorIQ driver information and infotainment systems

PowerQUICC single and multi-core 32- and 64-

bit processors built on the Power Architecture
factory automation drives

Layerscape architecture platform for Power and
building control HVAC

ARM-based processors

smart metering smart grid

RF Devices power transistors amplifiers

receivers tuners medical health fitness

DSPs baseband processors built on the StarCore M2M communications

architecture
consumer appliances home energy

Applications processors i.MX and Vybrid 32-bit management

single and multi-core processors built on the
transportation aerospace

ARM architecture

general embedded industrial consumer
Analog and mixed-signal products power

management devices system-based chips smart devices

battery motor control devices CANILIN
electronic aamin

network transceivers radar and signal

conditioners wireless infrastructure basestations

Sensors inertial pressure proximity touch small business

magnetic gyro

enterprise network security

wireless small cell basestations

networked printing imaging

cloud computing data centers

Sales and Marketing

We sell our products directly to OEMs distributors original design manufacturers and contract

manufacturers Our global direct sales force is predominantly organized by customer end markets in order to

bring dedicated expertise knowledge and response to our customers As of December 31 2012 we had 46 sales

offices located in 20 countries that align us with the development efforts of our customers and enable us to

respond directly to customer requirements We also maintain network of distributors that we believe has the

global infrastructure and logistics capabilities to serve wide and diversified customer base for our products Our

distribution sales network provides an opportunity for us to offer our products and services to wider array of

customers Distribution sales were approximately 23% of our total net sales for each of the three years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 In association with the change in the companys strategic direction during

the fourth quarter of 2012 we are shifting sales resources to align with industry growth in China and select

opportunities in Korea Taiwan and Japan As result the company expects to increase the number of accounts

covered and expand its presence in distribution
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For each of the last three years greater than 80% of our products were sold in countries other than the

United States Our net product sales in the Asia-Pacific Europe Middle East and Africa EMEA Americas and

Japan regions represented approximately 45% 24% 25% and 6% respectively of our net sales in 2012

Continental Automotive represented 15% 13% and 12% of our total net sales in 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively

Research and Development

Our research and development activities are comprised of both product and technology development Our

technology development programs including SoC design and packaging and process technology support our

product design engineering efforts With regard to the design function development of our key intellectual

property
combined with third party intellectual property form the basic building blocks that are integrated

together in the form of SoC which defines our product attributes Package technology development is focused

on meeting performance requirements in the extreme environmental conditions of the automotive market and

achieving the high performance requirements of the networking market and the high power requirements of the

RF market Specialty process technologies are also designed to provide differentiation and competitive

advantage such as embedded memories particularly non-volatile smart power RF and mixed-signal

technologies We believe that this approach allows us to apply our investments in design and packaging and

process technologies across broad portfolio of products Our research and development locations include

facilities in Brazil Canada China Czech Republic France Germany India Israel Malaysia Mexico Romania

Russia United Kingdom and the United States

Research and development expense was $742 million $797 million and $782 million for the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Moving forward the company is reallocating its research and

development investment to reflect its strategic focus on the five focused product groups

Manufacturing

We manufacture our products either at our own facilities or obtain manufacturing services from contract

manufacturers We currently manufacture substantial portion of our products at our own facilities We also

utilize balance of internal capabilities and contract manufacturing services for standard complementary metal

oxide semiconductor CMOS processes and high-volume products This is intended to allow us to efficiently

manage both our supply competitiveness and factory utilization in order to minimize the risk associated with

market fluctuations and maximize cash flow Our internal manufacturing capabilities scale to 200-millimeter

wafers and down to 90-nanometer technologies Due to the increasing costs associated with the development and

production of advanced technologies we outsource the manufacturing of all of our technologies below

90-nanometers In addition we have relationships with several wafer foundries and assembly and test

subcontractors to provide flexibility and enhance cost effectiveness in meeting our manufacturing needs The

capabilities of our partners span 200-millimeter and 300-millimeter wafer sizes and scale down to 45-nanometer

and 28-nanometer technologies

Semiconductor manufacturing is comprised of two broad stages wafer manufacturing or front-end and

assembly and test or back-end Based on total units produced in 2012 approximately 31% of our front-end

manufacturing was outsourced to wafer foundries and approximately 37% of our back-end manufacturing was

outsourced to assembly and test subcontractors Both of these percentages may change as our business and our

product mix changes We continually evaluate our manufacturing model in order to improve our supply

competitiveness gross margin and cash flows

We own and operate five manufacturing facilities of which three are wafer fabrication facilities and two are

assembly and test facilities These facilities are certified to the ISO/TS 169492009 international quality

standards This technical specification aligns existing U.S German French and Italian automotive quality
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system standards within the global automotive industry These operations also are certified to ISO 90012000

Our ISO 14001 management systems are designed to meet and exceed regulatory requirements We have

ISO 14001 certified manufacturing operations in the United States China and Malaysia The following table

describes our manufacturing facilities

Name Location Representative Products Technologies Employed

WAFER FABS

Oak Hill Austin Texas Power management devices 200 millimeter wafers

Sensors CMOS Bipolar CMOS BiCMOS
RF laterally diffused metal oxide Sensors LDMOS
semiconductor LDMOS devices Power CMOS HDTMOS
RF transceivers amplifiers 0.25 micron

Chandler Arizona MCUs 200 millimeter wafers

Power management devices CMOS Embedded NVM Power

CMOS
0.25 micron

0.50 micron

ATMC Austin Texas MPUs 200 millimeter wafers

MCUs Advanced CMOS SoC

Power management devices Embedded NVM Power CMOS
90-nanometer

0.18 micron

ASSEMBLY TEST

Kuala Lumpur Malaysia MPUs

MCUs

Power management devices

Analog and mixed-signal devices

RF devices

Sensors

Tianjin China MPUs

MCUs

Power management devices

Analog and mixed-signal devices

Baseband processors

Our manufacturing processes require many raw materials such as silicon wafers mold compound

packaging substrates and various chemicals and gases and the necessary equipment for manufacturing We
obtain these materials and equipment from large number of suppliers located throughout the world These

suppliers deliver products to us on just-in-time basis and we believe that they have sufficient supply to meet

our current needs We however have experienced certain supply chain constraints in the past and it is possible

that we could experience supply chain constraints in the future due to sudden worldwide
surge

in demand or

supply chain disruption

Our technology approach is to leverage multi-functional technical capabilities and innovation to create

unique and differentiated products meeting customer requirements for systems and solutions For our digital

products such as DSPs MPUs DSCs and MCUs we use both industry-standard processes and standard

processes
enhanced by us and our partners To develop sensors analog power and RF devices we use

specialized differentiated internal processes
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Like many global companies we maintain plans to respond to external developments that may affect our

employees facilities or business operations Business continuity is very important to us as we strive to ensure

reliability of supply to our customers TS 16949 quality standards and our internal quality standards all require

business continuity plan to effectively return critical business functions to normal in the case of an unplanned

event and our operations are certified to all of these standards We require our major foundries assembly and

test providers and other suppliers to have business continuity plan as well However in the event that our

manufacturing capacity either internal or through contract manufacturers is disrupted we could experience

difficulty fulfilling customer orders

Our business continuity plan covers issues related to continuing operations for example continuity of

manufacturing and supply to customers crisis management of our business sites for example prevention and

recovery
from computer data hardware and software loss and information protection We perform annual risk

assessments at each site reviewing activities scenarios risks and actual events and conducting annual test drills

Generally we maintain multiple sources of supply of high running qualified technologies We also require our

suppliers to maintain business continuity plans

Competition

The semiconductor industry is highly competitive and characterized by constant and rapid technological

change short product lifecycles significant price erosion and evolving standards Our competitors range
from

large international companies offering full range of products to smaller companies specializing in narrow

markets within the semiconductor industry The competitive environment is also changing as result of increased

alliances among our competitors and through strategic acquisitions joint ventures and other alliances Our

competitors may have greater financial personnel and other resources than we have in particular market or

overall We expect competition in the markets in which we participate to continue to increase as existing

competitors improve or expand their product offerings or as new participants enter our markets Increased

competition may result in reduced profitability and reduced market share In addition we could lose market share

to new entrants that are able to more quickly adapt to technological changes despite our historical relationships

with our customers

We compete in our different product lines primarily on the basis of technology offered product features

quality and availability of service time-to-market reputation and price Our ability to develop new products to

meet customer requirements and to meet customer delivery schedules are also critical factors We believe that

new products represent the most significant opportunity to overcome the increased competition and pricing

pressure inherent in the semiconductor industry

The majority of the markets in which we compete are mature and include established competitors with

substantial experience Although product life cycles and the degree of complexity varies by end market our

primary competitors generally offer products that have similar breadth depth and design complexity Our

competitors include Infineon Technologies AG Intel Corporation Renesas Electronics Corporation

STMicroelectronics Microchip Technology Incorporated Atmel Corporation Analog Devices Incorporated

Cavium Networks Inc Broadcom Corporation LSI Corporation NXP Semiconductors N.Y and Texas

Instruments Incorporated

Backlog

Our backlog was $847 million at December 31 2012 compared to $844 million at December 31 2011

Orders are placed by customers for delivery for up to as much as 12 months in the future but for purposes of

calculating backlog only orders expected to be fulfilled during the next 13 weeks are reported An order is

removed from backlog only when the product is shipped the order is cancelled or the order is rescheduled

beyond the 13-week delivery window used for backlog reporting In the semiconductor industry backlog

quantities and shipment and delivery schedules under outstanding purchase orders are frequently revised in
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response to changes in customer needs without significant penalty Typically agreements calling for the sale of

specific quantities at specific prices are contractually subject to price or quantity revisions and are as matter of

industry practice rarely formally enforced Therefore most of our order backlog is cancelable For these reasons

the amount of backlog as of any particular date is not the sole indicator of future results

Intellectual Property

We depend significantly on patents and other intellectual property rights to protect our products and

proprietary design and fabrication processes against infringement or misappropriation by others and to ensure

that we have the ability to generate royalty and other licensing revenues We rely primarily on patent copyright

trademark and trade secret laws as well as on nondisclosure and confidentiality agreements and other methods to

protect our proprietary technologies Protection of our patent portfolio and other intellectual property rights is

very important to our operations We intend to continue to license our intellectual property to third parties On

selective basis we may also sell or enter into other business arrangements with third parties relative to individual

patents or portfolios of patents We have broad portfolio of over 6000 patent families and numerous licenses

covering manufacturing processes packaging technology software systems and circuit design When and if

issued patents are typically valid for 20 years from the date of filing the application We do not believe that any

individual patent or the expiration thereof is or would be material to our business

The laws of certain countries in which we manufacture and design our products do not protect our

intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States In the Office of the United States

Trade Representative USTR annual Special 301 Report released on April 2012 the adequacy and

effectiveness of intellectual property protection in number of foreign countries were analyzed The report

indicated that particular problems exist in China and India among others with respect to intellectual property

rights protection enforcement or market access for persons relying on intellectual property The USTR report

noted that despite signs of progress protection and enforcement of intellectual property rights in China remain

significant challenge and in India the report noted weak legal framework and enforcement system for

intellectual property rights With respect to Malaysia the report indicated that while certain concerns remain

Malaysia was removed from the Watch List due to improved intellectual property rights protection and

enforcement No other countries in which we have material operations are named in this report and we believe

that we have disclosed the differences in intellectual property protections of the countries material to these

operations that could have material adverse impact on our business The absence of consistent intellectual

property protection laws and effective enforcement mechanisms makes it difficult to ensure adequate protection

for our technologies and other intellectual property rights on worldwide basis As result it is possible for third

parties to use our proprietary information in certain countries without us having the ability to fully enforce our

rights in those countries which could negatively impact our business in material way If our patents or trade

secrets fail to protect our technology we could lose some or all of our competitive advantage which would

enable our competitors to offer similarproducts Any inability on our part to adequately protect our intellectual

property may have material negative impact on our business financial condition and results of operations

We generate revenue from licensing or selling our patents and certain technologies to third parties Our

future intellectual property revenue depends in part on the continued strength of our intellectual property

portfolio and enforcement efforts and on the sales and financial stability of our licensees In situations where we

believe that third party has infringed on our intellectual property we enforce our rights through appropriate

legal means to the extent that we determine the potential benefits of such actions outweigh any costs involved

Environmental Matters

For discussion of the material effects of compliance with environmental laws please see the

Environmental Matters discussion in Item Legal Proceedings
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Employees

As of December 31 2012 we employed approximately 16500 full-time employees Our U.S employees

are not represented by labor unions portion of our non-U.S employees are represented by labor unions or

work councils We consider relations with our employees to be satisfactory

Available Information

The Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q Current Reports on

Form 8-K and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13a and 15d of the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act are filed with the U.S Securities and Exchange Commission the

SEC Such reports and other information filed by the Company with the SEC are available free of charge on

the Companys website at http//investors.freescale.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they are

electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports proxy

and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at

www.sec.gov The contents of these websites are not incorporated into this filing

Financial Information about Geographic Areas

Refer to Item 1A Risk Factors below for discussion of the risks associated with our operations in

certain geographic areas and to Note 12 to our accompanying audited Consolidated Financial Statements

included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for financial information by country
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Item 1A Risk Factors

Set forth below and elsewhere in this report and in other documents we file with the Securities and

Exchange Commission SEC are risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to materially differ

from the results contemplated Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently

deem immaterial may also impair our business operations

We have history of losses If net sales grow more slowly than anticipated and operational costs increase we

may be unable to achieve or maintain profitability

We have high interest expense and have recorded high amortization expense and as result we have

historically incurred net and operating losses We may not succeed in achieving or maintaining profitability on an

annual basis and could continue to incur quarterly or annual losses in future periods In addition we expect to

make significant expenditures related to the development of our products including research and development

and sales and administrative expenses We may also encounter unforeseen difficulties complications product

delays and other unknown factors that require additional expenditures As result of these increased

expenditures we may have to generate and sustain substantially increased net sales to achieve or maintain

profitability Accordingly we may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability and we may continue to incur

significant losses

We operate in the highly cyclical semiconductor industry which is subject to significant downturns Failure to

adjust our supply chain volume due to changing market conditions or failure to estimate our customers

demand could adversely affect our results of operations

The semiconductor industry is highly cyclical and is characterized by constant and rapid technological

change rapid product obsolescence and price erosion evolving standards short product life-cycles and

fluctuations in product supply and demand The industry has experienced significant downturns often in

connection with or in anticipation of maturing product cycles of both semiconductor companies and their

customers products and declines in general economic conditions These downturns have been characterized by

diminished product demand production overcapacity higher inventory levels and accelerated erosion of average

selling prices We have historically experienced adverse effects on our profitability and cash flows during such

downturns and may experience such downturns in the future We may not be able to effectively respond to future

effects which could have material negative impact on our business financial condition and results of

operations Likewise demand for our products is subject to significant fluctuation If we overestimate demand

we may experience underutilized capacity and excess inventory levels If we underestimate demand we may

miss sales opportunities and incur additional costs for labor overtime capital expenditures and logistical

complexities

We make significant decisions including determining the levels of business that we will seek and accept

production schedules levels of reliance on contract manufacturing and outsourcing personnel needs and other

resource requirements based on our estimates of customer requirements The short-term nature of commitments

by many of our customers and the possibility of rapid changes in demand for their products reduces our ability to

accurately estimate future customer requirements Our results of operations could be impacted if we are unable to

adjust our supply chain volume to address market fluctuations including those caused by the seasonal or cyclical

nature of the markets in which we operate The sale of our products is dependent to large degree on customers

whose industries are subject to seasonal or cyclical trends in the demand for their products For example the

consumer electronics market is particularly volatile and is subject to seasonality related to the holiday selling

season making demand difficult to forecast On occasion customers may require rapid increases in production

which can challenge our resources and reduce margins During market upturn we may not be able to purchase

sufficient supplies or components or secure sufficient contract manufacturing capacity to meet increasing

product demand which could harm our reputation prevent us from taking advantage of opportunities and reduce

net sales growth In addition some parts are not readily available from alternate suppliers due to their unique

design or the length of time necessary for design work
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In order to secure components for the production of products we may continue to enter into non-cancelable

purchase commitments with vendors or make advance payments to suppliers which could reduce our ability to

adjust our inventory or expense
levels during periods of declining market demand Prior commitments of this

type have resulted in an excess of parts when demand for our products has decreased Downturns in the

semiconductor industry have in the past caused and may in the future cause our customers to reduce

significantly the amount of products ordered from us If demand for our products is less than we expect we may

experience excess and obsolete inventories and be forced to incur additional charges Because certain of our

sales research and development and internal manufacturing overhead expenses are relatively fixed reduction

in customer demand may decrease our gross margins and operating earnings

The loss of one or more of our significant customers or decline in demand from one or more of these

customers could have material negative impact on net sales

Historically we have relied on limited number of customers for substantial portion of our total sales Our

ten largest end customers accounted for approximately 39% 43% and 44% of our net sales in 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively As result the loss of or reduction in demand from one or more of these customers either

as result of industry conditions or specific events relating to particular customer could have material

negative impact on net sales Other than Continental Automotive no other end customer represented more than

10% of our total net sales in any of the last three years Continental Automotive represented 15% 13% and 12%

of our total net sales in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Our gross margin is dependent on number of factors including our level of capacity utilization

Semiconductor manufacturing requires significant capital investment leading to high fixed costs including

depreciation expense Notwithstanding our utilization of third-party contract manufacturers majority of our

production requirements are met by our own manufacturing facilities If we are unable to utilize our manufacturing

facilities at high level the fixed costs associated with these facilities will not be fully absorbed resulting in higher

average unit costs and lower gross margins In the past we have experienced periods where our gross margins

declined due to among other things reduced factory utilization resulting from reduced customer demand reduced

selling prices and change in product mix towards lower margin devices Market conditions in the future may

adversely affect our utilization rates and consequently our future gross margins and this in turn could have

material negative impact on our business financial condition and results of operations In addition increased

competition and the existence of product alternatives more complex engineering requirements lower demand and

other factors may lead to further price erosion lower net sales and lower margins for us in the future

Our operating results may be adversely affected if economic conditions impact the financial viability of our

customers distributors or suppliers particularly in the automotive industry

We regularly review the financial performance of our customers distributors and suppliers However global

economic conditions may adversely impact the financial viability of and increase the credit risk associated with

our customers distributors or suppliers Customer insolvencies in key industries most affected by any economic

downturn such as the automotive industry or the financial failure of large customer or distributor an important

supplier or group thereof could have an adverse impact on our business financial condition and results of

operations and could result in our inability to collect our accounts receivable

Winning business is subject to competitive selection process
that can be lengthy and requires us to incur

significant expense and we may not be selected Even after we win and begin product design customer

may decide to cancel or change their product plans which could cause us to generate no sales from product

and adversely affect our results of operations

Our primary focus is on winning competitive bid selection
processes

known as design wins to develop

products for use in our customers products These selection
processes can be lengthy and can require us to incur

significant design and development expenditures We may not win the competitive selection
process

and may
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never generate any sales despite incurring significant design and development expenditures Because of the rapid

rate of technological change the loss of design win could result in our failure to offer generation of product

In addition the failure to offer generation of product to particular customer could prevent access to that

customer for several years These risks are particularly pronounced in the automotive market where there are

longer design cycles Our failure to win sufficient number of designs could result in lost sales and negatively

impact our competitive position in future selection processes because we may not be perceived as being

technology or industry leader each of which could have material negative impact on our business financial

condition and results of operations

After winning product design for one of our customers we may still experience delays in generating sales

from our products as result of the lengthy development and design cycle In addition delay or cancellation of

customers plans could significantly and adversely affect our financial results as we may have incurred

significant expense and generated no sales Finally if our customers fail to successfully market and sell their

products it could have material negative impact on our business financial condition and results of operations

as the demand for our products falls

We face significant competitive pressures that may cause us to lose market share and harm our financial

performance

The semiconductor industry is highly competitive and characterized by constant and rapid technological

change short product lifecycles significant price erosion and evolving standards Our growth objectives depend

on competitive success and increased market share in our markets If we fail to keep pace
with the rest of the

semiconductor industry we could lose market share in the markets in which we compete Any such loss in

market share could have material negative impact on our financial condition and results of operations

Our competitors range from large international companies offering full range of products to smaller

companies specializing in narrow markets within the semiconductor industry The competitive environment is

also changing as result of increased alliances among our competitors and through strategic acquisitions joint

ventures and other alliances Our competitors may have greater financial personnel and other resources than we

have in particular market or overall We expect competition in the markets in which we participate to continue

to increase as existing competitors improve or expand their product offerings or as new participants enter our

markets Increased competition may result in reduced profitability and reduced market share for Freescale

We compete in our different product lines primarily on the basis of technology offered product features

quality and availability of service time-to-market reputation and price Our ability to develop new products to

meet customer requirements and to meet customer delivery schedules are also critical factors We believe that

new products represent the most important opportunity to overcome the increased competition and pricing

pressure
inherent in the semiconductor industry If we are unable to keep pace with technology changes our

market share could decrease and our business would be adversely affected In addition we could lose market

share to new entrants that are able to more quickly adapt to technological changes despite our historical

relationships with our customers

The demand for our products depends in large part on continued growth in the industries into which they are

sold market decline in any of these industries or decline in demand forparticular products in those

industries could have material negative impact on our results of operations

Our growth is dependent in part on end-user demand for our customers products Our largest end-markets

are automotive networking and industrial and we also provide products to targeted consumer electronics

markets Any industry downturns that adversely affect our customers or their customers including increases in

bankruptcies in relevant industries could adversely affect end-user demand for our customers products which

would adversely affect demand for our products
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Growth in demand in the markets we serve has in the past and may in the future fluctuate significantly based

on numerous factors including

worldwide automotive production levels

capital spending levels of our networking customers

consumer spending

rate of adoption of new or alternative technologies

changes in consumer preferences

changes in regulation of products and services provided and

general economic conditions

The rate or extent to which the industries we serve will grow if at all is uncertain In addition there can be

no assurance that particular products within these industries will experience the growth in demand that we

expect The industries we serve could experience slower growth or decline in demand which could have

material negative impact on our business financial condition and results of operations

The semiconductor industry is characterized by significant price erosion especially after product has been

on the market for sign ificant period of time

The specific products in which our semiconductors are incorporated may not be successful or may
experience price erosion or other competitive factors that affect the prices manufacturers are willing to pay us

One of the results of the rapid innovation that is exhibited by the semiconductor industry is that pricing pressure

especially on products containing older technology can be intense Customers may vary order levels

significantly from period to period request postponements to scheduled delivery dates modify their orders or

reduce lead times This is particularly common during times of low demand for those end products This can

make managing our business difficult as it limits our ability to effectively predict future demand In order to

profitably supply these products we must reduce our production costs in line with the lower net sales we can

expect to receive per unit Usually this must be accomplished through improvements in process technology and

production efficiencies If we cannot advance our process technologies or improve our efficiencies to degree

sufficient to maintain required margins we will not be able to make profit from the sale of these products

Moreover we may not be able to cease production of such products either due to contractual obligations or for

customer relationship reasons and as result may incur losses on such products

We cannot guarantee that competition in our core product markets will not lead to price erosion lower net

sales growth rates and lower margins in the future Should reductions in our manufacturing costs fail to keep

pace with reductions in market prices for the products we sell this could have material negative impact on our

business financial condition and results of operations Furthermore actual growth rates may be less than

projected industry growth rates resulting in spending on process and product development well ahead of market

requirements which could have material negative impact on our business financial condition and results of

operations

If we fail to keep pace with technological advances in our industry and associated manufacturing processes

or if we pursue technologies that do not become commercially accepted our products may not be as

competitive our customers may not buy our products and our business financial condition and results of

operations may be adversely affected

Technology and associated manufacturing processes are an important component of our business and

growth strategy Our success depends to significant extent on the development implementation and acceptance

of new product designs and improvements Commitments to develop new products must be made well in advance

of any resulting sales Technologies standards or manufacturing processes may change during development

21



potentially rendering our products outdated or uncompetitive before their introduction Our ability to develop

products and related technologies to meet evolving industry requirements and at prices acceptable to our

customers will be significant factors in determining our competitiveness in our target markets If we are unable to

successfully develop new products our net sales may decline and our business could be negatively impacted

We are highly leveraged The substantial leverage coul4 adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital

to fund our operations limit our ability to react to changes in the economy or our industry expose us to

interest rate risk to the extent of our variable rate debt and prevent us from meeting our obligations under our

debt agreements

We are highly leveraged As of December 31 2012 the aggregate outstanding principal amount of our

consolidated indebtedness all of which has been incurred by our indirect subsidiary Freescale Semiconductor

Inc Delaware corporation Freescale Inc was approximately $6385 million and our subsidiaries also have

an additional $408 million available for borrowing under revolving credit facility after taking into account

$17 million in outstanding letters of credit The Company is guarantor of all of this debt Freescale Inc has not

defaulted under any of this indebtedness Since the acquisition by consortium of private equity funds referred

to as our Sponsors in 2006 and as result of numerous refinancing transactions our indebtedness consists of

the senior credit facilities and the senior senior unsecured and senior subordinated notes Freescale Inc has not

defaulted under any
of this indebtedness

This high degree of leverage could have important consequences including

increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic industry or competitive developments

requiring substantial portion of cash flow from operations to be dedicated to the payment of principal

and interest on the indebtedness therefore reducing our ability to use cash flow to fund operations

capital expenditures and future business opportunities

exposing us to the risk of increased interest rates because certain of the borrowings including

borrowings under the senior credit facilities and the senior unsecured floating rate notes are at variable

rates of interest

making it more difficult to satisfy obligations with respect to our indebtedness and any
failure to

comply with the obligations of any of our debt instruments including restrictive covenants and

borrowing conditions could result in an event of default under the agreements governing the

indebtedness

restricting us from making strategic acquisitions or causing us to make non-strategic divestitures

limiting our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital capital expenditures product

development debt service requirements acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes and

limiting our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business or market conditions and

placing us at competitive disadvantage compared to competitors who are less highly leveraged and

who therefore may be able to take advantage of opportunities that our leverage prevents us from

pursuing

At December 31 2012 our indebtedness all of which has been incurred by Freescale Inc and guaranteed

by us included the revolving credit facility with committed capacity of $425 million and no amounts

outstanding thereunder without giving effect to $17 million in outstanding letters of credit which will be

available through July 2016 ii $2215 million outstanding under term loan due December 2016

iii $496 million outstanding under term loan due February 28 2019 iv $155 million aggregate principal

amount outstanding under senior unsecured notes due 2014 $264 million aggregate principal amount

outstanding under senior subordinated notes due 2016 vi $2043 million aggregate principal amount

outstanding under senior secured notes due 2018 and vii $1212 million aggregate principal amount

outstanding under senior unsecured notes due 2020
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Despite our high indebtedness level we and our subsidiaries may be able to incur signcant additional

amounts of debt which could further exacerbate the risks associated with our substantial indebtedness

We and our subsidiaries may be able to incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future Although the

agreements governing our outstanding indebtedness contain restrictions on the incurrence of additional

indebtedness these restrictions are subject to number of significant qualifications and exceptions and under

certain circumstances the amount of indebtedness that could be incurred in compliance with these restrictions

could be substantial In addition $408 million is available for borrowing under the revolving credit facility after

taking into account $17 million in outstanding letters of credit

If we cannot make scheduled payments on our indebtedness we will be in default under one or more of our

debt agreements and as result we would need to take other action to satisfy our obligations or be forced into

bankruptcy or liquidation In addition we are unable to engage in specfled activities if we fail to meet

specified ratios under our debt agreements

Our cash interest expense for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 was $500 million

$554 million and $537 million respectively This does not include interest paid on previously outstanding bonds

using payment-in-kind feature that permitted us to issue additional debt to pay the accrued interest in lieu of

cash interest payments If we cannot make scheduled payments on our indebtedness we will be in default under

one or more of our debt agreements and as result holders of our debt could declare all outstanding principal
and interest due and payable and in the case of our secured debt foreclose against the assets securing the debt
and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation

Our ability to make scheduled payments or to refinance our indebtedness depends on our financial and

operating performance which is subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain

financial business and other factors beyond our control We may not be able to maintain level of cash flow

from operations sufficient to permit us to pay the principal and interest on our indebtedness If our cash flows and

capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations we may be forced to reduce or delay capital

expenditures sell assets or operations seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness We
may not be able to take any of these actions and these actions may not be successful or permit us to meet our

scheduled debt service obligations Furthermore these actions may not be permitted under the terms of our

existing or future debt agreements

We have in the past refinanced Freescale Inc.s indebtedness by issuing new indebtedness and amending the

terms of Freescale Inc.s senior credit facilities The refinancing activities have not been as result of any default

under those debt agreements Rather we have refinanced Freescale Inc.s indebtedness to take advantage of market

opportunities to improve our capital structure by extending the maturities of the indebtedness reducing the total

outstanding principal amount of our indebtedness by repaying debt at discount and increasing flexibility under

existing covenants for business planning purposes Although Freescale Inc.s lenders have agreed to such

amendments and participated in such refinancings in the past there can be no assurance that its lenders would

participate in any future refinancings or agree to any future amendments In addition certain of Freescale Inc.s

lenders may object to the validity of the terms of any such amendment or refinancing For example in 2009 group
of lenders under the senior credit facilities filed complaint against Freescale Inc challenging the 2009 debt

exchange transaction under the senior credit facilities The debt exchange was completed but the litigation

remained outstanding As part of the on-going litigation this group of lenders sought to enjoin Freescale Inc from

completing the amendment of its senior credit facilities and the issuance of its 10.125% senior secured notes in the

first quarter of 2010 Freescale Inc reached an agreement to settle the pending litigation and was able to complete

the 2010 transactions Freescale Inc may be subject to similaractions in connection with future refinancings or

amendments which may impact the terms and conditions or timing thereof preclude Freescale Inc from

completing any such transaction or subject Freescale Inc to significant additional costs

In the absence of sufficient operating results and resources to service our debt or appropriate refinancing or

amendments thereof we could face substantial liquidity problems and may be required to dispose of material

assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations Our debt agreements restrict our ability to
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dispose of assets and even if permitted we may not be able to consummate any such dispositions which could

result in our inability to meet our debt service obligations Much of our debt requires
and our future debt may

also require us to repurchase such debt upon an event that would constitute change of control for the purposes

of such debt We may not be able to meet these repurchase obligations because we may not have sufficient

financial resources to do so Our failure to meet our repurchase obligations upon change of control would cause

default under the agreements governing our debt

Freescale Inc is not subject to any maintenance covenants under its existing debt agreements and is

therefore not required to meet any specified ratios on an on-going basis However our ability to engage in

specified activities is tied to ratios under our debt agreements in each case subject to certain exceptions Our

subsidiaries are unable to incur any indebtedness under the indentures and specified indebtedness under the

Credit Facility pay dividends make certain investments prepay junior debt and make other restricted payments

in each case not otherwise permitted by our debt agreements unless after giving effect to the proposed activity

the fixed charge coverage ratio as defined in the applicable indenture would be at least 21 and the senior

secured first lien leverage ratio as defined in the Credit Facility would be no greater than 3.51 Also our

subsidiaries may not incur certain indebtedness in connection with acquisitions unless prior to and after giving

effect to the proposed transaction the total leverage ratio as defined in the Credit Facility is no greater than

6.51 except as otherwise permitted by the Credit Facility In addition except as otherwise permitted by the

applicable
debt agreement we may not designate any subsidiary as unrestricted or engage in certain

mergers unless after giving effect to the proposed transaction the fixed charge coverage ratio would be at least

21 or equal to or greater than it was prior to the proposed transaction and the senior secured first lien leverage

ratio would be no greater than 3.51 We are also unable to have liens on assets securing indebtedness without

also securing the notes unless the consolidated secured debt ratio as defined in the applicable indenture would

be no greater than 3.251 after giving effect to the proposed lien except as otherwise permitted by the indentures

Accordingly we believe it is useful to provide the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA to investors for purposes of

determining our ability to engage in these activities Freescale Inc was in compliance with the covenants under

the Credit Facility and the Indentures but did not meet the ratios thereunder the total leverage ratio of 6.51 the

senior secured first lien leverage ratio of 3.501 the fixed charge coverage ratio of 2.01 or the consolidated

secured debt ratio of 3.251 As of December 31 2012 Freescale Inc.s total leverage ratio was 6.811 senior

secured first lien leverage ratio was 4.821 the fixed charge coverage
ratio was 1.791 and the consolidated

secured debt ratio was 5.671 Accordingly we are currently restricted from making restricted payments and

incurring liens on assets securing indebtedness except as otherwise permitted by the Credit Facility and the

Indentures The fact that we do not meet these ratios does not result in any default under the Credit Facility or the

indentures

Increases in interest rates could adversely affect our financial condition

An increase in prevailing interest rates could adversely affect our financial condition LIBOR the interest

rate index on which our variable rate debt is based fluctuates on regular basis At December 31 2012 we had

approximately $2768 million aggregate principal amount of variable interest rate indebtedness under the senior

unsecured floating rate notes and the senior credit facilities $496 million of which is subject to LIBOR floor

Any increased interest expense
associated with increases in interest rates affects our cash flow and our ability to

service our debt Based on our variable interest rate debt outstanding at December 31 2012 100 basis point

increase in LIBOR rates would increase our annual interest expense by approximately $23 million absent the

benefit from any hedging arrangements As protection against rising interest rates we have entered and may in

the future enter into agreements such as interest rate swap and cap
contracts with respect to portion of our

variable rate indebtedness However the other parties to the agreements may fail to perform the terms may be

unfavorable to us depending on rate movements and such agreements may not completely protect us from

increased interest expense
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Our debt agreements contain restrictions that limit our flexibility in operating our business

The agreements governing our indebtedness contain various covenants that limit our subsidiaries ability to

engage in specified types of transactions These covenants limit our subsidiaries ability to among other things

pay dividends on repurchase or make distributions in respect of our capital stock or make other

restricted payments

incur additional indebtedness or issue certain preferred shares

make certain investments

sell certain assets

create liens

consolidate merge sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets and

enter into certain transactions with our affiliates

breach of any of these covenants could result in default under one or more of these agreements

including as result of cross default provisions and in the case of the revolving credit facility permit the lenders

to cease making loans to us Upon the occurrence of an event of default under our debt agreements the lenders

could elect to declare all amounts outstanding to be immediately due and payable and in the case of the

revolving credit facility terminate any commitments to extend further credit Such actions by the lenders under

any one of our debt agreements could cause cross defaults under our other indebtedness If we were unable to

repay amounts due to the lenders under the senior credit facilities or the senior secured notes those lenders could

proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure that indebtedness We have pledged significant portion

of our assets as collateral under the senior credit facilities and senior secured notes If our lenders accelerate the

repayment of borrowings we may not have sufficient assets to repay our debt obligations

Our industry is highly capital intensive and if we are unable to obtain the necessary capital we may not

remain competitive

To remain competitive we must constantly improve our facilities and process technologies and carry out

extensive research and development each of which requires investment of significant amounts of capital This

risk is magnified by our high level of indebtedness since we are required to use significant portion of our cash

flow to service our debt and also because our level of debt limits our ability to raise additional capital If we are

unable to generate sufficient cash or raise sufficient capital to meet both our debt service and capital investment

requirements or if we are unable to raise capital on favorable terms when needed our business financial

condition and results of operations could be materially negatively impacted

We outsource portion of our manufacturing activities to third-party contract manufacturers If our

production or manufacturing capacity at one of these third-party facilities is delayed interrupted or

eliminatei4 we may not be able to satisfy customer demand

We continue to develop outsourcing arrangements for the manufacture and test and assembly of certain

products and components Based on total units produced we outsourced approximately 31% of our wafer

fabrication and approximately 37% of our assembly packaging and testing in 2012 to third-party contract

manufacturers If production or manufacturing capacity is delayed reduced or eliminated at one or more of these

facilities manufacturing could be disrupted we could have difficulties or delays in fulfilling our customer orders

and our sales could decline In addition if third-party contract manufacturer fails to deliver quality products

and components on time and at reasonable prices we could have difficulties fulfilling our customer orders and

our sales could decline As result our business financial condition and results of operations could be adversely

affected
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To the extent we rely on alliances and third-party design and/or manufacturing relationships we face the

following risks

reduced control over delivery schedules and product costs

manufacturing costs that are higher than anticipated

inability of our manufacturing partners to develop manufacturing methods and technology appropriate

for our products and their unwillingness to devote adequate capacity to produce our products

decline in product reliability

inability to maintain continuing relationships with our suppliers
and

restricted ability to meet customer demand when faced with product shortages

In addition purchasing rather than manufacturing these products may adversely affect our gross profit

margin if the purchase costs of these products become higher than our own manufacturing costs would have

been Our internal manufacturing costs include depreciation and other fixed costs while prices for products

outsourced are based on market conditions Prices for foundry products also vary depending on capacity

utilization rates at our suppliers quantities demanded product technology and geometry Furthermore these

outsourcing costs can vary materially from quarter-to-quarter and in cases of industry shortages they can

increase significantly negatively impacting our gross margin

if any of these risks are realized we could experience an interruption in our supply chain or an increase in

costs which could delay or decrease our net sales or otherwise adversely affect our business financial condition

and results of operations

reduction or disruption in our production capacity or our supplies or an incorrect forecast could negatively

impact our business

Our production capacity could be affected by manufacturing problems Difficulties in the production

process could reduce yields or interrupt production and as result of such problems we may not be able to

deliver products on time or in cost-effective competitive manner As the complexity of both our products and

our fabrication processes has become more advanced manufacturing tolerances have been reduced and

requirements for precision have become more demanding We have in the past experienced delays in delivery

and product quality Our failure to adequately manage our capacity or maintain product quality could have

negative impact on net sales and could harm our customer relationships

Furthermore we may suffer disruptions in our manufacturing operations either due to production

difficulties such as those described above or as result of external factors beyond our control We use highly

combustible materials such as silane and hydrogen in our manufacturing processes and are therefore subject to

the risk of explosions and fires which can cause significant disruptions to our operations If operations at

manufacturing facility are interrupted we may not be able to shift production to other facilities on timely basis

or at all In addition certain of our products are only capable of being produced at single manufacturing facility

and to the extent that any of these facilities fail to produce these products this risk will be increased Even if

transfer is possible transitioning production of particular type of semiconductor from one of our facilities to

another can take between six to twelve months to accomplish and in the interim period we would likely suffer

significant or total supply disruption and incur substantial costs Such an event could have material negative

impact on our business financial condition and results of operations

We have concentration of manufacturing including assembly and test in Asia primarily in China

Malaysia Taiwan and Korea either in our own facilities or in the facilities of third parties If manufacturing in

the region were disrupted our overall production capacity could be significantly reduced Our ability to meet

customer demands also depends on our ability to obtain timely and adequate delivery of materials parts and

components from our suppliers From time to time suppliers may extend lead times limit the amounts supplied
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to us or increase prices due to capacity constraints or other factors Supply disruptions may also occur due to

shortages in critical materials such as silicon wafers or specialized chemicals or energy or other general supplier

disruptions We have experienced shortages in the past that have adversely affected our operations Although we

work closely with our suppliers to avoid these types of shortages we may encounter these problems in the future

In addition number of our supplies are obtained from single source reduction or interruption in supplies or

significant increase in the price of one or more supplies could have material negative impact on our business

financial condition and results of operations

Our business financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by the political and

economic conditions in the countries in which we conduct business and other factors related to our

international operations

We sell our products throughout the world For each of the last three years greater than 80% of our products

were sold into countries other than the United States In addition majority of our operations and employees are

located outside of the United States Multiple factors relating to our international operations and to particular

countries in which we operate could have material negative impact on our business financial condition and

results of operations These factors include

negative economic developments in economies around the world e.g financial instability in Europe

the instability of international governments including the threat of war terrorist attacks epidemic or

civil unrest

adverse changes in laws and governmental policies especially those affecting trade and investment

import or export licensing requirements imposed by governments

foreign currency exchange and transfer restrictions

differing labor standards and laws

differing levels of protection of intellectual property

the threat that our operations or property could be subject to nationalization and expropriation

varying practices of the regulatory tax judicial and administrative bodies in the jurisdictions where we

operate

pandemics such as the flu which may adversely affect our workforce as well as our local suppliers and

customers and

potentially burdensome taxation and changes in foreign tax laws

International financial crisis and conflicts are creating many economic and political uncertainties that are

impacting the global economy continued escalation of international financial crisis and conflicts could

severely impact our operations and demand for our products

In certain of the countries where we sell our products effective protections for patents trademarks

copyrights and trade secrets may be unavailable or limited in nature and scope as compared to the level of

protection available in the United States In addition as we target increased sales in Asia differing levels of

protection of our intellectual property in Asian countries could have significant negative impact on our

business The laws the enforcement of laws or our efforts to obtain and enforce intellectual property protections

in any of these jurisdictions may not be sufficient to protect our intellectual property As result we may lose

some or all of the competitive advantage we have over our competitors in such countries

majority of our products are manufactured in Asia primarily in China Malaysia Taiwan and Korea Any
of the factors set forth above impacting these countries or any other conflict or uncertainty in these countries

including due to political unrest public health or safety concerns or natural disasters such as earthquakes could
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have material negative impact on our business financial condition and results of operations In addition if the

government of any country in which our products are manufactured or sold sets technical standards for products

made in or imported into their country that are not widely shared it may lead certain of our customers to suspend

imports of their products into that country require manufacturers in that country to manufacture products with

different technical standards and disrupt cross-border manufacturing partnerships which in each case could have

material negative impact on our business financial condition and results of operations

We may be subject to claims of infringement of third-party intellectual property rights or demands that we

license third-party technology which could impair our freedom to operate or result in significant expense to

defend against such claims or obtain license to such technology

From time to time third parties may and do assert against us their patent copyright trademark and other

intellectual property rights relating to technologies that are important to our business Any claims that our

products or processes infringe these rights including claims arising through our contractual indemnification of

our customers and collaborators regardless of their merit or resolution could be costly and may divert the

efforts and attention of our management and technical personnel We may not prevail in such proceedings given

the complex technical issues and inherent uncertainties in intellectual property litigation If such proceedings

result in an adverse outcome we could be required to

pay substantial damages potentially treble damages in the United States including royalties on sales of

our products

cease the manufacture use or sale of the infringing products or processes

discontinue the use of the infringing technology

expend significant resources to develop non-infringing technology

license technology from the third party claiming infringement which license may not be available on

commercially reasonable terms or may not be available at all

comply with the terms of import restrictions imposed by the International Trade Commission ITC or

similaradministrative or regulatory authority or

forego the opportunity to license our technology to others or to collect royalty payments based upon

successful protection and assertion of our intellectual property against others

Any of the foregoing could affect our ability to compete or otherwise have material negative impact on our

business financial condition and results of operations

We depend significantly on intellectual property to protect our technologies and products

We depend significantly on patents and other intellectual property rights to protect our products and

proprietary design and fabrication processes against infringement or misappropriation by others and to ensure

that we have the ability to generate royalty and other licensing revenue We rely primarily on patent copyright

trademark and trade secret laws as well as on nondisclosure and confidentiality agreements
and other methods

to protect our proprietary technologies Protection of our patent portfolio and other intellectual property rights is

very important to our operations We intend to continue to license our intellectual property to third parties On

selective basis we may also sell or enter into other business arrangements with third parties relative to individual

patents or portfolios of patents We have broad portfolio of over 6000 patent families and numerous licenses

covering manufacturing processes packaging technology software systems
and circuit design patent family

includes all of the equivalent patents and patent applications that protect the same invention covering different

geographical regions We cannot ensure that any of our currently filed or future patent applications will result in

issued patents or even if issued predict the scope of the claims that may result from our patents We do not

believe that any individual patent or the expiration thereof is or would be material to our business
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We may not be successful in protecting our intellectual property rights or developing or licensing new
intellectual property which may harm our ability to compete and may have material negative impact on our

results of operations

We generate revenue from licensing or selling our patents and manufacturing technologies to third parties

Our future intellectual property revenue depends in part on the continued strength of our intellectual property

portfolio and enforcement efforts and on the sales and financial stability of our licensees In the past we have

found it necessary to engage in litigation with other companies to force those companies to execute license

agreements with us or prohibit their use of our intellectual property Some of these proceedings did and future

proceedings may require us to expend significant resources and to divert the efforts and attention of our

management from our business operations In connection with our intellectual property

the steps we take to prevent misappropriation or infringement of our intellectual property may not be

successful

our existing or future patents may be challenged limited invalidated or circumvented and

the measures described above may not provide meaningful protection

Despite these precautions it may be possible for third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use our

technology without authorization develop similar technology independently or design around our patents Our

trade secrets may be vulnerable to disclosure or misappropriation by employees contractors and other persons

Further we may not be able to obtain patent protection or secure other intellectual property rights in all the

countries in which we operate and under the laws of such countries enforcement of patents and other intellectual

property rights may be unavailable or limited in scope The laws of certain countries in which we manufacture

and design our products do not protect our intellectual
property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United

States In the Office of the United States Trade Representative USTR annual Special 301 Report released on

April 2012 the adequacy and effectiveness of intellectual property protection in number of foreign countries

were analyzed The report indicated that particular problems exist in China and India among others with respect

to intellectual property rights protection enforcement or market access for
persons relying on intellectual

property The USTR report noted that despite signs of progress protection and enforcement of intellectual

property rights in China remain significant challenge and in India the report noted weak legal framework

and enforcement system for intellectual
property rights With respect to Malaysia the report indicated that while

certain concerns remain Malaysia was removed from the Watch List due to improved intellectual property rights

protection and enforcement No other countries in which we have material operations are named in this report

and we believe that we have disclosed the differences in intellectual property protections of the countries material

to these operations that could have material adverse impact on our business The absence of consistent

intellectual property protection laws and effective enforcement mechanisms makes it difficult to ensure adequate

protection for our technologies and other intellectual property rights on worldwide basis As result it is

possible for third parties to use our proprietary information in certain countries without us having the ability to

fully enforce our rights in those countries which could negatively impact our business in material way If our

patents or trade secrets fail to protect our technology we could lose some or all of our competitive advantage

which would enable our competitors to offer similar products Any inability on our part to adequately protect our

intellectual property may have material negative impact on our business financial condition and results of

operations

We obtain some of the intellectual property we use in our operations through license agreements with third

parties Some of these license agreements contain provisions that may require the consent of the counterparties to

remain in effect after change of control If we are unable to obtain any required consents under any license

agreements in the event of change of control our rights to use intellectual property licensed under those

agreements may be at risk If any license agreements are terminated or expire we could lose the right to use the

subject intellectual property which could result in negative impact on our ability to manufacture and sell some

of our existing products
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Our operating results are subject to substantial quarterly and annual fluctuations

Our net sales and operating results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to fluctuate in the future These

fluctuations are due to number of factors many of which are beyond our control These factors include among

others

changes in end-user demand for the products manufactured and sold by our customers

the timing of receipt reduction or cancellation of significant orders by customers

fluctuations in the levels of component inventories held by our customers

the gain or loss of significant customers

market acceptance of our products and our customers products

our ability to develop introduce and market new products and technologies on timely basis

the timing and extent of product development costs

new product and technology introductions by competitors

fluctuations in manufacturing yields

availability and cost of products from our suppliers

changes in our product mix or customer mix

intellectual property disputes

natural disasters such as floods hurricanes and earthquakes as well as interruptions in power supply

resulting therefrom or due to other causes

loss of key personnel or the shortage of available skilled workers

the effects of competitive pricing pressures including decreases in average selling prices of our

products

the effects of adverse economic conditions in the U.S and international markets including the recent

crisis in global credit and financial markets

the effectiveness of our efforts to refocus our operations and reduce our cost structure

manufacturing assembly and test capacity and

our ability to hire retain and motivate key employees to meet the demands of our customers

The foregoing factors are difficult to forecast and these as well as other factors could have material

negative impact on our quarterly or annual operating results In addition significant amount of our operating

expenses is relatively fixed in nature due to our research and development and manufacturing costs If we cannot

adjust spending quickly enough to compensate it could have material negative impact on our business

financial condition and results of operations

Our products may be subject to product liability and warranty claims which could be expensive and could

divert managements attention

We make highly complex electronic components and accordingly there is risk that defects may occur in

any
of our products Such defects may damage our reputation and can give rise to significant costs including

expenses relating to recalling products replacing defective items writing down defective inventory delays in

cancellations of rescheduling or return of orders or shipments and loss of potential sales In addition the

occurrence of such defects may give rise to product liability and warranty claims including liability for damages

caused by such defects We typically provide warranties on products we manufacture for period of three years
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from the date of sale These warranties typically provide that on the date of shipment our products will be free

from defects in material and workmanship and will conform to our approved specifications In the event of

defect we will either refund the purchase price or repair or replace the product with the same or equivalent

product at our cost that meets the warranty if the warranty applies If we release defective products into the

market our reputation could suffer and we could lose sales opportunities and become liable to pay damages

Moreover since the cost of replacing defective semiconductor devices is often much higher than the value of the

devices themselves we may at times face damage claims from customers in excess of the amounts they pay us

for our products including consequential damages

We also face exposure to potential liability resulting from the fact that our customers typically integrate the

semiconductors we sell into numerous consumer products which are then in turn sold into the marketplace We

may be named in product liability claims even if there is no evidence that our products caused loss Product

liability claims could result in significant expenses relating to defense costs or damages awards In particular the

sale of systems and components for the transportation and medical industries involves high degree of risk that

such claims may be made In addition we may be required to participate in recall if any of our systems prove to

be defective or we may voluntarily initiate recall or make payments related to such claims as result of various

industry or business practices or in order to maintain good customer relationships Each of these actions would

likely harm our reputation and lead to substantial expense Any product recall or product liability claim brought

against us could have material negative impact on our reputation business financial condition and results of

operations

We may be subject to liabilities as result ofpersonal injury claims based on alleged links between the

semiconductor manufacturing process and certain illnesses and birth defects

In the last few years there has been increased litigation media scrutiny and associated reports focusing on

an alleged link between working in semiconductor manufacturing clean room environments and certain illnesses

and birth defects Because we utilize these clean rooms we may become subject to liability as result of current

and future claims alleging personal injury significant judgment against us or material defense costs could

harm our business financial condition and results of operations

Changes to our management organizational structure and strategic direction may cause uncertainty

regarding our future operations and may adversely impact employee hiring and retention and our business

financial condition or results of operations

In October 2012 we announced changes to our management and organizational structure along with our

strategic direction The implementation of these changes as well as our recent appointment of new CEO and

any potential additional changes to our management and organizational structure may cause uncertainty

regarding our future operations These changes may cause or result in

disruption of our business or distraction of our employees and management

difficulty in recruiting hiring motivating and retaining talented and skilled personnel and

difficulty in negotiating maintaining or consummating business or strategic relationships or

transactions

If we are unable to mitigate these or other potential risks our business financial condition and results of

operations may be adversely impacted

The failure to complete our transformation programs and the impact of activities taken under the programs

could adversely affect our business

During 2012 following the appointment of Gregg Lowe as president and CEO the company completed

detailed review of its strategic direction with the overall objective of identifying opportunities that would
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accelerate revenue growth and improve profitability As result of this review we executed new reorganization

of business program to re-allocate research and development expenses re-distribute sales resources and add new

management to the company The redirection of research and development resources may have more

immediate impact on our net sales if changes to our strategic business plan cause speculation and uncertainty

among customers regarding our future business strategy and direction There may be unforeseeable and

unintended factors or consequences that could adversely impact our business related to this transformation

program

We have recorded significant charges for reorganization of business activities in the past and may do so again

in the future which could have material negative impact on our business

In the past we recorded significant cash costs for restructuring and non-cash asset impairment charges

relating to our efforts to consolidate manufacturing operations and streamline our global organizational structure

In 2012 we recorded cash and non-cash charges of $52 million in connection with reallocating research and

development resources and realigning sales resources Due to combination of the constant and rapid change

experienced in the semiconductor industry we may incur cash costs for employee termination and exit costs and

non-cash asset impairment charges in the future and such charges may have material negative impact on our

business financial condition and results of operations

From time to time we may also decide to divest product lines and businesses or restructure our operations

including through the contribution of assets to joint ventures However our ability to successfully extricate

ourselves from product lines and businesses or to close or consolidate operations depends on number of

factors many of which are outside of our control For example if we are seeking buyer for particular product

line none may be available In addition we may face internal obstacles to our efforts In some cases particularly

with respect to our European operations there may be laws or other legal impediments affecting our ability to

carry out such sales or restructuring As result we may be unable to exit product line or business or to

restructure our operations in manner we deem to be advantageous

We may engage in acquisitions joint ventures and other transactions intended to complement or expand our

business We may not be able to complete these transactions and if executed these transactions could pose

significant risks and could have negative effect on our operations

Our future success may be dependent on opportunities to enter into joint ventures and to buy other

businesses or technologies that could complement enhance or expand our current business or products or that we

believe might otherwise offer us growth opportunities If we are unable to identify suitable targets our growth

prospects may suffer and we may not be able to realize sufficient scale advantages to compete effectively in all

markets In addition in pursuing acquisitions we may face competition from other companies in the

semiconductor industry Our ability to acquire targets may also be limited by applicable antitrust laws and other

regulations in the United States the European Union and other jurisdictions in which we do business To the

extent that we are successful in making acquisitions we may have to expend substantial amounts of cash incur

debt assume loss-making divisions and incur other types of expenses We may not be able to complete such

transactions for reasons including but not limited to failure to secure financing or as result of restrictive

covenants in our debt instruments Any transactions that we are able to identify and complete may involve

number of risks including

the diversion of our managements attention from our existing business to integrate the operations and

personnel of the acquired or combined business or joint venture

possible negative impacts on our operating results during the integration process and

our possible inability to achieve the intended objectives of the transaction

In addition we may not be able to successfully or profitably integrate operate maintain and manage our

newly acquired operations or employees We may not be able to maintain uniform standards controls

procedures and policies and this may lead to operational inefficiencies
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Loss of our key management and other personnel or an inability to attract key management and other

personne4 could impact our business

We depend on our senior executive officers and other key personnel to run our business and on technical

experts to develop new products and technologies Turnover in these positions could adversely affect our

operations Competition for qualified employees among companies that rely heavily on engineering and

technology is intense and the loss of qualified employees or an inability to attract retain and motivate additional

highly skilled employees required for the operation and expansion of our business could hinder our ability to

conduct research and development activities successfully and develop marketable products

Our results of operations could be adversely affected by changes in tax-related matters

We conduct operations in more than 30 countries worldwide and as result are subject to taxation and audit

by number of taxing authorities Tax rates vary among the jurisdictions in which we operate Changes in tax

laws regulations and related interpretations in the countries in which we operate may adversely affect our results

of operations Our results of operations could also be affected by market opportunities or decisions we make that

cause us to increase or decrease operations in one or more countries or by changes in applicable tax rates or

audits by the taxing authorities in countries in which we operate

In addition we are subject to laws and regulations in various jurisdictions that determine how much profit

has been earned and when it is subject to taxation in that jurisdiction Changes in these laws and regulations

could affect the locations where we are deemed to earn income which could in turn adversely affect our results

of operations We have deferred tax assets on our balance sheet Changes in applicable tax laws and regulations

or in our business performance could affect our ability to realize those deferred tax assets which could also

adversely affect our business financial condition and results of operations

We currently operate under tax holidays and favorable tax incentives in certain foreign jurisdictions Such

tax holidays and incentives often require us to meet specified employment and investment criteria in such

jurisdictions We cannot ensure that we will continue to meet such criteria or enjoy such tax holidays and

incentives or realize any net tax benefits from these tax holidays or incentives If any of our tax holidays or

incentives are terminated our results of operations may be materially and negatively impacted

We are subject to environmental health and safety laws which could increase our costs and restrict our

operations in the future

Our operations are subject to variety of environmental laws and regulations in each of the jurisdictions in

which we operate governing among other things air emissions wastewater discharges the use handling and

disposal of hazardous substances and wastes soil and groundwater contamination and employee health and

safety We could incur significant costs as result of any failure by us to comply with or any liability we may
incur under environmental health and safety laws and regulations including the limitation or suspension of

production monetary fines or civil or criminal sanctions clean-up costs or other future liabilities in excess of our

reserves We are also subject to laws and regulations governing the recycling of our products the materials that

may be included in our products and our obligation to dispose of our products at the end of their useful life For

example the European Directive 2002/95IEc on restriction of hazardous substances RoHS Directive bans the

placing on the European Union market of new electrical and electronic equipment containing more than specified

levels of lead and other hazardous compounds As more countries enact requirements like the RoHS Directive

and as exemptions are phased out we could incur substantial additional costs to convert the remainder of our

portfolio conduct required research and development alter manufacturing processes or adjust supply chain

management Such changes could also result in significant inventory obsolescence In addition compliance with

environmental health and safety requirements could restrict our ability to expand our facilities or require us to

acquire costly pollution control equipment incur other significant expenses or modify our manufacturing

processes
We also are subject to cleanup obligations at certain properties In the event of the discovery of new or

previously unknown contamination additional requirements with respect to existing contamination or the
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imposition of other cleanup obligations at these or other sites for which we are responsible we may be required

to take remedial or other measures that could have material negative impact on our business financial condition

and results of operations

In addition to the costs of complying with environmental health and safety requirements we have incurred

are currently incurring and may in the future incur costs defending against environmental litigation brought by

government agencies and private parties We have been are and may be in the future defendants in lawsuits

brought by parties in the future alleging environmental damage personal injury or property damage

significant judgment against us could harm our business financial condition and results of operations

We rely on manufacturing capacity located in geologically unstable areas which could affect the availability

of supplies and services to us and our customers Certain natural disasters such as coastaiflooding large

earthquakes or vokanic eruptions in those or other areas may negatively impact our business

We rely on internal manufacturing capacity wafer fabrication foundries logistics providers and other

suppliers and sub-contractors in geologically
unstable locations around the world If coastal flooding large

earthquake volcanic eruption or other natural disaster were to directly damage destroy or disrupt one of our

manufacturing facilities or those of our providers subcontractors or third-party wafer fabrication foundries it

could disrupt our operations cause temporary loss of capacity delay new production and shipments of existing

inventory or result in costly repairs replacements or other costs all of which would negatively impact our

business financial condition and results of operations We may also be forced to move production to another

manufacturing facility which could result in additional production delays and unanticipated costs due to product

requalification requirements required modifications to the new facility to support production or other production

challenges resulting from the transition In addition large natural disaster may result in disruptions in our

supply chains including the availability and cost of key raw materials utilities and equipment and other key

services which could negatively impact our business Even if we are not directly impacted such disruptions to

our customers could result in decreased demand for our products which could negatively impact our net sales

and margins Any prolonged inability to utilize one of our manufacturing facilities or those of our subcontractors

or third-party wafer fabrication foundries or any disruption in the operations of our logistic providers as result

of fire natural disaster unavailability of utilities or otherwise could have material negative effect on our

business financial condition and results of operations The impact of such occurrences depends on the specific

geographic circumstances but could be significant as some of our factories are located in islands with known

earthquake fault zones including Japan and Taiwan

For example our wafer fabrication facility in Sendai Japan was seriously damaged on March 11 2011 by

9.0-magnitude earthquake which struck off the coast of Japan near that city As result of the significant damage

and our previously announced plans to close the facility at the end of 2011 we decided not to reopen the facility

following the earthquake During 2011 and 2012 we incurred asset impairment inventory charges employee

termination benefits contract termination and other on-going closure costs associated with earlier than expected

closure of our Sendai Japan facilities

Our Sponsors control us and may act in manner that advances their best interests and not necessarily those

of other shareholders

Our Sponsors who control Freescale LP own approximately 79% of our outstanding common shares In

addition each of our four Sponsors has the contractual right to select two individuals to serve on our Board of

Directors the Board As result our Sponsors control our Board and will be able to influence or control all

matters requiring approval by our shareholders including

the election of directors

mergers amalgamations consolidations takeovers or other business combinations involving us

the sale of all or substantially all of our assets and other decisions affecting our capital structure
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the amendment of our memorandum of association and our bye-laws and

our winding up and dissolution

In addition pursuant to the shareholders agreement entered upon the completion of our Initial Public Offering

IPO for so long as Freescale LP and our Sponsors collectively own in the aggregate at least 50% of our

outstanding common shares certain actions by us or our subsidiaries will require the approval of at least majority

of our Sponsors acting through their respective director designees in addition to any other vote by our Board or

shareholders The actions requiring Sponsor approval include change of control transactions the acquisition or sale

of any asset in excess of $150 million the incurrence of indebtedness in excess of $250 million making any loan

advance or capital contribution in excess of $150 million equity issuances in excess of $25 million the approval

and registration of equity securities in connection with public offering changes in the nature of our or our

subsidiaries business changes to our jurisdiction of incorporation hiring or removing the CEO the commencement

or settlement of any litigation over $50 million and changing the number of directors on the Board

The contractual rights and significant ownership by the Sponsors may delay deter or prevent acts that may
be favored by our other shareholders including change of control of us The interests of the Sponsors may not

always coincide with our interests or the interests of our other shareholders and the Sponsors may seek to cause

us to take courses of action that in their judgment could enhance their investment in us but which might involve

risks to our other shareholders or adversely affect us or our other shareholders

Our Sponsors are also in the business of making investments in companies and may from time to time

acquire and hold interests in businesses that compete directly or indirectly with us Our Sponsors may also pursue

acquisition opportunities that are complementary to our business and as result those acquisition opportunities

may not be available to us So long as our Sponsors or other funds controlled by or associated with our Sponsors

have these contractual rights or continue to indirectly own significant amount of our outstanding common

shares even if such amount is less than 50% our Sponsors will continue to be able to strongly influence or

effectively control our decisions

We are controlled company within the meaning of the rules of the New York Stock Exchange NYSE
and as result will qualify for and intend to rely on exemptions from certain corporate governance

requirements Our shareholders do not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of companies that

are subject to such requirements

Our Sponsors continue to control majority of the voting power of our outstanding common shares through

their ownership of Freescale LP As result we are controlled company within the meaning of the corporate

governance standards of the NYSE Under these rules listed company of which more than 50% of the voting

power is held by an individual group or another company is controlled company and may elect not to

comply with certain corporate governance requirements including

the requirement that majority of the board of directors consist of independent directors

the requirement that the listed company have nomination and corporate governance committee that is

composed entirely of independent directors

the requirement that the listed company have compensation committee that is composed entirely of

independent directors and

the requirement for an annual performance evaluation of the nomination and corporate governance and

compensation committees

As controlled company these exemptions are available to us We do not have majority of independent

directors our nomination and corporate governance committee and compensation committee do not consist

entirely of independent directors and such committees are not required to conduct annual performance

evaluations Accordingly our shareholders do not have the same protections afforded to shareholders of

companies that are subject to all of the corporate governance requirements of the NYSE
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We are Bermuda company and it may be difJkult for you to enforce judgments against us or certain of our

directors or officers

We are Bermuda exempted company The significance of our being Bermuda entity is that the rights of

holders of our common shares will be governed by Bermuda law and our memorandum of association and bye-

laws The rights of shareholders under Bermuda law may differ from the rights of shareholders of companies

incorporated in other jurisdictions In addition one of our directors is not resident of the United States and

substantial portion of our assets are located outside the United States As result it may be difficult for investors

to effect service of process on such director or any future non-resident directors or officers in the United States or

to enforce in the United States judgments obtained in U.S courts against us or those persons
based on the civil

liability provisions of the U.S federal securities laws Uncertainty exists as to whether courts in Bermuda will

enforce judgments obtained in other jurisdictions including the United States against us or any non-resident

directors or officers under the securities laws of those jurisdictions or entertain actions in Bermuda against us or

our non-resident directors or officers under the securities laws of other jurisdictions We have been advised by

Conyers Dill Pearman Limited our special Bermuda counsel that there is no treaty in effect between the

United States and Bermuda providing for enforcement of judgments of U.S courts and that there are grounds

upon which Bermuda courts may not enforce judgments of U.S courts

Furthermore we have been advised by Conyers Dill Pearman Limited our special Bermuda counsel that

the Bermuda courts will not recognize or give effect to U.S federal securities laws that such Bermuda courts

consider to be procedural in nature are revenue or penal laws or the application of which would be inconsistent

with public policy in Bermuda Certain remedies available under the laws of U.S jurisdictions including certain

remedies under U.S federal securities laws will not be recognized or given effect to in any action brought before

court of competent jurisdiction in Bermuda where the application of such remedies would be inconsistent with

public policy in Bermuda Further no claim may be brought in Bermuda against us or our directors and officers

in the first instance for violations of U.S federal securities laws because those laws do not have force of law in

Bermuda Bermuda court may however impose civil liability on us or our directors and officers if the facts

alleged in complaint constitute or give rise to cause of action under Bermuda law Shareholders of Bermuda

company may have cause of action against us or our directors for breach of any duty in the bye-laws or any

shareholders agreement owed personally by us to the shareholder Directors of Bermuda company may be

liable to the company for breach of their duties as directors to that company under the Companies Act 1981 as

amended of Bermuda the Companies Act and at common law Such actions must as general rule be

brought by the company Where the directors have carried on an act which is ultra vires or illegal then the

shareholder has the right with leave of the court to bring derivative action to sue the directors on behalf of the

company with any damages awarded going to the company itself Shareholders are also able to take action

against company if the affairs of the company are being conducted in manner which is oppressive or unfairly

prejudicial to the shareholders or some number of them and to seek either winding-up order or an alternative

remedy if winding-up order would be unfairly prejudicial to them

Our bye-laws restrict shareholders from bringing legal action against our officers and directors

Our bye-laws contain broad waiver by our shareholders of any claim or right of action both individually

and on our behalf against any of our officers or directors The waiver applies to any action taken by an officer or

director or the failure of an officer or director to take any action in the performance of his or her duties except

with respect to any matter involving any
fraud or dishonesty on the part of the officer or director This waiver

limits the right of shareholders to assert claims against our officers and directors unless the act or failure to act

involves fraud or dishonesty

Our bye-laws contain provision renouncing our interest and expectancy in certain corporate opportunities

which could adversely affect our business or prospects

Our bye-laws provide that except as otherwise agreed in writing by the Sponsors and their affiliates and us

each Sponsor shall have the right to and shall have no duty not to engage in the same or similarbusiness

activities or lines of business as us including those deemed to be competing with us and ii in the event that
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Sponsor or any of its affiliates acquires knowledge of potential transaction or matter that may be corporate

opportunity for us the Sponsor shall have no duty contractual or otherwise to communicate or present such

corporate opportunity to us unless presented to an employee or agent of the Sponsor in its capacity as one of our

directors or officers and shall not be liable for breach of any duty contractual or otherwise by reason of the fact

that the Sponsor or any of its affiliates directly or indirectly pursues or acquires such opportunity for itself

directs such opportunity to another person or does not present such opportunity to us In addition the

shareholders agreement that we have entered into with our Sponsors and Freescale LP contains substantially

identical provisions with respect to corporate opportunities as the provisions in our bye-laws described above As

result we may be in competition with our Sponsors or their affiliates and we may not have knowledge of or be

able to pursue transaction that could potentially be beneficial to us Accordingly we may lose corporate

opportunity or suffer competitive harm which could negatively impact our business or prospects

We have provisions in our bye-laws that may discourage change of control

Our bye-laws contain provisions that could make it more difficult for third party to acquire us without the

consent of our Board These include among others

restrictions on the time period in which directors may be nominated

no provision in our bye-laws for cumulative voting in the election of directors which means that the

holders of majority of the issued and outstanding common shares can elect all the directors standing

for election and

the ability of our board of directors to determine the powers preferences and rights of our preference

shares and to issue preference shares without shareholder approval

These provisions could make it more difficult for third party to acquire us even if the third partys offer

may be considered beneficial by many shareholders As result shareholders may be limited in their ability to

obtain premium for their shares

We are holding company and rely on dividends distributions and other payments advances and transfers of

funds from our subsidiaries to meet our obligations

We have no direct operations and derive all of our cash flow from our subsidiaries Because we conduct our

operations through our subsidiaries we depend on those entities for dividends and other payments or

distributions to meet our operating needs Legal and contractual restrictions in any existing and future

outstanding indebtedness we or our subsidiaries incur including the senior credit facilities and the indentures

governing Freescale Inc.s senior notes may limit our ability to obtain cash from our subsidiaries The

deterioration of the earnings from or other available assets of our subsidiaries for any reason could limit or

impair their ability to pay dividends or other distributions to us

Item 1B UnresoLved Staff Comments

Not applicable

Item Properties

Our principal executive offices are at 6501 William Cannon Drive West in Austin Texas We also operate

manufacturing facilities design centers and sales offices throughout the world As of December 31 2012 we

owned 11 facilities and leased 64 facilities Our total square footage consists of approximately nine million

square feet of which approximately 6.3 million square feet is owned and approximately 2.7 million square feet is

leased Our remaining lease terms range from one to eight years
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The following table describes our facilities as of December 31 2012

Total Owned Total Leased

Square Square

Region Description Principal Locations Footage Footage

Americas owned facilities Austin Texas 3.8 million 1.9 million

23 leased facilities Chandler Arizona

Tempe Arizona

Asia owned facilities Kuala Lumpur Malaysia 1.7 million 0.4 million

20 leased facilities Noida India

Tianjin China

Europe Middle East Africa owned facilities Toulouse France 0.8 million 0.4 million

21 leased facilities Munich Germany

Tel Aviv Israel

The manufacturing operations at this facility ceased in the third quarter of 2012

We believe that all of our facilities and equipment are in good condition are well maintained and are

adequate for our present operations

We have concentration of manufacturing including assembly and test in Asia primarily in China

Malaysia Taiwan and Korea either in our own facilities or in the facilities of third parties If manufacturing in

the region were disrupted our overall production capacity could be significantly reduced

Item Legal Proceedings

Legal Proceedings

We are defendant in various lawsuits and are subject to various claims which arise in the normal course of

business We record an associated liability when loss is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable

From time to time we are involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business including

tort contractual and customer disputes claims before the United States Equal Employment Opportunity

Commission and other employee grievances and intellectual property litigation and infringement claims Under

agreements
with Motorola Inc Motorola Freescale Inc must indemnify Motorola for certain liabilities

related to our business incurred prior to our separation from Motorola

The resolution of intellectual property litigation may require us to pay damages for past infringement or to

obtain license under the other partys intellectual property rights that could require one-time license fees or

ongoing royalties require us to make material changes to our products and/or manufacturing processes require

us to cross-license certain of our patents or other intellectual property and/or prohibit us from manufacturing or

selling one or more products in certain jurisdictions which could adversely impact our operating results in future

periods If
any

of those events were to occur our business financial condition and results of operations could be

adversely affected

Environmental Matters

Our operations are subject to variety of environmental laws and regulations in the United States and other

jurisdictions in which we operate governing among other things air emissions wastewater discharges the use

handling and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes soil and groundwater contamination and employee

health and safety As with other companies engaged in similar industries environmental compliance obligations

and liability risks are inherent in many of our manufacturing and other activities In the United States certain

environmental remediation laws such as the federal Superfund law can impose the entire cost of site clean-up

regardless of fault upon any single potentially responsible party including companies that owned operated or
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sent wastes to site Environmental requirements may become more stringent in the future which could affect

our ability to obtain or maintain necessary
authorizations and approvals or could result in increased

environmental compliance costs We believe that our operations are in compliance in all material respects with

current requirements under applicable environmental laws Please refer to Note to our accompanying audited

Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for additional information regarding

the amounts we have accrued related to our environmental remediation obligations

Motorola was identified as potentially responsible party at certain locations in the past and has been

engaged in investigations administrative proceedings and/or cleanup processes with respect to past chemical

releases into the environment Freescale Inc agreed to indemnify Motorola for certain environmental liabilities

related to its business including the sites described below Potential future liability excluding costs spent to

date at these or other sites for which we are responsible may adversely affect our results of operations

52nd Street Facility Phoenix AZ In 1983 trichloroethane leak from solvent tank led to the discovery of

chlorinated solvents in the groundwater underlying former Motorola facility located on 52nd Street in Phoenix

Arizona which resulted in the facility and adjacent areas being placed on the federal National Priorities List of

Superfund sites The 52nd Street site was subsequently divided into three operable units by the Environmental

Protection Agency EPA which is overseeing site investigations and cleanup actions with the Arizona

Department of Environmental Quality ADEQ To date two separate soil cleanup actions have been completed

at the first operable unit Operable Unit One for which Motorola received letters stating that no further action

would be required with respect to the soils We also implemented and are operating system to treat

contaminated groundwater in Operable Unit One and prevent migration of the groundwater from Operable Unit

One In addition we entered into an agreement with the EPA to test for vapors emanating from the soil in

Operable Unit One and in residential areas adjacent to Operable Unit One Based on the preliminary results of the

vapor studies we agreed to undertake certain limited remedial actions in areas where the results exceeded certain

EPA standards We do not expect the cost of these remedial actions to be material The EPA has not announced

final remedy for Operable Unit One and it is therefore possible that costs to be incurred at this operable unit in

future periods may vary
from our estimates In relation to the second operable unit the EPA issued Record of

Decision in July 1994 and subsequently issued Consent Decree which required Motorola to design

remediation plan targeted at containing and cleaning up solvent groundwater contamination downgradient of

Operable Unit One That remedy is now being implemented by Freescale Inc and another potentially responsible

party pursuant to an administrative order Of our total accrual for environmental remediation liabilities of $44

million as of December 31 2012 approximately 75% was for Operable Unit One and Operable Unit Two The

EPA and ADEQ are currently performing remedial investigation at the third operable unit Operable Unit

Three to determine the extent of groundwater contamination number of additional potentially responsible

parties including Motorola and Freescale have been identified in relation to Operable Unit Three Because these

investigations are in the early stages we cannot predict at this time whether or to what extent we may be held

liable for cleanup at Operable Unit Three or whether any such liability would be material

56th Street Facility Phoenix AZ In 1985 the EPA initiated an inquiry concerning the former Motorola

facility located on 56th Street in Phoenix Arizona following the discovery of organic compounds in certain local

area wells Pursuant to an agreement with the EPA Motorola completed several remedial actions at this site

including soil excavation and cleanup Motorola then implemented program of well monitoring and extraction

stations which we continue to manage In 2004 the ADEQ assumed primary responsibility for this matter under

Arizonas Water Quality Assurance Revolving Fund Program

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities Market Information

Our common shares have traded on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE under the symbol FSL since

our IPO on May 26 2011 Prior to that date there was no public trading market for our common shares The

following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices per share of our common

shares as reported by the NYSE

Market Prices

Year Ended December 31 2012 High Low

First Quarter ended March 30 2012 $17.84 $12.20

Second Quarter ended June 29 2012 $15.55 8.50

Third Quarter ended September 28 2012 $12.61 8.43

Fourth Quarter ended December 31 2012 $11.10 7.63

Year Ended December 312011

Second Quarter ended July 2011 $19.90 $14.29

Third Quarter ended September 30 2011 $20.97 9.43

Fourth Quarter ended December 31 2011 $14.35 9.92

Share Performance Graph

The graph and table below compare the cumulative total shareholder return of our common shares with the

cumulative total return of the SP 500 Index and the Philadelphia Semiconductor Index PHLX from May 26

2011 through December 31 2012 The graph assumes that $100 was invested on May 26 2011 in our common

shares and in each index and that any dividends were reinvested No cash dividends have been declared on our

common shares since our IPO
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Comparison of Cumulative Total Return
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Among Freescale the SP 500 Index and the PHLX By Quarter

.FSL SP500 PHLX

9/28/12 12/31/12

Last trading day for 2011 was December 30 2011

The share performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future performance

Cumulative Total Return by Quarter

As of January 30 2013 there were approximately 15080 individual shareholders of our common shares

Dividend Policy

We have not paid cash dividends on our common shares in the last two years
We do not intend to pay cash

dividends on our common shares for the foreseeable future We anticipate that we will retain all of our future

earnings if any for use in the development and expansion of our business reducing our debt and for general

corporate purposes In addition our ability to pay cash dividends on our common shares or to receive

distributions or other transfers from our subsidiaries to enable us to pay cash dividends on our common shares is

limited by restrictions under the terms of the agreements governing our and our subsidiaries existing and future

outstanding indebtedness including the Credit Facility and the indentures governing Freescale Inc.s notes

Subject to the foregoing the payment of dividends in the future if any will be at the discretion of our board of

5/26/11 7/1/11 9/30/11 12/31/11 3/30/12 6/29/12

Companyllndex

FSL

SP 500

PHLX

Holders

May 26 July September 30 December 31 March 30 June 29 September 28 December 31
2011 2011 2011 2011 2012 2012 2012 2012

$100 $108 $60 $69 84 56 52 60

$100 $101 $85 $95 $106 $103 $109 $108

$100 98 $79 $85 $102 90 89 90
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directors and will depend upon such factors as earnings levels capital requirements contractual restrictions our

overall financial condition and any other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors In addition pursuant

to Bermuda law and our bye-laws no dividends may be declared or paid if there are reasonable grounds for

believing that we are or would after the payment be unable to pay our liabilities as they become due or

ii that the realizable value of our assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of our liabilities our issued

share capital and our share premium accounts

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None

Item Selected Financial Data

Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Five Year Financial Summary

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31

in millions except per share amounts 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Operating Results

Net sales 3945 4572 4458 3508 5226

Costofsales 2304 2677 2768 2563 3154

Gross margin 1641 1895 1690 945 2072

Selling general and administrative 438 510 502 499 673

Research and development 742 797 782 833 1140

Amortization expense for acquired intangible

assets 13 232 467 486 1042

Reorganization of businesses and other 15 82 345 53

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 6981

Merger and separation expenses 11

Operating earnings loss 463 274 61 1218 7828
Loss gain on extinguishment or modification of

long-term debt net4 32 97 417 2296 79

Other expense net5 531 559 600 576 733

Loss earnings before income taxes 100 382 1078 502 8482
Income tax expense benefit 28 25 246 543

Net loss earnings 102 410 $1053 748 $7939

Net loss earnings per share

Basic 0.41 1.82 5.35 3.81 $40.47

Diluted 0.41 1.82 5.35 3.81 $40.47

Weighted average common shares

outstanding

Basic 248 226 197 196 196

Diluted 251 227 197 196 197

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Total cash and cash equivalents and short-term

investments7 711 772 1043 1363 1394

Total assets 3171 3415 4269 5093 6651

Total carrying value of debt and capital lease

obligations 6381 6592 7618 7552 9786

Total stockholders deficit $453 $4480 $4934 $3894 $4692
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Benefits in 2012 were primarily related to insurance recoveries from the 2011 Sendai Japan earthquake

offset by charges related to the hiring of our new CEO and the change in our strategic direction Charges in

2011 were related to the termination of management agreements
with affiliates and advisors of the Sponsors

recorded in connection with the IPO Refer to Note 11 Certain Relationships and Related Party

Transactions in the accompanying audited Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion

Additionally in 2011 we incurred charges related to our 150 millimeter fabrication facility and design

center in Sendai Japan as result of the extensive damage from the earthquake which were partially offset

by insurance recoveries related to the event Charges in 2009 and 2008 related to series of restructuring

actions we initiated in 2008 to streamline our cost structure and redirect some research and development

investments into growth markets Refer to Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of OperationsReorganization of Business and Other for further description of these items

In 2008 in connection with the termination of our supply arrangement with Motorola the significant

decline in the market capitalization of the public companies in our peer group as of December 31 2008 our

then announced intent to pursue strategic alternatives for our cellular handset product portfolio and the

impact from weakening global market conditions in our remaining businesses we concluded that indicators

of impairment existed related to our goodwill and intangible assets As result we recorded impairment

charges of $5350 million and $1631 million associated with goodwill and intangible assets respectively

Costs in 2008 reflect expenses
related primarily to our acquisition of SigmaTel Inc

Charges in 2012 were related to debt refinancing transaction and redemption of our senior notes Charges

in 2011 were related to the extinguishment of debt and amendment to the Credit Facility in connection with

the IPO We also incurred charges associated with refinancing our debt and open-market repurchases of

portions of our senior notes during 2011 Charges recorded in 2010 primarily reflect net charge of

$432 million attributable to the write-off of remaining original issue discount and unamortized deferred

financing costs along with other charges not eligible for capitalization associated with the refinancing

activities completed in 2010 These charges were partially offset by $15 million net gain related to

open-market repurchases of Freescale Inc.s existing notes during the period Gains recorded during 2009

primarily reflect $2264 million net gain recorded in the first quarter of 2009 in connection with the debt

exchange completed during the period Gains recorded during 2008 reflect the net gain related to

open-market repurchases of Freescale Inc.s senior notes

Primarily reflects interest expense associated with our long-term debt

Years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010 were adjusted for the impact of the 1-for-S 16 reverse

stock split as discussed in Note Other Financial Data of the accompanying audited Consolidated

Financial Statements

The following table provides reconciliation of total cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments

to the amounts reported in our accompanying audited Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31 2008

December 31

in millions 2008

Cash and cash equivalents 900

Short-term investments 494

Total $1394
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following is discussion and analysis of our financial position and results of operations for each of the

three years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 The following discussion of our results of operations and

financial condition should be read in conjunction with our accompanying audited Consolidated Financial

Statements and the notes in Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K This discussion contains forward looking statements and involves numerous risks and uncertainties

including but not limited to those described in the Risk Factors in Part Item 1A of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K Actual results may differ materially from those contained in any forward looking statements

Freescale Semiconductor Ltd and its wholly-owned subsidiaries including Freescale Semiconductor Inc

Freescale Inc are collectively referred to as the Company Freescale we us or our as the

context requires We refer to our principal shareholder Freescale Holdings L.P as Freescale LP its general

partner Freescale Holdings G.P Ltd as Freescale GP our direct subsidiary Freescale Semiconductor

Holdings IL Ltd as Holdings II and our indirect subsidiaries Freescale Semiconductor Holdings III Ltd

Freescale Semiconductor Holdings IV Ltd and Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Inc as Holdings III

Holdings IV and Holdings respectively

Overview

Our Business We are global leader in embedded processing solutions An embedded processing solution

is the combination of embedded processors complementary semiconductor devices and software Our embedded

processor products include microcontrollers MCUs single-and multi-core microprocessors digital signal

controllers applications processors
and digital signal processors DSPs They provide the core functionality of

electronic systems adding essential control and intelligence enhancing performance and optimizing power usage

while lowering system costs We also offer complementary semiconductor products including radio frequency

RF power management analog mixed-signal devices and sensors key element of our strategy is to combine

our embedded processors complementary semiconductor devices and software to offer highly integrated

solutions that are increasingly sought by our customers to simplify their development efforts and shorten their

time to market We have heritage of innovation and product leadership spanning over 50 years and have an

extensive intellectual property portfolio Our close customer relationships have been built upon years of

collaborative product development

We sell our products directly to original equipment manufacturers distributors original design

manufacturers and contract manufacturers through our global direct sales force Our ten largest end customers

accounted for approximately 39% 43% and 44% of our net sales in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Other

than Continental Automotive no other end customer represented more than 10% of our total net sales for any of

the last three years For each of the last three years greater than 80% of our products were sold in countries other

than the United States Our net product sales in the Asia-Pacific Europe Middle East and Africa EMEA
Americas and Japan regions represented approximately 45% 24% 25% and 6% respectively of our net sales in

2012

During 2012 and in connection with the detailed review of our strategic direction under Gregg Lowe our

president and chief executive officer CEO we aligned our product revenues into five focused product groups as

described below

Microcontrollers include our MCUs and application processors focusing on industrial multi-market

connectivity smart energy healthcare and multimedia applications This group will also be the primary

driver for our overall microcontroller technology development creating technology platforms that will

eventually be deployed to our Automotive MCU product group
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Digital Networking includes scalable portfolio of multi-core communication and DSP system-on-chip

solutions serving the networking and communications markets We are increasing our investment in

software to effectively enable our highly integrated solutions in systems aimed at these markets

Automotive MCUs includes our MCUs developed for the automotive market Our focus is to capture

new growth opportunities in Asia and Japan and to gain overall market share in automotive MCUs We

plan to accomplish this by building on our latest developments for powertrain advanced safety and

vehicle networking applications while leveraging existing and new applications

Analog and Sensors includes our automotive analog mixed-signal analog and sensor products Our

focus in analog is to capture new markets and target investments in automotive and mixed signal

analog We are developing analog products that complement our MCUs and various products sold into

the consumer market Our sensors portfolio is focused on high growth markets including industrial and

consumer while continuing to develop applications for the automotive market

RF includes our RF power amplifiers Our focus is to utilize increased research and development

spending to drive into new markets and accelerate revenue growth

Beginning in the fourth quarter of this year we began reallocating our research and development investment

to reflect the change in strategic focus as indicated above We anticipate overall research and development

spending levels at target rate of 17% of sales over the long-term We also began shifting sales resources to align

with industry growth in China and select opportunities in Korea Taiwan and Japan As result we expect to

increase the number of accounts covered and expand our presence
in distribution Along with these changes we

have combined all of our manufacturing operations under single leader to drive sharper focus on execution

efficiency and reduced manufacturing costs Our manufacturing operations include our fabrication facilities

assembly and test operations planning procurement quality and technology organizations

The trend of increasing connectivity and the need for enhanced intelligence in existing and new markets are

the primary drivers of the growth of embedded processing solutions in electronic devices The majority of our net

sales is derived from our five product groups Our Microcontrollers product line represented 18% 17% and 18%

of our total net sales in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Our Digital Networking product line represented 22%

20% and 23% of our total net sales in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Our Automotive MCU product line

represented approximately 25% 23% and 23% of our total net sales in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Our

Analog and Sensors product line represented 18% 17% and 16% of our total net sales in 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively Our RF product line represented 8% 9% and 8% of our net sales in 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively

Reorganization of Business Program Activities Following the appointment of Gregg Lowe as president

and CEO of Freescale we completed detailed review of our strategic direction with the overall objective of

identifying opportunities that would accelerate revenue growth and improve profitability In connection with the

2012 realignment we recorded cash charges of $41 million and non-cash accelerated amortization of $11 million

during the fourth quarter of 2012 The cash charges relate primarily to severance and we expect the timing of the

cash payments to occur through the fourth quarter of 2013 We estimate annualized savings of $35 million to

$40 million associated with these actions beginning in the first quarter of 2013

We have completed series of restructuring actions announced in 2008 and 2009 which included the exit of

our remaining 150 millimeter manufacturing facilities in Toulouse France and Sendai Japan as the industry

experienced migration from 150 millimeter technologies and products to more advanced technologies and

products

The Toulouse France manufacturing facility ceased operations in the third quarter of 2012 following the

scheduled end of production at the site We estimate the remaining severance and other costs of this facility

closure to be approximately $90 million including $80 million in cash severance costs and $10 million in cash

costs for other site decommissioning and exit expenses We anticipate substantially all remaining payments will

be made by the end of 2014 however the timing of these payments depends on many factors including the
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decommissioning of the manufacturing facility and local employment laws and actual amounts paid may vary

based on currency fluctuation Additionally we expect to receive future benefits related to selling the site and

equipment partially offset by selling costs

The Sendai Japan facility ceased operations in the first quarter of 2011 due to extensive damage following

the March 11 2011 earthquake off the coast of Japan During 2012 we recorded benefit of $99 million

attributable to finalizing our earthquake-related business interruption insurance recoveries and the proceeds from

the sale of our Sendai Design Center which were partially offset by $9 million of expenses related to on-going

closure costs and dissolution of the Sendai Japan entity We may incur additional charges associated with

preparing the facility site for sale which we expect to be offset by proceeds from the sale

The Company has previously estimated that it expected to receive approximately $120 million in annualized

savings once the closure process has been completed and production moved to our remaining 200 millimeter

facilities As of the end of 2012 we have realized approximately $50 million of annualized cost savings related

to the closure of the Sendai Japan facility We will begin realizing portion of the $70 million in estimated

annualized cost savings associated with the closure of the Toulouse France facility beginning in the first quarter

of 2013 Actual cost savings realized and the timing thereof will depend on many factors some of which are

beyond our control and could differ materially from our estimates

Debt Restructuring Activities During 2012 Freescale Inc amended the Credit Facility to allow for the

issuance of new senior secured term loan the proceeds of which were used to redeem Senior Subordinated

Notes with nearer term maturities bearing higher rate of interest The effect of this transaction extended the

maturity of $500 million of debt from 2016 to 2019 and is expected to result in annualized interest savings of

$20 million which we began to realize during the second quarter of 2012 through the lower interest rate on the

2012 Term Loan compared to that on the Senior Subordinated Notes Additionally we redeemed $200 million of

senior notes during the second half of 2012 which will have the effect of reducing our annual interest expense by

approximately $20 million Refer to Liquidity and Capital Resources Financing Activities below for the

definition and additional discussion of capitalized terms and transactions referenced in this section

On February 2013 Freescale Inc was advised by the lead arranger under its proposed new senior secured

term loan facility that sufficient orders have been received by the arrangers to allocate and close the proposed

new term loan facility The proposed new term loan facility provides for two term loan tranches in an aggregate

principal amount of approximately $2.74 billion consisting of $350 million term loan that will mature in

December 2016 and $2.39 billion term loan that will mature in March 2020 The maturity of the 2020 term loan

may be accelerated to December 2017 under specified circumstances

The proceeds anticipated from the proposed new term loan facilities are intended to be used to refinance

Freescale outstanding term loans under the Credit Facility and to pay portion of the related fees and expenses

Freescale expects to use cash on hand to pay any remaining fees and expenses The refinancing is expected to

among other things reduce principal amount of indebtedness currently due in 2016 ii extend to 2020 the

maturities of our indebtedness currently due in 2019 and portion of our indebtedness currently due in 2016 and

iii increase our cash interest expense by approximately $6 million annually based on current interest rates The

proposed new term loan facilities will be effected as an amendment to or an amendment and restatement of the

Credit Facility subject to customary conditions

These transactions are currently scheduled to close on March 2013 subject to customary closing

conditions at which time we expect the 2016 loan will be issued at par and the 2020 loan will be issued with an

original issue discount of $24 million subject to accretion to par
value over the term of the facility There can be

no assurance that Freescale Inc will be successful in obtaining the proposed new term loan facility on the terms

discussed above on reasonably acceptable terms or at all

Conditions Impacting Our Business Our business is significantly impacted by demand for electronic

content in automobiles networking and wireless infrastructure equipment industrial automation and consumer

46



electronic devices We operate in an industry that is cyclical and subject to constant and rapid technological

change product obsolescence price erosion evolving standards short product life-cycles customer inventory

levels and fluctuations in product supply and demand In 2012 weak global economic conditions negatively

impacted our overall sales on year over year basis Our revenues declined 14% in 2012 as compared to 2011

Our revenues decreased 5% and our gross margin decreased 280 basis points in the fourth quarter of 2012 as

compared to the third quarter of 2012 The decline in revenue was driven by our exposure
in the European

automotive market along with declines in our cellular and intellectual property revenues Distribution sales in the

fourth quarter of 2012 were flat compared to the third quarter of 2012 Intellectual property agreements entered

into during the second quarter of 2012 may limit our ability to sell or license some of our intellectual property to

other parties through the second quarter of 2013 and may reduce our intellectual property revenues that are not

associated with these agreements Refer to Note Other Financial DataIntellectual Property Revenue for

additional information regarding our intellectual property revenue For more information on trends and other

factors affecting our business see the Risk Factors section in Part Item IA included herein

Effect of Acquisition Accounting On December 2006 Freescale Inc was acquired by consortium of

private equity funds we describe as our Sponsors in transaction we refer to as the Merger In connection

with the Merger Freescale Inc incurred significant indebtedness In addition the purchase price paid in

connection with the Merger was allocated to state the acquired assets and assumed liabilities at fair

value Accordingly subsequent to the Merger interest expense and non-cash depreciation and amortization

charges significantly increased During 2008 however we incurred substantial non-cash impairment charges

against the intangible assets established at the time of the Merger This reduced the post-Merger increase in our

non-cash amortization charges although they were still above pre-Merger levels The term purchase price

accounting PPA refers to the effect of acquisition accounting Certain PPA impacts are recorded in our cost

of sales and affect our gross margin and earnings from operations and other PPA impacts are recorded in our

operating expenses and only affect our earnings from operations The majority of the PPA impacts were finalized

in 2011 driven by tools and equipment which had PPA depreciable lives that ended during 2011 and significant

portion of our developed technology that became fully amortized during 2011

Selected Statement of Operations Items

Orders

Orders are placed by customers for delivery for up to as much as 12 months in the future However only

orders expected to be fulfilled during the 13 weeks following the last day of quarter are included in orders for that

quarter Orders presented as of the end of year are the sum of orders for each of the quarters in that fiscal year

Typically agreements calling for the sale of specific quantities at specific prices are contractually subject to price or

quantity revisions and are as matter of industry practice rarely formally enforced Therefore most of our orders

are cancelable We track orders because we believe that it provides visibility into our potential future net sales

Net Sales

Our net sales originate from the sale of our embedded processors and other semiconductor products and the

licensing of our intellectual property The majority of our net sales are derived from our five major product

groups Microcontrollers Digital Networking Automotive MCU Analog Sensors and RF We also derive net

sales from Other which consists of product sales associated with end markets outside of target markets

including the cellular market intellectual property licensing and sales foundry wafer sales to other

semiconductor companies and net sales from sources other than semiconductors We sell our products primarily

through our direct sales force We also use distributors for portion of our sales and recognize net sales upon the

delivery of our products to the distributors Distributor net sales are reduced for estimated returns and distributor

sales incentives
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Cost of Sales

Cost of sales are costs incurred in providing products and services to our customers These costs consist

primarily of the cost of semiconductor wafers and other materials the cost of assembly and test operations

shipping and handling costs associated with product sales and provisions for estimated costs related to product

warranties which are made at the time the related sale is recorded based on historic trends

We currently manufacture substantial portion of our products internally at our three wafer fabrication

facilities and two assembly and test facilities We track our inventory and cost of sales by using standard costs

that are reviewed at least once year and are valued at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value

Gross Margin

Our gross margin is significantly influenced by the utilization rates in our owned wafer fabrication facilities

Utilization refers only to our wafer fabrication facilities and is based on the capacity of the installed equipment

As utilization rates increase operating leverage increases because fixed manufacturing costs are spread over

higher output We experienced decrease in our utilization rate to 71% in the fourth quarter of 2012 compared to

80% in the fourth quarter of 2011

Selling General and Administrative

Selling general and administrative expenses are costs incurred in the selling and marketing of our products

and services to customers corporate overhead and other operating costs Selling expenses consist primarily of

compensation and associated costs for sales and marketing personnel costs of advertising trade shows and

corporate marketing General and administrative expense consists primarily of compensation and associated costs

for executive management finance human resources information technology and other administrative

personnel outside professional fees and other corporate expenses

Research and Development

Research and development expenses are expensed as incurred and include the cost of activities attributable

to development and pre-production efforts associated with designing developing and testing new or significantly

enhanced products or process and packaging technology These costs consist primarily of compensation and

associated costs for our engineers engaged in the design and development of our products and technologies

amortization of purchased technology engineering design development software and hardware tools

depreciation of equipment used in research and development software to support new products and design

environments project material costs and third-party fees paid to consultants

Amortization Expense for Acquired Intangible Assets

Amortization expense for acquired intangible assets consists primarily of the amortization of assets acquired

as part of the Merger They are being amortized on straight line basis over their respective estimated useful

lives ranging from two to ten years The useful lives of the intangible assets were established in connection with

the allocation of fair values at December 2006 significant portion of our developed technology initially

established in connection with the Merger became fully amortized during 2011 Refer to Note 14

Supplemental Guarantor Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements for the definition and discussion of

the term Merger
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Results of Operations

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31

in millions except per share amounts 2012 2011 2010

Orders unaudited $4004 $4369 4631

Net sales $3945 $4572 4458

Cost of sales 2304 2677 2768

Gross margin 1641 1895 1690

Selling general and administrative 438 510 502

Research and development 742 797 782

Amortization
expense

for acquired intangible assets 13 232 467

Reorganization of businesses and other 15 82

Operating earnings loss 463 274 61
Loss on extinguishment or modification of long-term debt net 32 97 417
Other expense net 531 559 600

Loss before income taxes 100 382 1078
Income tax expense benefit 28 25

Net loss 102 410 $1053

Net loss per share

Basic $0.41 $1.82 5.35

Diluted $0.41 $l.82 5.35

Weighted average common share outstanding

Basic 248 226 197

Diluted 251 227 197

Percentage of Net Sales

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010

Orders unaudited 101.5% 95.6% 103.9%

Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cost of sales 58A% 56% 62.1%

Gross margin 41.6% 41.4% 37.9%

Selling general and administrative 11.1% 11.2% 11.3%

Research and development 18.8% 17.4% 17.5%

Amortization expense for acquired intangible assets 0.3% 5.1% 10.5%

Reorganization of businesses and other 1.7%

Operating earnings
11.7% 6.0%

Loss on extinguishment or modification of long-term debt net

Other expense net

Loss before income taxes

Income tax expense
0.1% 0.6%

Net loss

Not meaningful

Year ended December 31 2010 adjusted for the impact of the -for-5.16 reverse stock split as discussed in Note of the accompanying

audited Consolidated Financial Statements
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Net Sales

Our net sales in 2012 decreased by $627 million or 14% compared to the prior year period and orders

decreased 8% over the same period reflecting weaker demand in our core automotive networking and consumer

markets and declines in industrial products purchased through our distribution channel as compared to the prior

year This decline included decrease of $204 million in other net sales largely the result of lower demand for

our cellular products offset by an increase in intellectual property revenue Distribution sales were approximately

23% of our total net sales and represented decrease of 10% compared to the prior year Distribution inventory

in dollars was 9.7 weeks at December 31 2012 compared to 11.1 weeks at December 31 2011 The decrease in

weeks of distribution inventory resulted from our distribution partners working through higher than normal

inventory levels at the end of 2011 due to concerns surrounding supply over the course of 2011 after the Sendai

Japan earthquake in March 2011

Our net sales in 2011 increased modestly compared to the prior year while orders decreased by 6% over the

same period We experienced higher overall net sales primarily as result of increased production in the global

automotive industry and strength in our RF product sales due to continued increases in wireless

telecommunications network investments in certain regions This growth was offset in part by weakness in our

core networking business and declines in industrial products purchased through our distribution channel

Distribution sales were approximately 23% of our total net sales in 2011 and were flat compared to 2010

Distribution inventory in dollars was 11.1 weeks at December 31 2011 compared to 9.4 weeks at

December 31 2010 The growth in weeks of distribution inventory was due to increased product inventory

throughout the market supply chain Net sales by product group for the years ended December 31 2012 2011

and 2010 were as follows

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
in millions 2012 2011 2010

Microcontrollers 707 790 801

Digital Networking 852 928 1013

Automotive MCUs 986 1072 1013

Analog and Sensors 722 785 700

Radio Frequency 303 418 356

Other 375 579 575

Total Net Sales $3945 $4572 $4458

Microcont rollers

Microcontrollers net sales decreased by $83 million or 11% in 2012 compared to 2011 driven by

decreased demand for our products included in various consumer devices primarily eReaders and decline in

the products purchased through our distribution channel largely within the Americas and EMEA in connection

with economic uncertainty in those regions impacting demand primarily in the industrial markets we target

Microcontrollers net sales decreased by $11 million or 1% in 2011 compared to 2010 associated with

greater than expected decline in net sales associated with products purchased through our distribution

channel primarily by the industrial market in the second half of 2011 compared to the second half of 2010

partially offset by growth in our multimedia product revenues in connection with higher eReader net sales

Digital Networking

Digital Networkings net sales decreased by $76 million or 8% in 2012 compared 2011 We

experienced weaker enterprise and wireless spending in the Americas and EMEA particularly during the

fourth quarter of 2012 This was compounded by some customers going through inventory corrections over

the course of 2012 In addition capital expenditures in wireless infrastructure declined in 2012 except for

limited investments in infrastructure in China over the second half of 2012
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Digital Networkings net sales decreased by $85 million or 8% in 2011 compared to 2010 This

contraction was driven primarily by an overall decline in our core networking business due to high

inventory levels through the market supply chain and lower capital investment in wireless infrastructure

markets on global basis

Automotive MCUs

Automotive MCUs net sales decreased by $86 million or 8% in 2012 compared to 2011 primarily as

result of lower demand in the European automotive market along with changes in the mix of products sold

Automotive MCUs net sales increased by $59 million or 6% in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily as

result of gradual increase in overall global automotive production

Analog and Sensors

Analog and Sensors net sales decreased by $63 million or 8% in 2012 compared to 2011 primarily as

result of lower demand in the European automotive market and decreased demand for our products

included in various consumer devices This decrease was partially offset by increases in certain of our

sensors products sold in the automotive market

Analog and Sensors net sales increased by $85 million or 12% in 2011 compared to 2010 due to

greater demand for analog products and as result of gradual increase in overall global automotive

production Additionally revenues increased related to sales of certain of our products serving the consumer

market

RF

RFs net sales decreased by $115 million or 28% in 2012 compared to 2011 as result of decreased

investment in wireless infrastructure in various emerging and established markets and the overall weak

global macroeconomic environment

RFs net sales increased by $62 million or 17% in 2011 compared to 2010 largely related to an

increase in wireless telecommunication network investments in China and India

Other

Other net sales decreased by $204 million or 35% in 2012 compared to 2011 due primarily to

decrease in cellular product sales partially offset by an increase in intellectual property revenue As

percentage of net sales intellectual property revenue was 5% and 3% for 2012 and 2011 respectively

Other net sales remained relatively flat in 2011 compared to 2010 due primarily to an increase in

intellectual property revenue offset by decrease in contract manufacturing sales and cellular products

sales As percentage of net sales intellectual property revenue was 3% and 2% for 2011 and 2010

respectively

Gross Margin

In 2012 our gross margin decreased $254 million or 13% compared to 2011 This decline was the result of

net sales decreasing by 14% ii decreases in average selling prices as result of our annual negotiations with

our customers put into effect during the first quarter of 2012 and iii changes in product sales mix Utilization of

our front-end manufacturing assets remained flat at 77% in both 2012 and 2011 As percentage of net sales

gross margin in 2012 was 41.6% reflecting slight increase of 0.2 percentage points compared to 2011 This

improvement in
gross margin as percentage of net sales was the result of $209 million decrease in

depreciation expense largely due to $167 million of PPA depreciation incurred in 2011 ii the realization of

cost savings from the closure of our Sendai Japan manufacturing facility iii higher intellectual property

revenue iv procurement and productivity cost savings and lower incentive compensation
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In 2011 our gross margin increased $205 million or 12% compared to 2010 As percentage of net sales

gross margin in 2011 was 41.4% reflecting an increase of 3.5 percentage points compared to 2010 Gross margin

was positively impacted by higher intellectual property and net product sales ii procurement cost savings

iiian increase in utilization of our manufacturing assets iv improved yields and lower incentive

compensation Gross margin benefited from lower depreciation expense of $61 million resulting from change

in the useful lives of certain of our probe assembly and test equipment in the first quarter of 2011 The

improvement in wafer manufacturing facility utilization from 72% in 2010 to 77% in 2011 and the decrease in

depreciation expense contributed to continued improvement in operating leverage of our fixed manufacturing

costs Partially offsetting these improvements in gross margins were decreases in average selling price resulting

from our annual negotiations with our customers put into effect in the first quarter of 2011 and changes in

product sales mix Our gross margin included PPA impact and depreciation acceleration related to the closure of

our 150 millimeter manufacturing facilities of $167 million and $156 million in 2011 and 2010 respectively

The term PPA refers to the effect of acquisition accounting Certain PPA impacts were recorded in our

cost of sales and affect our gross margin and earnings from operations and other PPA impacts are recorded in our

operating expenses and only affect our earnings from operations The majority of the prior year quarter PPA

depreciation impact was driven by tools and equipment which had PPA depreciable lives that ended during 2011

Selling General and Administrative

Our selling general and administrative expenses decreased $72 million or 14% in 2012 compared to 2011

This decrease was primarily the result of lower incentive compensation ii the elimination of management

fees in connection with the 2011 IPO iiidecreased spending on certain sales and marketing programs and

iv discretionary cost reductions As percentage of our net sales our selling general and administrative

expenses
remained relatively flat as compared to the prior year

Our selling general and administrative expenses
increased $8 million or 2% in 2011 compared to 2010

This increase was primarily the result of focus on select sales and marketing programs ii higher litigation

costs and iii annual merit increases in compensation These increases were partially offset by lower incentive

compensation and the elimination of management fees at the IPO As percentage of our net sales our selling

general and administrative expenses
remained relatively flat as compared to the prior year

Research and Development

Our research and development expense for 2012 decreased $55 million or 7% compared to 2011 This

decrease was primarily the result of lower incentive compensation and decreased spending on certain research

and development programs that are no longer essential as result of the implementation of the 2012 Strategic

Realignment These cost reductions were partially offset by increased expenses related to focused investment in

our core businesses As percentage
of our net sales our research and development expenses were 18.8% in

2012 reflecting an increase of 1.4 percentage points over the prior year primarily due to lower net sales

Our research and development expense for 2011 increased $15 million or 2% compared to 2010 This

increase was the result of annual merit increases in compensation and continued focused investment in our core

businesses including the reallocation of resources to continue our focus on new product introduction initiatives

These increases were partially offset primarily by lower incentive compensation in 2011 As percentage of our

net sales our research and development expenses remained relatively unchanged as compared to the prior year

Amortization Expense for Acquired Intangible Assets

Amortization expense for acquired intangible assets related to developed technology and tradenames/

trademarks decreased by $219 million or 94% in 2012 compared to 2011 and by $235 million or 50% in 2011

compared to 2010 These decreases were primarily associated with portions of our developed technology and

tradenames/trademarks becoming fully amortized during both 2011 and 2010
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Reorganization of Business and Other

In 2012 we recorded benefit of $90 million for earthquake-related business interruption insurance

recoveries related to our Sendai Japan fabrication facility which suffered extensive damage from the March 2011

earthquake We also recorded benefit of $9 million related to proceeds received in connection of the sale of the

Sendai Japan design center These benefits were partially offset by $9 million of expenses related to on-going

closure costs and costs associated with the dissolution of the Sendai Japan entity Additionally we recorded

benefits totaling $16 million primarily related to the expiration of contractual obligations in regards to the wind

down of our cellular handset business and the expiration of indemnification obligations under contract

previously executed outside the ordinary course of business These benefits were partially offset by charges of

$52 million including non-cash accelerated amortization charge and cash costs for employee termination

benefits and other exit costs recorded in connection with the 2012 Strategic Realignment Additionally we

recorded charges of $39 million for exit costs related to the termination of various supply agreements

on-going closure and decommissioning costs incurred in connection with the closure of our Toulouse France

manufacturing facility ii the change in the executive leadership of the Company and iii costs recorded in

connection with the termination of our corporate aircraft lease agreement

In 2011 in connection with the closing of the Sendai Japan fabrication facility due to extensive damage

from the March 11 2011 earthquake off the coast of Japan we incurred $118 million in charges associated with

non-cash asset impairment and inventory charges cash costs for employee termination benefits contract

termination and other on-going closure costs These charges were partially offset by $95 million benefit

attributable to earthquake-related insurance recoveries ii $10 million benefit related to the sale of certain

tools and equipment previously impaired and iii $2 million settlement of the majority of our Sendai Japan

subsidiarys pension plan liability We also recorded $71 million of cash costs attributable primarily to the

termination of various management agreements with affiliates and advisors of the Sponsors in connection with

the completion of our IPO Refer to Note 11 Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions for more

information regarding the Sponsors

In 2010 in connection with our Reorganization of Business Program we reversed $21 million of severance

accruals as result of employees previously identified for separation who either resigned and did not receive

severance or were redeployed due to circumstances not foreseen when the original plans were approved This

reversal also includes amounts associated with outplacement services and other severance-related costs that were

ultimately not incurred We also recorded $4 million benefit related to the sale of our facility in Dunfermline

Scotland These benefits were partially offset by charges of $8 million attributable to employee severance

costs associated with the separation of certain employees in management positions in the fourth quarter of 2010

thus concluding our workforce transformation efforts under the Reorganization of Business Program ii $11

million related primarily to underutilized office space which was vacated in the prior year also in connection

with our Reorganization of Business Program and iii$6 million in connection with non-cash asset impairment

charges

Loss on Extinguishment or Modification of Long-Term Debt Net

During 2012 we recorded charge of $32 million associated with the Ql 2012 Debt Refinancing

Transaction which included both the extinguishment and modification of existing debt and the issuance of the

2012 Term Loan and ii the redemption of portion of our 8.875% Unsecured Notes This charge consisted of

call premiums the write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs and other costs not eligible for

capitalization Capitalized terms referenced in this section are defined and discussed in Liquidity and Capital

ResourcesFinancing Activities

In 2011 we recorded charge of $97 million associated with the extinguishment of debt and the amendment

to the Credit Facility both of which were accomplished primarily in connection with the completion of the IPO

This charge consisted of expenses
associated with the amendment to the Credit Facility the IPO Debt

Redemption and the Q3 2011 Debt Refinancing Transaction including call premiums of $74 million the
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write-off of remaining unamortized deferred financing costs of $19 million and other costs not eligible for

capitalization These charges also included $1 million loss related to the additional open-market repurchases of

$26 million of our senior unsecured notes during 2011

In 2010 we recorded charge of $432 million attributable to the write-off of remaining original issue

discount and unamortized deferred financing costs along with other charges not eligible for capitalization

associated with the 2010 Debt Refinancing Transactions and the AE Arrangement These charges were

partially offset by $15 million gain net related to the additional open-market repurchases of $213 million of

our senior unsecured notes during the first nine months of 2010

Other Expense Net

Net interest expense in 2012 included interest expense of $519 million partially offset by interest income of

$9 million Net interest expense in 2011 included interest expense of $572 million partially offset by interest

income of $9 million The $53 million decrease in interest expense
in 2012 compared to 2011 was attributable to

the extinguishment of nearly $1 billion of indebtedness during 2011 in connection with the IPO ii the

refinancing of long-term debt during the first quarter of 2012 and iii the redemption of $200 million in

long-term debt during the second half of 2012 Net interest expense in 2010 included interest expense of $591

million partially offset by interest income of $8 million The $19 million decrease in interest expense
in 2011

compared to 2010 was attributable to the extinguishment of approximately $1 billion in long-term debt during the

course of 2011 in connection with the IPO

During 2012 we recorded losses in other net of $17 million attributable to the realized results and changes

in the fair value associated with our interest rate swap agreements Additionally we recorded losses of $4 million

2012 related primarily to foreign currency fluctuations During 2011 we recorded gains in other net of $4

million primarily attributable to foreign currency fluctuations along with changes in the fair value of our interest

rate swaps caps and gold swap contracts During 2010 we recognized pre-tax losses in other net of $14 million

due to the change in the fair value of our interest rate swaps and interest rate caps We also recorded $3 million

pre-tax loss in other net related to one of our investments accounted for under the equity method Refer to

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk for further discussion

Income Tax Expense

In 2012 we recorded an income tax provision of $2 million inclusive of $34 million net tax benefit

attributable to discrete events The discrete tax benefits relate principally to the reversal of reserves for

unrecognized tax benefits from foreign audit activity and statute lapses as well as tax benefits from deferred tax

positions in China The discrete tax benefits were partially offset by net tax expense related to withholding taxes

on intellectual property royalties In 2011 we recorded an income tax provision of $28 million inclusive of $2

million net tax benefit related to discrete events These discrete events consisted principally of the release of

valuation allowances on certain deferred tax assets which the Company believes will more likely than not be

realized and the tax benefit from the reversal of reserves for unrecognized tax benefits related to foreign audit

settlements partially offset by withholding tax on intellectual property royalties In 2010 we recorded an income

tax benefit of $25 million including $23 million net benefit related to discrete events associated primarily with

the release of valuation allowances related to certain deferred tax assets of our foreign subsidiaries and the

release of income tax reserves associated with statute expirations and other items

Although the Company is Bermuda entity with statutory income tax rate of zero the earnings of many of

the Companys subsidiaries are subject to taxation in the U.S and other foreign jurisdictions Our annual

effective tax rate was different from the Bermuda statutory rate of zero in 2012 due to income tax expense

benefit incurred by subsidiaries operating in jurisdictions that impose an income tax ii the mix of earnings

and losses across various taxing jurisdictions iii foreign capital investment incentive providing for enhanced

tax deductions associated with capital expenditures in one of our foreign manufacturing facilities and iv the

effect of valuation allowances and uncertain tax positions We record minimal tax expense on our U.S earnings
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due to valuation allowances recorded on substantially all the Companys U.S net deferred tax assets as we have

incurred cumulative losses in the United States Our effective tax rate is impacted by the mix of earnings and

losses by taxing jurisdictions

Reorganization of Business and Other

Chief Executive Leadership Transition

During 2012 $13 million net charge was recorded in reorganization of business and other related to the

change in the executive leadership of the Company The majority of this amount was charge related to

indemnification and other provisions included in Gregg Lowes our current president and CEO employment

agreement along with other costs associated with his hiring We also recognized costs related to the successful

transition of duties of our former Chairman of the Board and CEO

2012 Strategic Realignment

Following the appointment of Gregg Lowe as president and CEO we completed strategic review with the

overall objective of identifying opportunities that would accelerate revenue growth and improve profitability and

have shifted our research and development investment and sales force to reflect our changing strategic focus We
recorded charge of $52 million to reorganization of business and other comprised of non-cash accelerated

amortization charge along with cash costs for employee termination benefits and other exit costs incurred in

connection with re-allocating research and development resources and re-aligning sales resources

The following table displays roll-forward from January 2012 to December 31 2012 of the employee

separation and exit cost accruals established related to the 2012 Strategic Realignment

Accruals at 2012 Accruals at

January Amounts December 31

in millions except headcount 2012 Charges Adjustments Used 2012

Employee Separation Costs

Supply chain

Selling general and administrative 14 11

Research and development 16 13

Total 38 $30

Related headcount 660 390 270

Exit and Other Costs $2

In 2012 we recorded $38 million in cash charges for severance costs of which $8 million were paid to

employees separated as part of the 2012 Strategic Realignment The accrual of $30 million at December 31 2012

reflects the estimated liability to be paid to employees separated during 2012 and the remaining 270 employees

to be separated through the end of 2013 based on current exchange rates Additionally during 2012 we recorded

$3 million in exit and other costs primarily related to additional compensation for employees who were deemed

crucial to the implementation of the 2012 Strategic Realignment plan During 2012 we paid $1 million of these

exit costs

Accelerated Amortization Charges

In connection with the re-allocation of research and development resources under the 2012 Strategic

Realignment we will no longer pursue certain products and technologies As result we have recorded charge

of $11 million to reorganization of business and other based on the reassessment of useful lives and related

acceleration of remaining amortization for certain of our purchased licenses which have no future benefit due to

being directly related to programs we have cancelled
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Senda4 Japan Fabrication Facility and Design Center

On March 11 2011 9.0-magnitude earthquake off the coast of Japan caused extensive infrastructure

equipment and inventory damage to our 150 millimeter fabrication facility and design center in Sendai Japan

The design center was vacant and being marketed for sale at the time of the earthquake The fabrication facility

was previously scheduled to close in the fourth quarter of 2011 The extensive earthquake damage to the facility

and the interruption of basic services coupled with numerous major aftershocks and the resulting environment

prohibited us from returning the facility to an operational level required for wafer production in reasonable time

frame As result the Sendai Japan fabrication facility ceased operations at the time of the earthquake and we

were unable to bring the facility back up to operational condition due to the extensive damage to our facilities

and equipment During 2012 we recorded $90 million benefit attributable to finalizing our business

interruption insurance recoveries which was partially offset by $9 million of expenses related to on-going closure

costs and costs associated with the dissolution of the Sendai Japan entity We also recorded benefit of $9

million related to proceeds received in connection of the sale of the Sendai Japan design center Additionally in

2012 the remaining $3 million of contract termination exit costs previously accrued in connection with the site

closure were paid

Reorganization of Business Program

We have executed series of restructuring initiatives under the Reorganization of Business Program that

streamlined our cost structure and re-directed some research and development investments into expected growth

markets The closure of our Toulouse France manufacturing facility occurred during the third quarter of 2012

The only remaining actions relating to the Reorganization of Business Program are the disposal or sale of the

land and buildings located in Sendai Japan and the decommissioning of the land and buildings at our Toulouse

France manufacturing facility along with payment of the remaining separation and exit costs

At each reporting date we evaluate our accruals for exit costs and employee separation costs which consist

primarily of separation benefits principally severance and relocation payments to ensure that our accruals are

still appropriate In certain circumstances accruals are no longer required because of efficiencies in carrying out

our plans or because employees previously identified for separation resign unexpectedly and do not receive

severance or are redeployed due to circumstances not foreseen when the original plans were initiated We reverse

accruals to earnings when it is determined they are no longer required

The following table displays roll-forward from January 2012 to December 31 2012 of the employee

separation and exit cost accruals established related to the Reorganization of Business Program

Accruals at Adjustments 2012 Accruals at

January Currency Amounts December 31

in millions except headcount 2012 Charges Impact Used 2012

Employee Separation Costs

Supply chain $106 30 77

Selling general and administrative

Research and development 14 12

Total $128 17 30 $81

Related headcount 720 200 520

Exit and Other Costs $6

The $30 million used reflects cash payments made to employees separated as part of the Reorganization of

Business Program in 2012 We have adjusted our anticipated future severance payments by $14 million to

incorporate the currency impact in the above presentation These adjustments reflect the strengthening of the

U.S dollar against the Euro partially offset by the weakening of the U.S dollar against the Japanese Yen since

the charges were originally recorded in 2009 Additionally we reversed $3 million related to the finalization of
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the closure of the Sendai Japan manufacturing facility The accrual of $81 million at December 31 2012 reflects

the estimated liability to be paid to the remaining 520 employees through 2014 based on current exchange rates

Additionally during 2012 we recorded and paid $2 million in exit costs related to the termination of various

supply agreements in connection with the closure of our Toulouse France manufacturing facility and

ii restructured lease agreement where we had previously recorded charges for vacant office space resulting in

an adjustment of $2 million and payments of $4 million during the year

Other Contingencies and Disposition Activities

During 2012 we recorded benefits totaling $16 million primarily related to the expiration of

indemnification obligations under contract previously executed outside the ordinary course of business and the

expiration of contractual obligations associated with the wind down of our cellular handset business

Additionally we incurred $18 million of on-going closure and decommissioning costs associated with the

closure our Toulouse France manufacturing facility and net $5 million contract termination charge related to

our corporate aircraft lease agreement

Year Ended December 31 2011

IPO-Related Costs

During 2011 and in connection with the IPO we recorded $71 million of cash costs primarily attributable to

the termination of management agreements with affiliates and advisors of the Sponsors

Sendai Japan Fabrication Facility and Design Center

During 2011 we reported $11 million in net charges associated with non-cash asset impairment and

inventory charges and cash costs for employee termination benefits contract termination and other on-going

closure costs which were partially offset by insurance received in connection with the March 2011 earthquake

that occurred off the cost of Japan

The following table displays roll-forward from January 2011 to December 31 2011 of the employee

termination benefits and exit cost accruals established related to the closing of our fabrication facility in Sendai

Japan

Accruals at 2011 Accruals at

January Amounts December 31

in millions except headcount 2011 Charges Adjustments Used 2011

Employee Separation Costs

Supply chain 12

Selling general and administrative

Research and development

Total $12

Related headcount 480 100 380

Exit and Other Costs $12 $3

We recorded $12 million in employee termination benefits associated with the closure of the Sendai Japan

fabrication facility in 2011 The $9 million used reflects cash payments made to employees separated as part of

this action in 2011 We reversed $3 million of employee termination benefits as result of 100 employees

previously identified as eligible for such benefits who either were temporarily redeployed due to circumstances

not foreseen when the original plan was approved or have forfeited these benefits in connection with establishing

other employment outside the Company In addition we also recorded $10 million of exit costs related to the

termination of various supply contracts During 2011 $7 million of these exit costs were paid
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Asset Impairment Charges Disposition Activities and Other Costs

As result of the significant structural and equipment damage to the Sendai Japan fabrication facility and

the Sendai Japan design center we recorded $49 million in non-cash asset impairment charges in 2011 We also

had raw materials and work-in-process inventory that were destroyed or damaged either during the earthquake or

afterwards due to power outages continuing aftershocks and other earthquake-related events As result we

recorded non-cash inventory net charge of $14 million directly attributable to the impact of the earthquake in

2011 We also recorded benefit of $10 million in connection with the sale of certain tools and equipment

previously impaired and $2 million benefit related to the settlement of the majority of our Sendai Japan

subsidiarys pension plan liability In addition we incurred $36 million of on-going closure costs due to

inactivity subsequent to the March 11 2011 earthquake

Insurance Recoveries

During 2011 we recorded $95 million benefit for insurance recoveries based on an agreement with our

insurance carriers regarding the impact of the property and inventory damage to our Sendai Japan facilities and

related business interruption losses as result of the March 11 2011 earthquake

Reorganization of Business Program

The following table displays roll-forward from January 2011 to December 31 2011 of the employee

separation and exit cost accruals established related to the Reorganization of Business Program

Accruals at 2011 Accruals at

January Amounts December 31
in millions except headcount 2011 Charges Adjustments Used 2011

Employee Separation Costs

Supply chain 157 51 $106

Selling general and administrative 12

Research and development 16 14

Total 185 57 $128

Related headcount 1420 700 720

Exit and Other Costs 15 $6

The $57 million used reflects cash payments made to employees separated as part of the Reorganization of

Business Program in 2011 Severance accruals for employees at our Sendai Japan facility related to the original

Reorganization of Business Program are reflected in the table above refer to the prior section Sendai Japan

Fabrication Facility and Design Center for other charges associated with this facility in 2011 as result of the

earthquake in Japan In addition in connection with our Reorganization of Business Program we recorded

$2 million of exit costs associated with the sale and leaseback of our facility in Tempe Arizona that were not

eligible for deferral This amount was offset by $3 million benefit related to exit costs associated primarily with

underutilized office space previously vacated and subsequently sublet in connection with our Reorganization of

Business Program During 2011 $8 million of these exit costs were paid

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Of the $711 million of cash and cash equivalents at December 31 2012 $148 million is attributable to our

U.S subsidiaries and $563 million is attributable to our foreign subsidiaries The repatriation of the funds of

these foreign subsidiaries could be subject to delay and potential tax consequences principally with respect to

withholding taxes paid in foreign jurisdictions
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Operating Activities

We generated cash flow from operations of $350 million $99 million and $394 million in 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively The improvement in cash flow from operations in 2012 is attributable to proceeds from the

sale and license of intellectual property some of which has not yet been recognized as revenue ii proceeds

from the Sendai Japan earthquake-related business interruption insurance recoveries iiilower payments for

incentive compensation iv lower interest expense costs attributable to our 2012 debt redemption and

refinancing transactions and costs associated with the completion of our IPO in the second quarter
of 2011

These items are partially offset by payments associated with the closure of our Sendai Japan and Toulouse

France fabrication facilities including the cost of inventory builds to support end-of-life products produced at

these facilities

The decrease in cash generated from operations in 2011 as compared to 2010 is attributable to costs

associated with the closure of our Sendai Japan and Toulouse France facilities including inventory builds to

support end-of-life products produced at these facilities ii expenses
associated with the completion of our IPO

in the second quarter of 2011 and iiihigher interest expense costs attributable to our 2010 debt refinancing

activities This decrease in cash flows from operations was partially offset by $52 million in business interruption

and inventory insurance recoveries received in 2011 in connection with earthquake damage to our Sendai Japan

wafer fabrication facility

Our days purchases outstanding excluding the impact of purchase accounting on cost of sales in 2011 and

2010 decreased to 50 days at December 31 2012 from 55 days at December 31 2011 and 57 days at

December 31 2010 reflecting the timing of payments on our payables Our days sales outstanding decreased to

36 days at December 31 2012 from 41 days at December 31 2011 primarily reflecting lower receivables and

fluctuations in the timing of collections of such receivables Our days sales outstanding remained relatively flat at

35 days at December 31 2010 Our days of inventory on hand excluding the impact of purchase accounting on

inventory and cost of sales in 2011 and 2010 decreased to 122 days at December 31 2012 from 126 days at

December 31 2011 The decrease in days of inventory on hand from the prior year
is due to drain of build-ahead

inventory in connection with the Toulouse France and Sendai Japan manufacturing facilities closures Our days

of inventory on hand at December 31 2011 increased from 97 days at December 31 2010 as result of the

challenging macroeconomic environment and inventory builds associated with the closure of our 150 millimeter

manufacturing facilities

Investing Activities

Our net cash utilized for investing activities was $176 million $89 million and $320 million in 2012 2011

and 2010 respectively Our investing activities are driven primarily by capital expenditures which were

$123 million $135 million and $281 million for 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively and represented 3% of net

sales for both 2012 and 2011 and 6% of net sales for 2010 and ii payments for purchased licenses and other

assets which were $73 million $62 million and $96 million for 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively The increase

in the cash utilized for investing activities from 2011 to 2012 was predominantly the result of the benefit in the

prior year
from the receipt of $57 million in cash for the sale of our Tempe Arizona facility of which we are

now leasing portion along with proceeds from property and casualty insurance recoveries In addition to the

benefit in 2011 from the Tempe transaction the decrease in cash utilized for investing activities from 2010 to

2011 was also impacted by $10 million in cash proceeds received for the sale of certain equipment from our

Sendai Japan manufacturing facility and $37 million in insurance proceeds received in connection with property

damage to our Sendai Japan facilities

Financing Activities

Our net cash utilized for financing activities was $232 million $290 million and $383 million in 2012 2011

and 2010 respectively Cash flows related to financing activities in 2012 included the repayment of

$500 million of the Senior Subordinated Notes in connection with the Ql 2012 Debt Refinancing Transaction

along with call premiums of $25 million ii the repayment of $200 million of 8.875% Unsecured Notes in
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connection the Q3 and Q4 2012 Debt Redemptions along with call premiums of $2 million and iii $7 million in

capital lease and scheduled principal payments These payments were partially offset by the receipt of

$481 million of proceeds from the issuance of the 2012 Term Loan net of related amendment consent and other

fees totaling $14 million Additionally cash provided by financing activities included $21 million of proceeds

from the exercise of stock options and the ESPP Refer to Note Share and Equity-Based Compensation for

further information on ESPP

Cash flows related to financing activities in 2011 included the receipt of approximately $838 million in net

cash proceeds upon completion of the IPO and the over-allotment exercise and $724 million in net cash proceeds

in connection with the issuance of the 8.05% Unsecured Notes These cash inflows were offset by the utilization

of $1853 million related to payments for principal and call premiums in connection with the IPO Debt

Redemption the Over-Allotment Debt Redemption and the Q3 2011 Debt Refinancing Transaction as well as

open-market repurchases of senior unsecured notes and scheduled capital lease payments

Cash flows related to financing activities in 2010 included the utilization of $297 million in cash for

open-market repurchases of senior unsecured notes and scheduled debt and capital lease payments and

ii $82 million in cash for costs incurred in connection with refinancing transactions In addition the

$2798 million of proceeds from the issuance of indebtedness were substantially offset by the prepayments of

portion of the Credit Facility and senior unsecured notes as part of the refinancing transactions

We have in the past refinanced Freescale Inc.s indebtedness by issuing new indebtedness and amending the

terms of Freescale Inc.s senior credit facilities as described in more detail below The refinancing activities

have not been as result of any default under those debt agreements Rather we have refinanced Freescale Inc.s

indebtedness to take advantage of market opportunities to improve our capital structure by extending the

maturities of the indebtedness reducing the total outstanding principal amount of our indebtedness by repaying

debt at discount and increasing flexibility under existing covenants for business planning purposes Although

Freescale Inc.s lenders have agreed to such amendments and participated in such refinancings in the past there

can be no assurance that its lenders would participate in any future refinancings or agree to any future

amendments In addition certain of Freescale Inc.s lenders may object to the validity of the terms of any such

amendment or refinancing For example in 2009 group of lenders under the Credit Facility filed complaint

against Freescale Inc challenging the debt exchange transaction under the Credit Facility The transaction was

completed but the litigation remained outstanding As part of the on-going litigation this group of lenders

sought to enjoin Freescale Inc from completing the Amend and Extend Arrangement AE Arrangement in

the first quarter of 2010 The AE Arrangement allowed Freescale Inc to issue new debt with extended

maturities and use the proceeds to prepay debt with maturities in the more immediate future Additionally it

allowed Freescale Inc to amend the Credit Facility to allow for additional future debt refinancing or extension

transactions Freescale Inc reached an agreement to settle the pending litigation and was able to complete the

AE Arrangement Freescale Inc may be subject to similar actions in connection with future refinancings or

amendments which may impact the terms and conditions or timing thereof preclude Freescale Inc from

completing any such transaction or subject Freescale Inc to significant additional costs In the event of decline

in our operating performance and an inability to access other resources including through such refinancings or

amendments we could face substantial liquidity problems and may be required to dispose of material assets or

operations to meet our debt service and other obligations

Fourth Quarter 2012 Debt Redemption

On November 23 2012 Freescale Inc delivered to the holders of its Senior Unsecured 8.875% Notes due

2014 8.875% Unsecured Notes notice that it would redeem $100 million aggregate principal amount of the

notes at par value plus accrued and unpaid interest up to but not including the redemption date These notes

became callable at par on December 15 2012 The redemption date was December 26 2012 on which Freescale

Inc utilized $100 million of cash on hand to redeem $100 million of 8.875% Unsecured Notes and pay accrued

interest of less than $1 million In connection with the redemption we recorded charge of $1 million in the

accompanying audited Consolidated Statement of Operations associated with the write-off of unamortized
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deferred financing costs Refer to Note Loss on Extinguishment or Modification of Long-Term Debt Net

for further information on the debt transactions discussed in this section

Third Quarter 2012 Debt Redemption

On August 13 2012 Freescale Inc delivered to the holders of its 8.875% Unsecured Notes notice that it

would redeem $100 million aggregate principal amount of the notes at the redemption price of 102.2 19% of the

outstanding aggregate principal amount being redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest up to but not

including the redemption date The redemption date was September 12 2012 on which Freescale Inc utilized

$104 million of cash on hand to redeem $100 million of 8.875% Unsecured Notes and pay related call premiums

of $2 million along with accrued interest of $2 million In connection with the redemption we recorded charge

of $3 million in the accompanying audited Consolidated Statement of Operations associated with the call

premiums and write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs

First Quarter 2012 Debt Refinancing Transaction

On February 28 2012 Freescale Inc received the requisite consents from its lenders to amend the senior

secured credit facility Credit Facility which among other things allowed for the issuance of new term loan

and eliminated the remaining incremental borrowing capacity previously available under the Credit Facility As

result on February 28 2012 Freescale Inc closed the transaction referred to as the Qi 2012 Debt Refinancing

Transaction and announced the amendment of the Credit Facility and the issuance of $500 million aggregate

principal amount of senior secured term loan due February 28 2019 2012 Term Loan The 2012 Term Loan

was issued with an original issue discount and was recorded at its fair value of $495 million on the accompanying

audited Consolidated Balance Sheet The net proceeds of this issuance along with approximately $59 million of

cash on hand were used on March 29 2012 to redeem $500 million of the senior subordinated 10.125% notes

due 2016 Senior Subordinated Notes and pay related call premiums of $25 million accrued interest of

$15 million and amendment consent and other fees totaling $14 million in the aggregate In connection with the

transaction we recorded charge of $28 million in the accompanying audited Consolidated Statement of

Operations associated with the call premiums write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs and other

expenses not eligible for capitalization

IPO and Over-Allotment Debt Redemptions

In the second quarter of 2011 Freescale Ltd contributed the net proceeds from the IPO to Freescale Inc to

prepay and redeem $887 million of outstanding debt in transaction referred to as the IPO Debt Redemption

On June 2011 we prepaid the $532 million remaining outstanding balance under the original revolving credit

facility and issued 30-day notices of redemption announcing our intent to redeem portions of the senior

unsecured 10.75% notes due 2020 10.75% Unsecured Notes and the senior unsecured 9.125%/9.875%

P1K-election notes due 2014 P1K-Election Notes Upon the expiration of this 30-day period on July 2011

we completed the IPO Debt Redemption by redeeming $262 million of the 10.75% Unsecured Notes and

$93 million of the P1K-Election Notes as well as paying related call premiums of $32 million and accrued

interest of $13 million with the initial IPO proceeds along with cash on hand

On June 2011 the underwriters of our IPO partially exercised their over-allotment option to purchase an

additional 5567000 common shares at $18.00 per share The over-allotment transaction closed on June 14

2011 at which time we issued 30-day notice of redemption announcing our intent to redeem portion of the

senior secured 10.125% notes due 2018 10.125% Secured Notes Subsequently upon the expiration
of this

30-day period on July 14 2011 we used $96 million of net proceeds received in the over-allotment transaction

along with cash on hand to redeem $87 million of the 10.125% Secured Notes and pay related call premiums of

$9 million and accrued interest of $3 million in transaction referred to as the Over-Allotment Debt

Redemption In connection with these transactions we recorded charge of $53 million in the accompanying

audited Consolidated Statement of Operations
associated with the call premiums write-off of unamortized

deferred financing costs and other expenses not eligible for capitalization
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Second Quarter Debt Issuance and Third Quarter 2011 Debt Refinancing Transactions

On June 10 2011 Freescale Inc issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 8.05% senior unsecured

notes due February 2020 8.05% Unsecured Notes with the intention to use the proceeds along with

existing cash to redeem the remaining outstanding balance of the P1K-Election Notes and portion of the

8.875% Unsecured Notes and to pay related call premiums and accrued interest in transaction referred to as

the Q2 2011 Debt Issuance On June 10 2011 Freescale Inc also issued 30-day notices of redemption

announcing their intent to redeem the aforementioned senior unsecured notes The Q2 2011 Debt Issuance was

completed in compliance with Credit Facility as well as the indentures governing the senior secured senior

unsecured and senior subordinated notes collectively the Senior Notes The 8.05% Unsecured Notes were

recorded at fair value which was equal to the gross cash proceeds received from the issuance Upon the

expiration of this 30-day period on July 11 2011 we used the net proceeds from the issuance of the

8.05% Unsecured Notes along with existing cash to redeem $162 million of P1K-Election Notes and

$588 million of the 8.875% Unsecured Notes and to pay related call premiums of $33 million and accrued

interest of $5 million in transaction referred to as the Q3 2011 Debt Refinancing Transactions In connection

with the transaction we recorded charge of $43 million in the accompanying audited Consolidated Statement of

Operations associated with the call premiums and write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs

Additionally the $750 million aggregate principal amount of 8.05% Unsecured Notes was separately accounted

for as an issuance of debt

First Quarter 2011 Amendment to the Credit Facility

On March 2011 and in connection with the IPO Freescale Inc entered into an amendment to the Credit

Facility to among other things allow for the replacement of its existing revolving credit facility thereunder with

new revolving credit facility the Replacement Revolver We received commitments of $425 million for the

Replacement Revolver which became available and the amendments became effective on June 2011 at

which time Freescale Inc had satisfied certain conditions The Replacement Revolvers available capacity is

reduced by outstanding letters of credit

Open-Market Bond Repurchases

During 2011 Freescale Inc repurchased $11 million of the 8.05% Unsecured Notes and $15 million of the

10.75% Unsecured Notes at $1 million loss During 2010 Freescale Inc repurchased $120 million of its

8.875% Unsecured Notes $78 million of its P1K-Election Notes and $15 million of its senior unsecured floating

rate notes due 2014 Floating Rate Notes at $15 million gain net

Credit Facility

At December 31 2012 Freescale Inc.s Credit Facility included the $2215 million extended maturity

term loan Extended Term Loan ii the 2012 Term Loan and iii the Replacement Revolver including

letters of credit and swing line loan sub-facilities with committed capacity of $425 million The interest rate on

the 2012 Term Loan and the Extended Term Loan at December 31 2012 was 6.0% and 4.46% respectively

The spread over LIBOR with respect to the 2012 Term Loan and the Extended Term Loan was 4.75% and

4.25% respectively As noted below the 2012 Term Loan has LIBOR floor of 1.25% The spread over LIBOR
with respect to the Replacement Revolver is 3.75% At December 31 2012 the Replacement Revolvers

available capacity was $408 million as reduced by $17 million of outstanding letters of credit

2012 Term Loan

At December 31 2012 $496 million was outstanding under the 2012 Term Loan which will mature on

February 28 2019 The 2012 Term Loan bears interest at Freescale Inc.s option at rate equal to margin

over either base rate equal to the higher of either the prime rate of Citibank N.A or the federal

funds rate plus one-half of 1% or ii LIBOR rate based on the cost of funds for deposit in the currency of

borrowing for the relevant interest period adjusted for certain additional costs The Second Amended and
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Restated Credit Agreement as of February 28 2012 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

provides that the spread over LIBOR with respect to the 2012 Term Loan is 4.75% with LIBOR floor of

1.25% Under the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement Freescale Inc is required to repay

portion of the 2012 Term Loan in quarterly installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 1% of the

initial $500 million outstanding balance There is an early maturity acceleration clause associated with the

2012 Term Loan such that principal amounts under the loan will become due and payable on December 15

2017 if at December 2017 Freescale Inc.s total leverage ratio is greater
than 41 at the

September 30 2017 test period and ii the aggregate principal amount of the 10.125% Secured Notes or the

senior secured 9.25% notes due 2018 9.25% Secured Notes exceeds $500 million individually or

collectively Additionally the 2012 Term Loan contains provision whereby Freescale Inc can call the loan

at 101% of the principal amount within twelve months from the date of issuance At December 31 2012 the

2012 Term Loan was recorded on the accompanying audited Consolidated Balance Sheet at $5 million

discount which is subject to accretion to par value over the term of the loan using the effective interest

method

The obligations under the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement are unconditionally guaranteed

by the same parties and in the same manner as under the credit agreement that was in effect prior to the 2012

Debt Refinancing Transaction as further discussed below In addition the Second Amended and Restated Credit

Agreement contains the same prepayment provisions as the previous credit agreement except as indicated above

Senior Notes

Freescale Inc had an aggregate principal amount of $3674 million in Senior Notes outstanding at

December 31 2012 consisting of $663 million of 10.125% Secured Notes ii $1380 million of

9.25% Secured Notes iii $57 million of Floating Rate Notes iv $98 million of 8.875% Unsecured Notes

$473 million of 10.75% Unsecured Notes vi $739 million of 8.05% Unsecured Notes and vii $264 million

of Senior Subordinated Notes With regard to our fixed rates notes interest is payable semi-annually in arrears as

follows every March 15th and September 15th commencing on September 15 2010 for the 10.125% Secured

Notes ii every April 15th and October 15th commencing on October 15 2010 for the 9.25% Secured Notes

iiievery February 1st and August 1st commencing February 2011 for the 10.75% Unsecured Notes iv every

February 1st and August 1St commencing on February 2012 for the 8.05% Unsecured Notes and every

June 15th and December 15th commencing on June 15 2007 for the 8.875% Unsecured Notes and the

Subordinated Notes The Floating Rate Notes bear interest at rate reset quarterly equal to three-month LIBOR

which was 0.31% on December 31 2012 plus 3.875% per annum which is payable quarterly in arrears on

every March 15t June 15th September 15th and December 15th commencing March 15 2007

Guarantees and Right of Payment

The obligations under the Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by certain of the Parent Companies

and subject to certain exceptions each of our material domestic wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiaries as

defined in the Credit Facility agreement As of December31 2012 Freescale Inc had no material domestic

wholly owned Restricted Subsidiaries All obligations under the Credit Facility and the guarantees of those

obligations are secured by substantially all the following assets of Freescale Inc and each guarantor subject to

certain exceptions pledge of 100% of the capital stock of each of Holdings III Holdings IV and Holdings

pledge of 100% of the capital stock of Freescale Inc 100% of the capital stock of our subsidiary SigmaTel

Inc and 65% of the voting stock and 100% of the non-voting stock of each of our material wholly owned

foreign subsidiaries in each case that are directly owned by Freescale Inc or one of the guarantors and ii

security interest in and mortgages on substantially all tangible and intangible assets of each of Holdings IV

Holdings and Freescale Inc In addition in the event that Freescale Inc transfers foreign subsidiaries to or

forms new foreign subsidiaries under Holdings III or another foreign entity but not any entity directly or

indirectly owned by U.S entity or ii transfers assets to such foreign subsidiaries Freescale Inc will be

required to pledge 100% of the voting stock of those wholly owned foreign subsidiaries so transferred or formed

and such foreign subsidiaries would be required to guarantee our obligations under the senior secured credit
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agreement There are prepayment requirements under the Credit Facility in certain circumstances and subject to

certain exceptions These potential prepayment requirements include 50% of annual excess cash flow as

defined in the senior secured credit agreement subject to an incremental full step-down based upon attaining

certain leverage ratios ii 100% of net cash proceeds of all non-ordinary course assets sales or other dispositions

by Holdings III and its restricted subsidiaries if the net cash proceeds are not reinvested in the business and

iii 100% of the net proceeds of any issuance or incurrence of debt by Holdings III or any of its restricted

subsidiaries other than debt permitted under our Credit Facility The foregoing mandatory prepayments will be

applied to scheduled installments of the Extended Term Loan in direct order of maturity

The 10.125% Secured Notes are governed by the indenture dated as of February 19 2010 the 10.125%
Indenture and the 9.25% Secured Notes are governed by the indenture dated as of April 13 2010 the 9.25%
Indenture The Guarantors also guarantees jointly and severally the 10.125% Secured Notes and 9.25%

Secured Notes on senior secured basis Refer to Note 14 Supplemental Guarantor Condensed
Consolidating

Financial Statements for the definition of Guarantors The 8.05% Unsecured Notes are governed by the

Indenture dated as of June 10 2011 the 8.05% Indenture the 10.75% Unsecured Notes are governed by the

indenture dated as of September 30 2010 the 10.75% Indenture and the Floating Rate Notes the 8.875%

Unsecured Notes and the Senior Subordinated Notes are governed by two indentures dated as of December

2006 as supplemented and amended While the 8.05% Unsecured Notes the 10.75% Unsecured Notes the

Floating Rate Notes and the 8.875% Unsecured Notes are guaranteed jointly and severally on senior

unsecured basis by the Guarantors the Senior Subordinated Notes are guaranteed with guarantee that ranks

junior in right of payment to all of the other senior indebtedness of each Guarantor

Relative to our overall indebtedness the 10.125% Secured Notes and the 9.25% Secured Notes rank in right

of payment pari passu to our existing senior secured indebtedness ii senior to senior unsecured indebtedness

to the extent of the value of any underlying collateral but otherwise pan passu to such senior unsecured

indebtedness and iiisenior to all senior subordinated indebtedness The Floating Rate Notes the 8.875%

Unsecured Notes the 10.75% Unsecured Notes and the 8.05% Unsecured Notes rank in right of payment

junior to senior secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of any underlying collateral but otherwise
pan

passu to such senior secured indebtedness ii pan passu to our existing senior unsecured indebtedness and

iiisenior to all senior subordinated indebtedness The Senior Subordinated Notes are unsecured senior

subordinated obligations and rank junior in right of payment to all other of our senior secured and unsecured

indebtedness

Redemption

Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in
part the 10.125% Secured Notes at any time prior to March 15

2014 at redemption price equal to 100% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus
the applicable make-whole premium as defined in the 10.125% Indenture Freescale Inc may redeem in

whole or in part the 10.125% Secured Notes at any time after March 15 2014 at redemption price equal to

100% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus premium declining over time as set

forth in the 10.125% Indenture In addition at any time on or prior to March 15 2013 Freescale Inc may
redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the 10.125% Secured Notes with the proceeds of certain

equity offerings at redemption price equal to 110.125% of the aggregate principal amount plus accrued and

unpaid interest if any as described in the 10.125% Indenture If Freescale Inc experiences certain change of

control events holders of the 10.125% Secured Notes may require Freescale Inc to repurchase all or part of their

10.125% Secured Notes at 101% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest

Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in part the 9.25% Secured Notes at any time prior to April 15 2014

at redemption price equal to 100% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus the

applicable make-whole premium as defined in the 9.25% Indenture Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in

part the 9.25% Secured Notes at any time on or after April 15 2014 at redemption price equal to 100% of the

principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus premium declining over time as set forth in the

9.25% Indenture In addition until April 15 2013 Freescale Inc may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate
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principal amount of the 9.25% Secured Notes with the proceeds of certain equity offerings at redemption price

equal to 109.25% of the aggregate principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest if any as described in the

9.25% Indenture If Freescale Inc experiences certain change of control events holders of the 9.25% Secured

Notes may require Freescale Inc to repurchase all or part of their 9.25% Secured Notes at 101% of the principal

balance plus accrued and unpaid interest

Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in part the Floating Rate Notes at any time on or after

December 15 2008 and the 8.875% Unsecured Notes at any time on or after December 15 2010 In each case

the redemption price equals fixed percentage of the related notes principal balance ranging from 100% to

104.6% depending upon the series of notes redeemed and the redemption date plus accrued and unpaid interest

Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in part the 10.75% Unsecured Notes at any time prior to August

2015 at redemption price equal to 100% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus

the applicable make-whole premium as defined in the 10.75% Indenture Freescale Inc may redeem in whole

or in part the 10.75% Unsecured Notes at any time on or after August 2015 at redemption price equal to

100% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus premium declining over time as set

forth in the 10.75% Indenture In addition at any time on or prior to August 2013 Freescale Inc may redeem

up to 35% of the aggregate principal balance of 10.75% Unsecured Notes with the proceeds of certain equity

offerings at redemption price equal to 110.75% of the aggregate principal amount plus accrued and unpaid

interest if any as described in the 10.75% Indenture If Freescale Inc experiences certain change of control

events holders of the 10.75% Unsecured Notes may require Freescale Inc to repurchase all or part of their

10.75% Unsecured Notes at 101% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest

Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in part the 8.05% Unsecured Notes at any time prior to June 2015

at redemption price equal to 100% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus the

applicable make-whole premium as defined in the 8.05% Indenture Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in

part the 8.05% Unsecured Notes at any time on or after June 2015 at redemption price equal to 100% of the

principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus premium declining over time as set forth in the

8.05% Indenture In addition at any time on or prior to June 2014 Freescale Inc may redeem up to 35% of the

aggregate principal balance of 8.05% Unsecured Notes with the proceeds of certain equity offerings at

redemption price equal to 108.05% of the aggregate principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest as

described in the 8.05% Indenture If Freescale Inc experiences certain change of control events holders of the

8.05% Unsecured Notes may require Freescale Inc to repurchase all or part of their 8.05% Unsecured Notes at

101% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest

Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in part the Senior Subordinated Notes at any time on or after

December 15 2011 The redemption price is at fixed percentage of the notes principal balance ranging from

100% to 105.1% depending upon the redemption date plus accrued and unpaid interest as described in the

indenture governing these notes

Covenant Compliance

Freescale Inc.s Credit Facility and indentures governing the senior notes the Indentures contain

restrictive covenants that limit the ability of our subsidiaries to among other things incur or guarantee additional

indebtedness or issue preferred shares pay dividends and make other restricted payments impose limitations on

the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other distributions create or incur certain liens

make certain investments transfer or sell assets engage in transactions with affiliates and merge or consolidate

with other companies or transfer all or substantially all of our assets Under the Credit Facility Freescale Inc

must comply with conditions precedent that must be satisfied prior to any borrowing

As of December 31 2012 Freescale Inc was in compliance with the covenants under the Credit Facility

and the Indentures but did not meet the ratios thereunder the total leverage ratio of 6.51 the senior secured first

lien leverage ratio of 3.501 the fixed charge coverage
ratio of 2.01 or the consolidated secured debt ratio of
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3.251 As of December 31 2012 Freescale Inc.s total leverage ratio was 6.811 senior secured first lien

leverage ratio was 4.821 the fixed charge coverage ratio was 1.791 and the consolidated secured debt ratio was

5.671 Accordingly we are currently restricted from making restricted payments and incurring liens on assets

securing indebtedness except as otherwise permitted by the Credit Facility and the Indentures The fact that we

do not meet these ratios does not result in any default under the Credit Facility or the Indentures

Hedging Transactions

Freescale Inc has entered into interest rate swap agreements and has previously used interest rate cap

agreements with various counterparties as hedge of the variable cash flows of our variable interest rate debt

Refer to Note Fair Value Measurement and Note Risk Management for further details of these interest

rate swap and cap agreements

Debt Service

We are required to make debt service principal payments under the terms of our debt agreements As of

December 31 2012 future obligated debt service principal payments are $5 million in 2013 $160 million in

2014 $5 million in 2015 $2484 million in 2016 $5 million in 2017 and $3726 million thereafter

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated in accordance with the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

and the indentures governing Freescale Inc.s senior notes Adjusted EBITDA is net loss earnings adjusted for

certain non-cash and other items that are included in net loss earnings Freescale Inc is not subject to any

maintenance covenants under its existing debt agreements and is therefore not required to maintain any minimum

specified level of Adjusted EBITDA or maintain any ratio based on Adjusted EBITDA or otherwise However

our ability to engage in specified activities is tied to ratios under Freescale Inc.s debt agreements based on

Adjusted EBITDA in each case subject to certain exceptions Our subsidiaries are unable to incur any

indebtedness under the indentures and specified indebtedness under the Credit Facility pay dividends make

certain investments prepay junior debt and make other restricted payments in each case not otherwise permitted

by our debt agreements unless after giving effect to the proposed activity the fixed charge coverage ratio as

defined in the applicable indenture would be at least 21 and the senior secured first lien leverage ratio as

defined in the Credit Facility would be no greater than 3.51 Also our subsidiaries may not incur certain

indebtedness in connection with acquisitions unless prior to and after giving effect to the proposed transaction

the total leverage ratio as defined in the Credit Facility is no greater than 6.51 except as otherwise permitted

by the Credit Facility In addition except as otherwise permitted by the applicable debt agreement we may not

designate any subsidiary as unrestricted or engage in certain mergers unless after giving effect to the proposed

transaction the fixed charge coverage
ratio would be at least 21 or equal to or greater than it was prior to the

proposed transaction and the senior secured first lien leverage ratio would be no greater than 3.51 We are also

unable to have liens on assets securing indebtedness without also securing the notes unless the consolidated

secured debt ratio as defined in the applicable indenture would be no greater than 3.251 after giving effect to

the proposed lien except as otherwise permitted by the indentures Accordingly we believe it is useful to provide

the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA to investors for purposes of determining our ability to engage in these

activities Freescale Inc was in compliance with the covenants under the Credit Facility and the Indentures but

did not meet the ratios thereunder the total leverage ratio of 6.51 the senior secured first lien leverage ratio of

3.501 the fixed charge coverage ratio of 2.01 or the consolidated secured debt ratio of 3.251 As of

December 31 2012 Freescale Inc.s total leverage ratio was 6.811 senior secured first lien leverage ratio was

4.821 the fixed charge coverage ratio was 1.791 and the consolidated secured debt ratio was 5.671

Accordingly we are currently restricted from making restricted payments and incurring liens on assets securing

indebtedness except as otherwise permitted by the Credit Facility and the Indentures The fact that we do not

meet these ratios does not result in any default under the Credit Facility or the indentures
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Adjusted EBITDA is non-U.S GAAP measure Adjusted EBITDA does not represent and should not be

considered an alternative to net loss earnings operating loss earnings or cash flow from operations as those

terms are defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America U.S GAAP and

does not necessarily indicate whether cash flows will be sufficient to fund cash needs Although Adjusted

EBITDA and similarmeasures are frequently used as measures of operations and the ability to meet debt service

requirements by other companies our calculation of Adjusted EBITDA is not necessarily comparable to such

other similarly titled captions of other companies The calculation of Adjusted EBITDA in the indentures and the

Credit Facility allows us to add back certain charges that are deducted in calculating net loss earnings

However some of these expenses may recur vary greatly and are difficult to predict Further our debt

instruments require that Adjusted EBITDA be calculated for the most recent four fiscal quarters We do not

present Adjusted EBITDA on quarterly basis In addition the measure can be disproportionately affected by

quarterly fluctuations in our operating results and it may not be comparable to the measure for any subsequent

four-quarter period or any complete fiscal year

The following is reconciliation of net loss earnings which is U.S GAAP measure of our operating

results to Adjusted EBITDA as calculated pursuant to Freescale Inc.s debt agreements for the most recent four

fiscal quarter period as required by such agreements

Year Ended

December 31
in millions 2012

Net loss $102
Interest expense net 510

Income tax expense

Depreciation and amortization 257

Non-cash share-based employee compensation 43

Fair value adjustment on interest rate and commodity derivatives 17

Loss on extinguishment or modification of long-term debt net 32

Reorganization of business and other 15
Cost savings 78

Other terms 17

Adjusted EBITDA 839

Reflects non-cash share-based compensation expense under the provisions of ASC Topic 718 CompensationStock

Compensation

Reflects the change in fair value of our interest rate and commodity derivatives which were not designated as cash flow hedges

under the provisions of ASC Topic 815 Derivatives and Hedging

Reflects losses on extinguishments and modification of our long-term debt

Reflects items related to our reorganization of business programs and other charges

Reflects cost savings that we expect to achieve from initiatives commenced prior to December 31 2009 under our reorganization of

business programs that are in process or have already been completed

Reflects adjustments required by our debt instruments including business optimization expenses relocation expenses and other

items
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Con tractual Obligations

We own most of our major facilities but we do lease certain office factory and warehouse space and land

as well as data processing and other equipment primarily under non-cancelable operating leases

Summarized in the table below are our obligations and commitments to make future payments in connection

with our debt minimum lease payment obligations net of minimum sublease income software service supply

and other contracts and product purchase conmiitments as of December 31 2012

Payments Due by Period

in millions 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter Total

Debt obligations including short-term debt $160 $2484 $3726 $6385

Capital lease obligations

Operating leases 34 26 18 15 14 115

Software licenses 36 22 67

Service and other obligations
45 40 26 15 10 136

Foundry commitments 55 55

Purchase commitments 21 21

Total cash contractual obligations $197 $248 $57 $2515 $29 $3734 $6780

Reflects the principal payments on the Credit Facility
and the notes These amounts exclude estimated cash interest payments of

approximately $476 million in 2013 $476 million in 2014 $465 million in 2015 $455 million in 2016 $334 million in 2017 and

$433 million thereafter based on currently applicable interest rates in the case of variable interest rate debt

Excludes interest of less than $1 million on capital lease obligations of $1 million at December 31 2012

Sublease income on operating leases is approximately $3 million in 2013 and less than $1 million in 2014 Currently there is no

sublease income scheduled beyond 2014

Foundry commitments associated with our strategic manufacturing relationships are based on volume commitments for work in

progress and forecasted demand based on 18-month rolling forecasts which are adjusted monthly

As of December31 2012 we had reserves of $173 million recorded for uncertain tax positions including interest and penalties We

are not including this amount in our long-term contractual obligations table presented because of the difficulty
in making reasonably

reliable estimates of the timing of cash settlements if any with the respective taxing authorities

Future Financing Activities

Our primary future cash needs on recurring basis will be for debt service obligations capital expenditures

and working capital In addition we expect to spend approximately $110 million through the end of 2013 and

approximately $10 million thereafter in connection with the 2012 Strategic Realignment and the closure of the

Toulouse France manufacturing facility however the timing of these payments depends on many factors

including the timing of redeployment of existing resources and compliance with local employment laws and

actual amounts paid may vary based on currency fluctuation We believe that our cash and cash equivalents

balance as of December 31 2012 of $711 million and cash flows from operations will be sufficient to fund our

debt service obligations working capital needs capital expenditures severance and facility closure costs and

other business requirements for at least the next 12 months In addition our ability to borrow under the

Replacement Revolver was $408 million as of December 31 2012 as reduced by $17 million of outstanding

letters of credit

If our cash flows from operations are less than we expect or we require funds to consummate acquisitions of

other businesses assets products or technologies we may need to incur additional debt sell or monetize certain

existing assets or utilize our cash and cash equivalents In the event additional funding is required there can be

no assurance that future funding will be available on terms favorable to us or at all Furthermore our debt

agreements contain restrictive covenants that limit our ability to among other things incur additional debt and
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sell assets We are highly leveraged and this could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to fund

our operations limit our ability to react to changes in the economy or our industry expose us to interest rate risk

to the extent of our variable rate debt and prevent us from meeting our obligations under one or more of our debt

agreements Increases in interest rates could also adversely affect our financial condition In the absence of

sufficient operating results and resources to service our debt or as the result of the inability to complete

appropriate refinancings and amendments of our debt we could face substantial liquidity problems and may be

required to seek the disposal of material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations If we

cannot make scheduled payments on our indebtedness we will be in default under one or more of our debt

agreements and as result we would need to take other action to satisfy our obligations or be forced into

bankruptcy or liquidation

As market conditions warrant or as repurchase obligations under the agreements governing our Credit

Facility and notes may require we and our major equity holders may from time to time repurchase or redeem

debt securities issued by Freescale Inc through redemptions under the terms of the indentures in privately

negotiated or open-market transactions by tender offer or otherwise or issue new debt in order to refinance or

prepay amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility or the existing senior notes or for other permitted purposes

On February 2013 Freescale Inc was advised by the lead arranger under its proposed new senior secured

term loan facility that sufficient orders have been received by the arrangers to allocate and close the proposed

new term loan facility The proposed new term loan facility provides for two term loan tranches in an aggregate

principal amount of approximately $2.74 billion consisting of $350 million term loan that will mature in

December 2016 and $2.39 billion term loan that will mature in March 2020 The maturity of the 2020 term loan

may be accelerated to December 2017 under specified circumstances

The proceeds anticipated from the proposed new term loan facilities are intended to be used to refinance

Freescales outstanding term loans under the Credit Facility and to pay portion of the related fees and expenses

Freescale expects to use cash on hand to pay any remaining fees and expenses The refinancing is expected to

among other things reduce principal amount of indebtedness currently due in 2016 ii extend to 2020 the

maturities of our indebtedness currently due in 2019 and portion of our indebtedness currently due in 2016 and

iii increase our cash interest
expense by approximately $6 million annually based on current interest rates The

proposed new term loan facilities will be effected as an amendment to or an amendment and restatement of the

Credit Facility subject to customary conditions

These transactions are currently scheduled to close on March 2013 subject to customary closing

conditions at which time we expect the 2016 loan will be issued at par and the 2020 loan will be issued with an

original issue discount of $24 million subject to accretion to par value over the term of the facility There can be

no assurance that Freescale Inc will be successful in obtaining the proposed new term loan facility on the terms

discussed above on reasonably acceptable terms or at all

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We use customary off-balance sheet arrangements such as operating leases and letters of credit to finance

our business None of these arrangements has or is likely to have material effect on our results of operations

financial condition or liquidity

Significant Accounting Policies and Critical Estimates

The preparation of our financial statements in accordance with U.S GAAP requires management to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of net sales

and expenses during the reporting period

69



Our management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience current economic and industry

conditions and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances This forms the

basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from

other sources Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions Our

management believes the following accounting policies to be those most important to the portrayal
of our

financial condition and those that require the most subjective judgment

valuation of long-lived assets

restructuring activities

accounting for income taxes

inventory valuation methodology

product sales and intellectual property revenue recognition and valuation and

share-based compensation

If actual results differ significantly from managements estimates and projections there could be material

negative impact on our financial statements

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

The net book values of these tangible and intangible long-lived assets at December 31 2012 and 2011 were

as follows

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31

in millions 2012 2011

Property plant and equipment $715 $772

Intangible assets 64 84

Total net book value $779 $856

We assess the impairment of investments and long-lived assets which include our goodwill identifiable

intangible assets and property plant and equipment PPE whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable During 2012 we recorded an $11 million accelerated

amortization charge associated with certain of our intangible assets to reorganization of business and other

Refer to Note Other Financial Data and Note 10 Reorganization of Business and Other in our

accompanying audited consolidated financial statements for further discussion As of December 31 2012 and

2011 no indications of impairment existed

Identifiable Intangible Assets

We determine the fair value of our intangible assets in accordance with ASC Topic 820 Fair Value

Measurements and Disclosures Our impairment evaluation of identifiable intangible assets and PPE includes

an analysis of estimated future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets over their

remaining estimated useful lives If the estimated future undiscounted net cash flows are insufficient to recover

the carrying value of the assets over the remaining estimated useful lives we record an impairment loss in the

amount by which the carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value We determine fair value based on either

market quotes if available or discounted cash flows using discount rate commensurate with the risk inherent in

our current business model for the specific asset being valued Examples of discounted cash flow methodologies

utilized are the excess earnings method for purchased licenses and the royalty savings method for trademarks

tradenames
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When applying either the excess earnings method or the royalty savings method the cash flows expected to

be generated by the intangible asset are discounted to their present value equivalent using an appropriate

weighted average cost of capital WACC for the respective asset being valued The WACC is calculated by

weighting the required returns on interest-bearing debt and common equity capital in proportion to their

estimated percentages in the Companys expected capital structure The WACC is adjusted to reflect the relative

risk associated with the cash flows of the asset being valued

The valuations of our purchased licenses are based on the excess earnings method which incorporates our

long-term net sales projections as key assumption The net sales attributable to purchased licenses is

determined by adjusting our long-term net sales projections for the percentage of our total net sales allocated to

purchased licenses in consideration of the estimated life of the underlying technologies As technology in-process

at the time the intangible asset was established and future technology begin to generate net sales sales from

purchased licenses are projected to decline The net sales described above are reduced by production and

operating costs The resulting cash flows are tax-effected using an assumed market participant rate We then

adjust the cash flows for various contributory asset charges working capital fixed assets technology royalty

trademark/tradename and assembled workforce The resulting cash flows are discounted and result in the

estimated fair value of the respective intangible asset We also incorporate an estimate of the future tax savings

from amortization in the estimated fair value of purchased licenses

We use the royalty savings method to value the trademark/tradename intangible asset Our net sales

projection over the expected remaining useful life of the trademarks/tradenames is key assumption We apply

royalty rate to the projected net sales The royalty rate is based on product profitability industry and markets

served trademark/tradename protection factors and perceived licensing value The resulting royalty savings are

reduced by income taxes resulting from the annual royalty savings at market participant corporate income tax

rate to arrive at the after-tax royalty savings associated with owning the trademarks/tradenames We also

incorporate an estimate of the calculated future tax savings from the amortization of the trademarks/tradenames

as an acquired intangible asset Finally the present value of the estimated annual after-tax royalty savings for

each year in the projection period and the present value of tax savings due to amortization are combined to

estimate the fair value of the trademarks/tradenames

The primary assumptions in each of these calculations are net sales and cost projections and the WACC
utilized to discount the resulting cash flows Our assumptions concerning net sales are impacted by global and

local economic conditions in the various markets we serve Our cost projections include production research and

development and selling general and administrative costs to generate the net sales associated with the asset being

valued These cost projections are based upon historical and projected levels of each cost category based on our

overall projections for the Company During 2012 we recorded an $11 million non-cash accelerated amortization

charge based on the reassessment of useful lives and related acceleration of remaining amortization for certain of

our purchased licenses which have no future benefit due to being directly related to programs we have cancelled

in connection with the 2012 Strategic Realignment Refer to Note Other Financial Data and Note 10

Reorganization of Business and Other in our accompanying audited consolidated financial statements for

further discussion As of December 31 2012 and 2011 we determined that no other indicators of impairment

existed with regard to our intangible assets

PPE

Our impairment evaluation of PPE includes an analysis of estimated future undiscounted net cash flows

expected to be generated by the assets over their remaining estimated useful lives If the estimated future

undiscounted net cash flows are insufficient to recover the carrying value of the assets over the remaining

estimated useful lives we record an impairment loss in the amount by which the carrying value of the assets

exceeds the fair value We determine fair value based on either market quotes if available or discounted cash

flows using discount rate commensurate with the risk inherent in our current business model for the specific

asset being valued Major factors that influence our cash flow analysis are our estimates for future net sales and
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expenses
associated with the use of the asset Different estimates could have significant impact on the results of

our evaluation If as result of our analysis we determine that our PPE has been impaired we will recognize

an impairment loss in the period in which the impairment is determined Any such impairment charge could be

significant and could have material negative effect on our results of operations During 2011 and 2010 we

recorded various non-cash asset impairment charges for PPE of $49 million and $6 million respectively in

reorganization of business and other The 2011 impairment was the result of the significant structural and

equipment damage to the Sendai Japan fabrication facility and the Sendai Japan design center from the March

2011 earthquake which occurred off the coast of Japan near this site As of December 31 2012 and 2011 we

determined that no other indicators of impairment existed with regard to our PPE Refer to Note Asset

Impairment Charges and Note 10 Reorganization of Business and Other to our accompanying audited

consolidated financial statements for further discussion

Restructuring Activities

We periodically implement plans to reduce our workforce close facilities discontinue product lines refocus

our business strategies and consolidate manufacturing research and design center and administrative operations

We initiate these plans in an effort to improve our operational effectiveness reduce costs or simplify our product

portfolio Exit costs primarily consist of facility closure costs Employee separation costs consist primarily of

severance payments to terminated employees At each reporting date we evaluate our accruals for exit costs and

employee separation costs to ensure that the accruals are still appropriate In certain circumstances accruals are

no longer required because of efficiencies in carrying out the plans or because employees previously identified

for separation resigned from our company unexpectedly and did not receive severance or were redeployed due to

circumstances not foreseen when the original plans were initiated We reverse accruals to earnings when it is

determined they are no longer required

Following the appointment of Gregg Lowe as president and CEO of Freescale we completed detailed

review of our strategic direction with the overall objective of identifying opportunities that would accelerate

revenue growth and improve profitability We recorded cash and non-cash charges of $52 million in connection

with re-allocating research and development resources and re-aligning sales resources Refer to Note Other

Financial Data and Note 10 Reorganization of Business and Other for more information on the transactions

described in this section

In 2008 we began executing series of restructuring actions that are referred to as the Reorganization of

Business Program which streamlined our cost structure and redirected some research and development

investments into expected growth markets We announced in the second quarter of 2009 our plans to exit our

remaining 150 millimeter manufacturing facilities in Sendai Japan and Toulouse France as the industry has

experienced migration from 150 millimeter technologies and products to more advanced technologies and

products The Sendai Japan facility ceased operations in the first quarter of 2011 due to extensive damage

following the March 11 2011 earthquake off the coast of Japan The Toulouse France manufacturing facility

ceased operations in the third quarter of 2012 following the scheduled end of production at the site As of

December 31 2012 the remaining actions to be completed are the disposal of the land and building located in

Sendai Japan and the decommissioning of the land and building located in Toulouse France along with payment

of the remaining separation and exit costs Our severance and exit costs associated with the Reorganization of

Business Program in 2012 2011 and 2010 were not significant or approximated reversals of prior accruals

Accounting for Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the differences between the financial statement

carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets liabilities and net operating loss and credit carryforwards The

recognition of deferred tax assets is reduced by valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that the tax

benefits will not be realized We regularly review our deferred tax assets for recoverability and establish

valuation allowance based on historical income and losses projected future income the expected timing of the

reversals of existing temporary differences and the implementation of tax-planning strategies
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Valuation allowances of $1089 million have been recorded on substantially all our U.S deferred tax assets as

of December 31 2012 as we have incurred cumulative losses in the United States We have not recognized tax

benefits for these losses as we are precluded from considering the impact of future forecasted income pursuant to

the provisions of ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes ASC Topic 740 in assessing whether it is more likely than

not that all or portion of our deferred tax assets may be recoverable The Company computes cumulative losses for

these purposes by adjusting pre-tax results excluding the cumulative effects of accounting method changes and

including discontinued operations and other non-recurring items such as restructuring or impairment charges for

permanent items In certain foreign jurisdictions we record valuation allowances to reduce our net deferred tax

assets to the amount we believe is more likely than not to be realized after considering all positive and negative

factors as to the recoverability of these assets At December 31 2012 valuation allowances of $67 million have also

been recorded on certain deferred tax assets in foreign jurisdictions

We have reserves for taxes associated interest and other related costs that may become payable in future

years as result of audits by tax authorities Although we believe that the positions taken on previously filed tax

returns are fully supported we nevertheless have established reserves recognizing that various taxing authorities

may challenge certain positions which may not be fully sustained The tax reserves are reviewed quarterly and

adjusted as events occur that affect our potential liability for additional taxes such as lapsing of applicable

statutes of limitations proposed assessments by tax authorities resolution of tax audits negotiations between tax

authorities of different countries concerning our transfer prices identification of new issues and issuance of new

regulations or new case law The amounts ultimately paid upon resolution of audits could be different from the

amounts previously included in our income tax expense and therefore could have an impact on our tax provision

net income and cash flows In the event that actual results differ from these estimates or we adjust these estimates

in future periods we may need to record additional income tax expense benefit or adjust valuation allowances

We consider many factors when evaluating and estimating our tax positions and tax benefits which may

require periodic adjustments and which may not accurately anticipate actual outcomes The first step is to

evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is

more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit including resolution of related appeals or

litigation processes if any The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount which is more

than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement Whether the more-likely-than-not recognition

threshold is met for tax position is matter of judgment based on the individual facts and circumstances of that

position evaluated in light of all available evidence As of December 31 2012 we had reserves of $173 million

for taxes associated interest and other related costs that may become payable in future years as result of audits

by tax authorities

Inventory Valuation Methodology

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value We write down our inventory for

estimated obsolescence or unmarketable inventory in an amount equal to the difference between the cost of

inventory and the estimated market value based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions If

actual market conditions are less favorable than those we project additional inventory write-downs may be

required Inventory impairment charges establish new cost basis for inventory In estimating obsolescence we

utilize our backlog information for the next 13 weeks as well as projecting future demand

We balance the need to maintain strategic inventory levels to ensure competitive delivery performance to our

customers with the risk of inventory obsolescence due to rapidly changing technology and customer requirements

We also consider pending cancellation of product lines due to technology changes long life cycle products lifetime

buys at the end of supplier production runs business exits and shift of production to outsourcing

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 we recorded $58 million and $73 million respectively in reserves for

inventory deemed obsolete or in excess of forecasted demand The change in our reserves for inventory from

2011 to 2012 was due primarily to the scrapping of obsolete inventory and the subsequent sale of inventory for
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which reserves were previously recorded If actual future demand or market conditions are less favorable than

those projected by our management additional inventory write-downs may be required

Product Sales and Intellectual Property Revenue Recognition and Valuation

We generally market our products to wide variety of end users and network of distributors Our policy is

to record revenue for product sales when title transfers the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred

to the customer the fee is fixed and determinable and collection of the related receivable is reasonably assured

which is generally at the time of shipment We record reductions to sales associated with reserves for allowances

for collectability discounts price protection product returns and distributor incentive programs at the time the

related sale is recognized The establishment of such reserves is dependent on variety of factors including

contractual terms analysis of historical data current economic conditions industry demand and prevailing and

the forecasted pricing environments The process of evaluating these factors is highly subjective and requires

significant estimates including but not limited to forecasted demand returns industry pricing assumptions

distributor resales and inventory levels In future periods additional provisions may be necessary due to

deterioration in the semiconductor pricing environment ii reductions in anticipated demand for semiconductor

products and/or iiilack of market acceptance for new products If these factors result in significant adjustment

to our reserves they could significantly impact our future operating results

Distributor reserves estimate the impact of credits granted to distributors under certain programs common in

the semiconductor industry whereby distributors receive certain price adjustments to meet individual competitive

opportunities or are allowed to return or scrap limited amount of product in accordance with contractual terms

agreed upon with the distributor or receive price protection credits when our standard published prices are

lowered from the price the distributor paid for product still in its inventory We continually monitor the actual

claimed allowances against our estimates and we adjust our estimates as appropriate to reflect trends in pricing

environments and distributor resales and inventory levels Distributor reserves are also adjusted when recent

historical data do not represent anticipated future activity In 2012 2011 and 2010 23% of our revenue was

generated from sales of our products to distributors

In revenue arrangements that include multiple deliverables judgment is required to properly identify the

accounting units of such multiple deliverable transactions and to determine the manner in which revenue should

be allocated among those accounting units Net sales from contracts with multiple deliverables are recognized as

each deliverable is earned based on the relative fair value of each deliverable when there are no undelivered

items that are essential to the functionality of the delivered items and when the amount is not contingent upon

delivery of the undelivered items More specifically the deliverables under each arrangement are analyzed to

determine whether they are separate units of accounting and if so the total arrangement consideration is

allocated based on each deliverables relative selling price using vendor-specific objective evidence VSOE
third-party evidence TPE or estimated selling prices ESP When we are unable to establish selling price

using VSOE or TPE we use ESP in our allocation of arrangement consideration The objective of ESP is to

determine the price at which we would transact sale if the product or service was sold on standalone basis

The ESP is determined by considering multiple factors including but not limited to our pricing practices gross

margin objectives internal costs and industry specific information Changes in any number of these factors may
have substantial impact on the selling price as assigned to each deliverable These inputs and assumptions

represent managements best estimates at the time of the transaction Applicable receivables are discounted in

accordance with U.S GAAP

We recognize revenue from the licensing of our intellectual property when persuasive evidence of an

arrangement exists delivery has occurred the sales price is fixed or determinable and collection of resulting

receivables is reasonably assured Revenue from upfront payments for the licensing of our patents is recognized

when the arrangement is mutually signed if there is no future delivery or future performance obligation and all

other criteria are met When patent licensing arrangements include royalties for future sales of the licensees

products using our licensed patented technology revenue is recognized based on royalty reports received from
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the licensee provided that all other criteria have been met Revenue from licensing our intellectual property

approximated 5% 3% and 2% of net sales in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

We entered into several intellectual property revenue arrangements during 2012 that contained multiple

deliverables Certain of these arrangements may limit our ability to sell or license some of our intellectual

property to other parties through the second quarter of 2013 and may reduce our intellectual property revenues

that are not associated with these agreements The total consideration to be received under these agreements is

$287 million of which $194 million was received in 2012 The remaining cash will be received over the next

seven years with $65 million anticipated to be received within the next twelve months We expect to continue

our efforts to monetize the value of our intellectual property in the future These licensing agreements can also be

linked with other contractual agreements and could represent multiple element arrangements under ASC Topic

605 Revenue Recognition or contain future performance provisions pursuant to SEC Staff Accounting

Bulletin 104 Revenue Recognition The process of determining the appropriate revenue recognition in such

transactions is highly complex and requires significant judgments and estimates

Share-Based Compensation

We account for awards granted under our share-based employee compensation plans using the fair-value

recognition provisions of ASC Topic 718 Compensation-Stock Compensation ASC Topic 718 These

plans are more fully described in Note Employee Benefits and Incentive Plans in the accompanying audited

Consolidated Financial Statements and under the caption Equity Compensation Plan Information in our 2013

Proxy Statement

Prior to our 2011 IPO

We estimated fair values for non-qualified stock options granted prior to the IPO under the 2006

Management Incentive Plan and the 2007 Employee Incentive Plan during the applicable periods using the

Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the weighted-average assumptions as indicated below

Quarter Ended Year Ended

April December 31
2011 2010

Weighted average grant date fair value per share $7.43 $4.08

Weighted average assumptions used

Expected volatility
70.0% 77.0%

Expected lives in years 6.25 6.25

Risk free interest rate 1.8% 2.6%

Expected dividend yield

In accordance with ASC Topic 718 the computation of the expected volatility assumptions used in the

Black-Scholes calculations for grants was based on historical volatilities and implied volatilities of our peer

group companies We utilized the volatilities of
peer group companies due to our lack of extensive history as

public company and the fact our current equity is not publicly traded The peer group companies operate in the

semiconductor industry and are of similarsize When establishing the expected life assumptions we used the

simplified method prescribed in ASC Topic 718 for companies that do not have adequate historical data The

risk-free interest rate is measured as the prevailing yield for U.S Treasury security with maturity similar to

the expected life assumption

Prior to the completion of our IPO given the absence of an active market for our common shares and the

lack of any third-party transaction involving the common shares during the applicable periods we estimated the

fair value of our common shares for purposes
of determining share-based compensation expense for the periods

presented primarily based on the valuation analyses described below and an analysis of other relevant factors

including

the level of operational risk and uncertainty surrounding forecasted cash flows
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our financial position historical operating results and expected growth in operations

historical and forecasted EBIT and EBITDA measures and

the lack of liquidity for the options and restricted stock units of our formerly private company

The valuation analyses were prepared using the market-comparable approach and the income approach to

estimate our aggregate enterprise fair value To determine the estimated fair value of our equity we reduced the

resulting estimated enterprise fair value by the fair value of our outstanding debt We prepared

contemporaneous valuation using the approach indicated above on an annual basis We also monitored our

valuations for indicators of potential changes in our estimated enterprise fair value and the estimated fair value of

our equity on quarterly basis

The market-comparable approach indicates the fair value of business based on comparison of the subject

company to comparable firms in similar lines of business that are publicly traded or which are part of public or

private transaction as well as prior subject company transactions Each comparable company was selected based

on various factors including but not limited to industry similarity financial risk company size adequate

financial data and actively traded stock price

The income approach is valuation technique that provides an estimate of the fair value of business based

on the cash flows that business can be expected to generate over its remaining life This approach begins with

an estimation of the annual cash flows for each of the next ten years which is then converted to present value

equivalent using rate of return appropriate for the risk of achieving the business projected cash flows The

present value of the estimated cash flows is then added to the present value equivalent of the residual value of the

business at the end of the discrete ten year projection period to arrive at an estimate of the fair value of the

business enterprise

We prepared financial forecast for each valuation to be used in the computation of the enterprise value for

both the market-comparable approach and the income approach The financial forecasts take into account past

experience and future expectations There is inherent uncertainty in these estimates

We also consider the fact that our shareholders were restricted from transferring their common shares

subject to limited exceptions The estimated fair value of our common shares at each valuation date reflected

non-marketability discount partially based on the anticipated likelihood and timing of future liquidity event In

the determination of fair value of the common shares the non-marketability discount was 8% at the end of 2010

The discount was reduced in December 2010 based on the expectation of potential liquidity event within the

next 12 months The resulting estimated fair value of common shares was

Three Months Year Ended

Ended April December 31
2011 2010

Weighted average grant date fair value per share $12.69 $6.40

The differences between the initial public offering price of $18.00 per share and the weighted average grant

date fair value per share utilized in the first quarter of 2011 and that used in 2010 was due primarily to the

continuing improvement in the market based valuations of our peer group and the continuing improvements in

our operating results and was impacted by changes in the fair value of our outstanding debt during such periods

The indicators of improvements in market based valuations were demonstrated by the increase in the

Philadelphia Semiconductor Index of approximately 26% as of April 21 2011 compared to 8% compared to

December 31 2010 increases in the stock prices of our peer group ranging from 4% to 75% as of April 21 2011

compared to December 31 2010 and peer group company initial public offering completed in the second half

of 2010 that experienced an increase in its stock price of 139% and 60% as of April 21 2011 compared to its

initial public offering price and December 31 2010 respectively In addition the differences between the initial

public offering price of $18.00 per share and the weighted average grant date fair value per share utilized in the

first quarter of 2011 and that used in 2010 was also impacted by the use of proceeds from our IPO and related
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over-allotment option We utilized the net proceeds together with cash on hand to reduce our outstanding debt

by approximately 13% which reduced our annual interest expense by approximately 10% compared to 2010

Both of these factors had significant impact on our equity value which we were not able to take into

consideration in our accounting for share-based compensation until the completion of our IPO and the related

over-allotment option and the application of the net proceeds as intended In addition we continued to experience

improvements in our financial operating performance which ultimately impact our forecasts as demonstrated by

our net sales increasing 17% and our gross margin increasing 31% in the first quarter of 2011 as compared to the

corresponding period in the prior year We also experienced improvements in net sales of approximately 24% an

increase in adjusted operating earnings of 200% and an increase in adjusted EBITDA of 51% in the fourth

quarter of 2010 versus the corresponding period in the prior year

There was inherent uncertainty in the forecasts and projections that were used in our common share

valuations If we had made different assumptions and estimates the amount of our share-based compensation

expense and net loss could have been different and such differences could have been material We performed

sensitivity analysis of the impact of an increase in the estimated fair value of our common shares on our share-

based compensation expense under ASC Topic 718 for grants made in the first quarter of 2011 and during 2010

We granted 0.3 million options and 27 thousand restricted stock units during the first quarter of 2011 and

0.5 million options and 58 thousand stock units during 2010 The impact of $1 increase in the estimated fair

value of our common shares from the respective estimated fair value of $12.69 per share for grants made during

the first quarter of 2011 and $6.40 per share for grants made during 2010 would have resulted in an increase in

share-based compensation expense of approximately $360000 and $750000 for the years ended December 31

2011 and 2010 respectively Using our IPO offering price of $18.00 per share for the sensitivity analysis our

share-based compensation expense would have increased by less than $1 million and $2 million for the years

ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Using the initial public offering price of $18.00 per share the aggregate intrinsic value of our vested

outstanding stock options as of April 2011 approximated $30 million and the aggregate intrinsic value of our

unvested outstanding stock options as of April 2011 approximated $91 million

We believe that we used reasonable methodologies approaches and assumptions consistent with the

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Guide Valuation of Privately-Held-Company

Equity Securities Issued as Compensation to determine the fair value of our common shares

Following the completion of our IPO on June 2011 for purposes of determining share-based compensation

expense we base the Black-Scholes weighted average grant date fair value of our common share-based awards on

the closing market price of our common shares at the respective grant date of each award Refer to Note to our

accompanying audited Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the valuation of these awards

under the 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan

Subsequent to our 2011 IPO

We estimated fair values for non-qualified stock options granted subsequent to the IPO under the 2011

Omnibus Plan using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the weighted-average assumptions as indicated

below

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Weighted average grant date fair value per
share $6.93 $7.82

Weighted average assumptions used

Expected volatility 63.0% 80.0%

Expected lives in years 5.00 4.75

Risk free interest rate 0.92% 0.89%

Expected dividend yield
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Due to our continued lack of extensive history as public company we have continued to compute our

volatility assumption based on historical volatilities and implied volatilities of our peer group companies as

noted above When establishing the expected life assumption we used the simplified method prescribed in

ASC Topic 718 for companies that do not have adequate historical data The risk-free interest rate is measured as

the prevailing yield for U.S Treasury security with maturity similar to the expected life assumption

Recent Accounting Pronouncements and Legislation Changes

On January 2013 President Obama signed into law the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 the ATR
Act which included an extension of the federal research and development credit retroactively to 2012 and

prospectively through 2013 The effects of the ATR Act are recognized in 2013 The renewal of this credit is not

anticipated to change the Companys effective tax rate because the Company has incurred cumulative domestic

losses and has recorded valuation allowances against substantially all its domestic deferred tax assets

The SEC adopted the conflict mineral rules under Section 1502 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and

Consumer Protection Act on August 22 2012 The rules require public companies to disclose information about

their use of specific minerals originating from and financing armed groups in the Democratic Republic of the

Congo or adjoining countries The conflict mineral rules cover minerals frequently used to manufacture wide

array of electronic and industrial products including semiconductor devices The rules do not ban the use of

minerals from conflict sources but require public disclosure beginning with calendar year 2013 We have

determined that we are subject to the rules and are evaluating our supply chain and continue to develop processes

to assess the impacts and comply with the regulation

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign Currency Risk

As multinational company our transactions are denominated in variety of currencies We have foreign

exchange hedging process to manage currency risks resulting from transactions in currencies other than the

functional
currency

of our subsidiaries We use financial instruments to hedge and therefore attempt to reduce

our overall exposure to the effects of
currency

fluctuations on cash flows Our policy prohibits us from

speculating in financial instruments for profit on exchange rate price fluctuations from trading in currencies for

which there are no underlying exposures and from entering into trades for any currency to intentionally increase

the underlying exposure

significant variation of the value of the U.S dollar against currencies other than the U.S dollar could

result in favorable impact on our net earnings loss in the case of an appreciation of the U.S dollar or

negative impact on our net earnings loss if the U.S dollar depreciates relative to these currencies Currency

exchange rate fluctuations affect our results of operations because our reporting currency is the U.S dollar in

which we receive the majority of our net sales while we incur significant portion of our costs in currencies

other than the U.S dollar Certain significant costs incurred by us such as manufacturing labor costs research

and development and selling general and administrative
expenses are incurred in the currencies of the countries

in which our operations are located

In order to reduce the exposure of our financial results to fluctuations in exchange rates our principal

strategy has been to naturally hedge the foreign currency-denominated liabilities on our balance sheet against

corresponding foreign currency-denominated assets such that any changes in liabilities due to fluctuations in

exchange rates are inversely and entirely offset by changes in their corresponding foreign currency assets In

order to further reduce our exposure to U.S dollar exchange rate fluctuations we have entered into foreign

currency hedge agreements related to the
currency

and the amount of expenses we expect to incur in countries in

which our operations are located No assurance can be given that our hedging transactions will prevent us from

incurring higher foreign currency-denominated manufacturing costs when translated into our U.S dollar-based

accounts in the event of weakening of the U.S dollar on the non-hedged portion of our costs and expenses

Refer to Note Risk Management to the accompanying audited Consolidated Financial Statements for further

discussion
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At December 31 2012 we had outstanding foreign exchange contracts not designated as accounting hedges

with notional amounts totaling $217 million These forward contracts have original maturities of less than three

months The fair value of these forward contracts was net unrealized loss of less than $1 million at

December 31 2012 Forward contract losses of $2 million for 2012 were recorded in other net in the

accompanying audited Consolidated Statements of Operations related to our realized and unrealized results

associated with these foreign exchange contracts Management believes that these financial instruments should

not subject us to undue risk due to foreign exchange movements because gains and losses on these contracts

should offset losses and gains on the assets liabilities and future transactions being hedged The following table

shows in millions of U.S dollars the notional amounts of the most significant foreign exchange hedge positions

not designated as accounting hedges as of December 31 2012

December 31

Buy Sell
2012

Euro $104

Japanese Yen 28

Malaysian Ringgit
26

Chinese Renminbi 23

Israeli Shekel

Taiwan Dollar 12

Foreign exchange financial instruments that are subject to the effects of currency fluctuations which may

affect reported earnings include financial instruments and other financial instruments which are not denominated in

the functional currency of the legal entity holding the instrument Derivative financial instruments consist primarily

of forward contracts Other financial instruments which are not denominated in the functional currency
of the legal

entity holding the instrument consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents notes and accounts payable and

receivable The fair value of the foreign exchange financial instruments would hypothetically decrease by $42

million as of December 31 2012 if the U.S dollar were to appreciate against all other currencies by 10% of current

levels This hypothetical amount is suggestive of the effect on future cash flows under the following conditions

all current payables and receivables that are hedged were not realized ii all hedged commitments and

anticipated transactions were not realized or canceled and iiihedges of these amounts were not canceled or offset

We do not expect that any of these conditions will be realized We expect that gains and losses on the derivative

financial instruments should offset losses and gains on the assets liabilities and future transactions being hedged If

the hedged instruments were included in the sensitivity analysis the hypothetical change in fair value would be

immaterial The foreign exchange financial instruments are held for purposes
other than trading

Instruments used as cash flow hedges must be effective at reducing the risk associated with the exposure

being hedged and must be designated as cash flow hedge at the inception of the contract Accordingly changes

in the fair values of such hedge instruments must be highly correlated with changes in the fair values of

underlying hedged items both at inception of the hedge and over the life of the hedge contract At December 31

2012 we had Malaysian Ringgit and Chinese Renminbi forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges with

notional amounts of $68 million and $77 million respectively and fair values of net unrealized gain of $1

million and $1 million respectively These forward contracts have original maturities of less than 18 months

Gains of $3 million for 2012 were recorded in cost of sales in the accompanying audited Consolidated Statement

of Operations related to our realized results associated with the Malaysian Ringgit cash flow hedges No realized

results have been recorded in the accompanying audited Consolidated Statements of Operations related to our

Chinese Renminbi cash flow hedges as they hedge cost of sales selling general and administrative and research

and development expenses
forecasted to occur 2013 Additionally losses of $2 million for 2012 were recorded in

research and development expense associated with Israeli Shekel hedges that settled during the year

Commodity Price Risk

In addition to our foreign exchange financial instruments at December 31 2012 we had outstanding gold

swap contracts designated as cash flow hedges with notional amounts totaling 17000 ounces All of these

outstanding gold swap contracts had original maturities of 15 months or less The fair value of these gold swap
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contracts was net unrealized loss of less than $1 million at December 31 2012 10% increase in the price of

gold would increase our cost of sales by $10 million annually absent our outstanding gold swap contracts

10% change in the price of gold would have $3 million impact on the fair value of our gold swap contracts

net loss of less than $1 million was recorded in other expense net in the accompanying audited Consolidated

Statements of Operations related to ineffectiveness on our realized results attributable to these hedges In

addition net realized loss of $3 million was recorded in cost of sales related to our realized results attributable

to these gold swap contracts Management believes that these financial instruments will not subject us to undue

risk due to fluctuations in the price of gold bullion because gains and losses on these swap contracts should offset

losses and gains on the forecasted gold wire
expense being hedged

Interest Rate Risk

Our financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable accounts payable accrued

liabilities notes payable long-term debt and other financing commitments

At December 31 2012 we had interest bearing cash and cash equivalents of $711 million 100 basis point

change in LIBOR rates would have $7 million impact on our interest income

At December 31 2012 we had total debt of $6385 million including $2768 million of variable interest

rate debt based on either 1-month or 3-month LIBOR of which $496 million is subject to LIBOR floor As of

December 31 2012 we have effectively fixed our interest rate on $100 million of our variable rate debt from

December 2012 through December 2015 $200 million of our variable rate debt from December 2012

through December 2016 and an additional $500 million of our variable rate debt from December 2013

through December 2016 with the use of interest rate swap agreements The fair value of the interest rate swap

agreements excluding accrued interest at December 31 2012 was $17 million obligation We had $200

million of variable rate debt hedged based on fixed interest payments at an average rate of 3.76% using interest

rate swaps that concluded in December 2012 As our interest rate swap agreements are not designated as cash

flow hedges the change in fair value each reporting period is reflected within other net on the audited

Consolidated Statements of Operations During the year ended December 31 2012 we recognized losses of $17

million associated with these agreements Our remaining variable interest rate debt is subject to interest rate risk

because our interest payments will fluctuate as the underlying interest rates change from market changes 100

basis point change in LIBOR rates would result in change in our interest expense of $23 million per year
absent the benefit from any hedging agreement

The fair value of our long-term debt approximated $6562 million at December 31 2012 which was

determined based upon quoted market prices Since considerable judgment is required in interpreting market

information the fair value of the long-term debt is not necessarily indicative of the amount which could be

realized in current market exchange 100 basis point change in interest rates would have $87 million impact

on the fair value of our long-term debt and $27 million impact on the fair value of our interest rate swap

agreements The impact of the change in fair value of our interest rate swap agreements would be reflected

within other net on the Statement of Operations as these instruments are not designated as cash flow hedges The

fair values of the other financial instruments were not materially different from their carrying or contract values

at December 31 2012

Counterpartv Risk

Outstanding financial derivative instruments expose us to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the

counterparties to the agreements We also enter into master netting arrangements with counterparties when

possible to mitigate credit risk in derivative transactions master netting arrangement may allow counterparties

to net settle amounts owed to each other as result of multiple separate derivative transactions The credit

exposure related to these financial instruments is represented by the fair value of contracts with positive fair

value at the reporting date On periodic basis we review the credit ratings of our counterparties and adjust our

exposure as deemed appropriate As of December 31 2012 we believe that our exposure to counterparty risk is

immaterial
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Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders

Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

and subsidiaries the Company as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of

operations comprehensive loss shareholders deficit and cash flows for each of the years
in the three-year period

ended December 31 2012 These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys

management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our

audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test

basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes

assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our

opinion

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects

the financial position of Freescale Semiconductor Ltd and subsidiaries as of December 31 2012 and 2011 and

the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended

December 31 2012 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Freescale Semicondcutor Ltd.s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2012 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO and our report dated February 2013

expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting

Is KPMG LLP

Austin Texas

February 82013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders

Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

We have audited Freescale Semiconductor Ltd the Company internal control over financial reporting

as of December 31 2012 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO Freescale Semiconductor Ltd.s

management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that

material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control

based on the assessed risk Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary

in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Freescale Semiconductor Ltd maintained in all material
respects effective internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2012 based on criteria established in Internal Controlintegrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States the consolidated balance sheets of Freescale Semiconductor Ltd and subsidiaries as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of operations comprehensive loss

shareholders deficit and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31 2012 and

our report dated February 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements

Is KPMG LLP

Austin Texas

February 2013
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Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31 December 31 December 31

in millions except per share amounts 2012 2011 2010

Net sales $3945 $4572 4458

Cost of sales 2304 2677 2768

Gross margin 1641 1895 1690

Selling general and administrative 438 510 502

Research and development 742 797 782

Amortization expense for acquired intangible assets 13 232 467

Reorganization of businesses and other 15 82

Operating earnings loss 463 274 61
Loss on extinguishment or modification of long-term debt net 32 97 417
Other expense net 531 559 600

Loss before income taxes 100 382 1078
Income tax expense benefit 28 25

Net loss 102 410 $1053

Net loss per share1

Basic $0.41 $1.82 5.35

Diluted $0.41 $1.82 5.35

Weighted average common share outstandingW

Basic 248 226 197

Diluted 251 227 197

Year ended December 31 2010 adjusted for the impact of the 1-for-S 16 reverse stock split as discussed in

Note

See accompanying notes

83



Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
in millions 2012 2011 2010

Net loss $102 $410 $l053

Other comprehensive loss net of tax

Foreign currency translation adjustments

Derivative instrument adjustments

Unrealized gains losses arising during the period

Less reclassification adjustment for items included in net loss

Post-retirement adjustments

Net loss earnings arising during the period 18 16

Other comprehensive loss 11 16

Comprehensive loss $1 13 $412 $l069

See accompanying notes
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Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31 December 31

in millions
2012 2011

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
711 772

Accounts receivable net 384 459

Inventory net 797 803

Other current assets 166 198

Total current assets 2058 2232

Property plant and equipment net 715 772

Intangible assets net
64 84

Other assets net 334 327

Total assets 3171 3415

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS DEFICIT

Notes payable and current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations

Accounts payable
323 347

Accrued liabilities and other 543 451

Total current liabilities 872 800

Long-term debt 6375 6589

Other liabilities 455 506

Total liabilities 7702 7895

Stockholders deficit

Preference shares par
value $0.01 per share 100 shares authorized no shares

issued or outstanding at December 31 2012 or 2011

Common shares par value $0.01 per share 900 shares authorized 249 and 246

issued and outstanding at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Additional paid-in capital 8217 8155

Accumulated other comprehensive earnings
14 25

Accumulated deficit 12764 12662

Total stockholders deficit 4531 4480

Total liabilities and stockholders deficit 3171 3415

See accompanying notes
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Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Deficit

Year ended December 31 2010 adjusted for the impact of the -for-5 16 reverse stock split and change in par value as discussed in Note

Common Shares

Accumulated
Additional Other

Common Paid-in Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Earnings

196 $7260 43

16

in millions

Balances at January 2010

Net loss

Net foreign currency translation adjustments net of tax effect

Net derivative instrument adjustments net of tax effect

Post-retirement obligation adjustment net of tax effect

Amortization of deferred compensation

Balances at December 31 2010

Net loss

Net foreign currency translation adjustments net of tax effect

Net derivative instrument adjustments net of tax effect

Post-retirement obligation adjustment net of tax effect

Amortization of deferred compensation

Proceeds from initial public offering

Proceeds from share-based compensation awards

Balances at December 31 2011

Net loss

Net derivative instrument adjustments net of tax effect

Post-retirement obligation adjustment net of tax effect

Amortization of deferred compensation

Proceeds from share-based compensation awards

Proceeds from ESPP

Balances at December 31 2012

29

196 $7289 $27

Total

Stockholders

Deficit

$3894

1053

16
29

$4934

410

27

838

$4480

102

18

49

246

Accumulated

Deficit

$1 1199

1053

12252

410

$12662

102

$12764

$2

27

838

$8155 25

18
39

249

14

$8217

39

14

14

$4531

See accompanying notes



Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
in millions 2012 2011 2010

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss $102 410 $1053

Depreciation and amortization 275 724 1041

Reorganization of businesses and other 15 82

Share-based compensation 43 27 28

Deferred income taxes 25 13 47
Loss on extinguishment or modification of debt net 32 97 417

Proceeds from business interruption and inventory insurance

recoveries 96 52

Deferred intellectual property revenue 86

Other non-cash items 45 34

Change in operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable net 83 24 96
Inventory net 17 66 67
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 145 383 157

Other operating assets and liabilities 49 16 20

Net cash provided by operating activities 350 99 394

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property plant and equipment 123 135 281
Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment and

assets held for sale 19 68 22

Sales and purchases of short-term and other investments net 35

Payments for purchased licenses and other assets 73 62 96
Proceeds from property and casualty insurance recoveries 37

Net cash used for investing activities 176 89 320

Cash flows from financing activities

Retirement of and payments for long-term debt and capital

lease obligations 734 1853 3181
Debt issuance proceeds net of debt issuance costs 481 724 2798

Proceeds from IPO of common shares and over-allotment

exercise net of offering costs 838

Proceeds from stock option exercises and ESPP 21

Other

Net cash used for financing activities 232 290 383

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 11
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents 61 271 320
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 772 1043 1363

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 711 772 1043

See accompanying notes
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Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Dollars in millions except as noted

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation Freescale Semiconductor Inc Freescale Inc
was incorporated in Delaware in 2003 In the second quarter of 2004 Motorola Inc Motorola transferred

substantially all of its semiconductor businesses assets and liabilities to Freescale Inc the Contribution in

anticipation of an initial public offering IPO of Freescale Inc Class common stock the IPO was completed

on July 21 2004 Prior to the IPO Freescale Inc was wholly owned subsidiary of Motorola All of the

Freescale Inc Class shares of common stock were held by Motorola until Motorola distributed its remaining

ownership interest in Freescale Inc by means of special dividend to its common stockholders the

Distribution on December 2004 the Distribution Date

On December 2006 Freescale Inc was acquired by consortium of private equity funds the Merger
The consortium includes The Blackstone Group The Carlyle Group funds advised by Permira Advisers LLC
TPG Capital and others collectively the Sponsors Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Freescale Inc

continues as wholly owned indirect subsidiary of Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Freescale Ltd. At the close

of the Merger Freescale Inc became subsidiary of Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Inc Holdings

which is wholly owned by Freescale Semiconductor Holdings IV Ltd Holdings IV which is wholly owned

by Freescale Semiconductor Holdings III Ltd Holdings III which is wholly owned by Freescale

Semiconductor Holdings II Ltd Holdings II which is wholly owned by Freescale Ltd All five of these

companies were formed for the purposes of facilitating the Merger and are collectively referred to as the Parent

Companies Freescale Holdings L.P Cayman Islands limited partnership Freescale LP an entity

controlled by the Sponsors owns the majority of the outstanding shares of Freescale Ltd as of December 31

2012 The reporting entity subsequent to the Merger is Freescale Ltd Freescale Ltd refers to the operations of

Freescale Ltd and its subsidiaries and may be referred to as the Company Freescale we us or our as

the context requires

On April 25 2012 Freescale shareholders approved the change of the Companys name from Freescale

Semiconductor Holdings Ltd to Freescale Semiconductor Ltd The Companys name was changed because

the words Holdings are not meaningful to the business or marketing purposes
of the Company and the

elimination of these words from the name of the Company will decrease confusion among investors and the

public

Our consolidated financial statements include all majority-owned subsidiaries and assets and liabilities of

the Company Investments in which the Company exercises significant influence but which it does not control

are accounted for under the equity method of accounting Investments in which the Company does not exercise

significant influence are recorded at cost All material intercompany transactions between and among the

Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated

In connection with the Merger Freescale Inc incurred significant indebtedness In addition the purchase

price paid in connection with the Merger was allocated to state the acquired assets and assumed liabilities at fair

value The purchase accounting adjustments increased the carrying value of our inventory and property plant

and equipment ii established intangible assets for our trademarks tradenames customer relationships

developed technology purchased licenses and in-process research and development IPRD which was

expensed in the financial statements after the consummation of the Merger and iiirevalued our long-term

benefit plan obligations among other things Subsequent to the Merger interest expense and non-cash

depreciation and amortization charges increased significantly During 2008 however we incurred substantial

non-cash impairment charges against the intangible assets established at the time of the Merger This event

served to reduce the post-Merger increase in our non-cash amortization charges although they are still above

pre-Merger levels As of December 31 2011 the majority of these adjustments were fully amortized
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During 2011 we completed an IPO with an over-allotment option in which we sold total of 49067000 of

our common shares at public offering price of $18.00 per share The net proceeds of the IPO totaled

approximately $838 million after deducting the incremental costs directly attributable to the transaction

including underwriters discounts and offering expenses We utilized the net proceeds along with cash on hand

to repay or redeem an aggregate of approximately $974 million in outstanding indebtedness ii to pay

approximately $68 million to affiliates and advisors of our Sponsors in connection with the termination of our

management agreements and iiito pay approximately $11 million in fees and expenses in connection with the

amendment of our Credit Facility including the establishment of the Replacement Revolver Refer to Note

Debt for further discussion of the repayment redemption and amendment transactions referenced in this

section and refer to Note 10 Reorganization of Business and Other and Note 11 Certain Relationships and

Related Party Transactions for further discussion of the payment to affiliates and advisors of our Sponsors

We consider events or transactions that occur after the bi1ance sheet date but before the financial statements

are issued to provide additional evidence relative to certain estimates or to identify matters that require additional

disclosure

Risks and Uncertainties Our business is significantly impacted by demand for electronic content in

automobiles networking and wireless infrastructure equipment various industrial devices relating to factory

automation energy
conservation and medical equipment and consumer electronic devices We operate in an

industry that is cyclical and subject to constant and rapid technological change product obsolescence price

erosion evolving standards short product life-cycles and fluctuations in product supply and demand

We continue to focus our resources on our core automotive networking industrial and consumer products

Our future net sales and profitability will be affected by among other factors the general global economic

environment our ability to meet unscheduled or temporary increases in demand and our ability to meet product

development launch cycles in our targeted markets among other factors

Revenue Recognition We recognize revenue from product sales when title transfers the risks and rewards

of ownership have been transferred to the customer the fee is fixed or determinable and collection of the related

receivable is reasonably assured which is generally at the time of shipment Sales with destination point terms

which are related primarily to European customers where these terms are customary and certain customers to

whom Freescale ships product directly from Asia are recognized upon delivery Accruals are established with

the associated reduction to net sales at the time the related net sales are recognized for allowances for discounts

and product returns based on actual historical experience Revenue is reported net of sales taxes Revenue for

services is recognized ratably over the contract term or as services are performed

Net sales from contracts with multiple deliverables are recognized as each deliverable is earned based on the

relative fair value of each deliverable when there are no undelivered items that are essential to the functionality

of the delivered items and when the amount is not contingent upon delivery of the undelivered items More

specifically the deliverables under each arrangement are analyzed to determine whether they are separate units

of accounting and if so the total arrangement consideration is allocated based on each deliverables relative

selling price using vendor-specific objective evidence VSOE third-party evidence TPE or estimated

selling prices ESP When we are unable to establish selling price using VSOE or TPE we use ESP in our

allocation of arrangement consideration The objective of ESP is to determine the price at which we would

transact sale if the product or service was sold on standalone basis The ESP is determined by considering

multiple factors including but not limited to our pricing practices gross margin objectives internal costs and

industry specific information Changes in any number of these factors may have substantial impact on the

selling price as assigned to each deliverable These inputs and assumptions represent managements best

estimates at the time of the transaction Applicable receivables are discounted in accordance with U.S GAAP

Revenue related to licensing agreements is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists

delivery has occurred the sales price is fixed or determinable and collection of resulting receivables is

reasonably assured Revenue from upfront payments for the licensing of our patents is recognized when the
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arrangement is mutually signed if there is no future delivery or future performance obligation and all other

criteria are met When patent licensing arrangements include royalties for future sales of the licensees products

using our licensed patented technology revenue is recognized based on royalty reports received from the

licensee provided that all other criteria have been met As percentage of sales revenue related to licensing

agreements represented 5% 3% and 2% for the
years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Distributor Sales Revenue from sales to distributors of our products is recognized when title transfers the

risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer the fee is fixed or determinable and

collection of the related receivable is reasonably assured which is generally at the time of shipment In response

to competitive market conditions we offer incentive programs common to the semiconductor industry whereby

distributors receive certain price adjustments to meet individual competitive opportunities or are allowed to

return or scrap
limited amount of product in accordance with contractual terms agreed upon with the

distributor or receive price protection credits when our standard published prices are lowered from the price the

distributor paid for product still in its inventory Accruals for the estimated distributor incentives are established

at the time of the sale along with related reduction to net sales based on the terms of the various incentive

programs historical experience with such programs prevailing market conditions and current distributor

inventory levels We continually monitor the actual claimed allowances against our estimates and we adjust our

estimates as appropriate to reflect trends in pricing environments and distributor resales and inventory levels

Distributor reserves are also adjusted when recent historical data does not represent anticipated future activity As

percentage of sales revenue derived from distributors represented 23% for the years ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010

Product-Related Expenses Shipping and handling costs associated with product sales are included in cost

of sales Expenditures for advertising are expensed as incurred and are included in selling general and

administrative expenses Provisions for estimated costs related to product warranties are made at the time the

related sale is recorded based on historic trends and are included in cost of sales Research and development

costs are expensed as incurred

Share-Based Compensation Costs We have several share-based employee compensation plans which are

more fully described in Note Employee Benefit and Incentive Plans We account for awards granted under

those plans using the fair-value recognition provisions of ASC Topic 718 Compensation-Stock Compensation

ASC Topic 718 We estimate the fair value of non-qualified options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing

model with the weighted-average assumptions listed in Note

Foreign Currency Transactions The effects of remeasuring the non-functional currency assets or

liabilities into the functional currency as well as gains and losses on hedges of existing assets or liabilities are

marked-to-market and the result is included within other expense net in the accompanying audited Consolidated

Statements of Operations Gains and losses on financial instruments that hedge firm future commitments or cash

flows are deferred until such time as the underlying transactions are recognized or are recorded immediately

when it is probable the transaction will not occur Gains or losses on financial instruments that do not qualify as

hedges are recognized immediately as income or expense

The effects of translating the financial position and results of operations of local
currency

functional

operations for certain of our non-U.S subsidiaries into U.S dollars are included in separate component of

shareholders equity

Cash and Cash Equivalents We consider all highly liquid investments not considered short-term

investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents

Inventory Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value Cost is generally

computed on currently adjusted standard cost basis which approximates average costs on first-in first-out

basis Standard costs are based on the normal utilization of installed factory capacity Costs associated with
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underutilization of capacity are expensed as incurred We review inventory quarterly for salability and

obsolescence specific allowance is provided for inventory considered unlikely to be sold We write-off

inventory in the period in which disposal occurs

Property Plant and Equipment Property plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

amortization and depreciation Depreciation is recorded using the straight-line method based on the lesser of the

estimated useful or contractual lives of the assets buildings and building equipment 5-40 years machinery and

equipment 3-17 years and commences once the assets are ready for their intended use The useful lives of the

assets acquired by Freescale Ltd as part of the Merger were established in connection with the allocation of fair

values at December 2006 were largely fully depreciated as of December 31 2011

Assets Held for Sale When management determines that an asset is to be sold and that it is available for

immediate sale subject only to terms that are usual and customary the asset is no longer depreciated and is

reclassified to assets held for sale Assets held for sale are reported in other current assets at the lower of the

carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell

Intangible Assets Our intangible assets are amortized on straight-line basis over their respective

estimated useful lives ranging from two to ten years The useful lives of the intangible assets acquired by

Freescale Ltd as part of the Merger were established in connection with the allocation of fair values at

December 2006 and were largely fully amortized as of December 31 2011 We have no intangible assets with

indefinite useful lives

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Long-lived assets held and used by us and intangible assets are

reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of

assets may not be recoverable We evaluate recoverability of assets to be held and used by comparing the

carrying amount of an asset to future net undiscounted cash flows to be generated by the assets If such assets are

considered to be impaired the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying

amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets We determine fair value based on either market quotes

if available or discounted cash flows using discount rate commensurate with the risk inherent in our current

business model for the specific asset being valued

Income Taxes Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial

statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and also for net

operating loss and credit carryforwards Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates

expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be

recovered or settled

We have reserves for taxes associated interest and other related costs that may become payable in future

years as result of audits by tax authorities Although we believe that the positions taken on previously filed tax

returns are fully supported we nevertheless have established reserves recognizing that various taxing authorities

may challenge certain positions which may not be fully sustained The tax reserves are reviewed quarterly and

adjusted as events occur that affect our potential liability for additional taxes such as lapsing of applicable

statutes of limitations proposed assessments by tax authorities resolution of tax audits negotiations between tax

authorities of different countries concerning our transfer prices identification of new issues and issuance of new

regulations or new case law

Deferred Financing Costs We capitalize direct costs incurred to obtain financings and amortize these

costs over the terms of the related debt using the effective interest method Upon the extinguishment of the

related debt any unamortized deferred financing costs are immediately expensed
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Fair Values of Financial Instruments The fair values of financial instruments are determined based on

quoted market prices and market interest rates as of the end of the reporting period Our financial instruments

include cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable investments accounts payable accrued liabilities

derivative contracts and long-term debt Except for the fair value of our long-term debt the fair values of these

financial instruments were not materially different from their carrying or contract values at December 31 2012

and 2011 See Note Fair Value Measurement Note Debt Note Risk Management and Note

Employee Benefit and Incentive Plans for further details concerning fair value measurement the fair value of

our long-term debt derivative contracts and pension plan assets respectively

Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America U.S GAAP requires management to make certain

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and

expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ from those estimates

Reclassifications Certain amounts reported in previous periods have been reclassified to conform to the

current presentation

Business Segments Management believes the current organizational structure of our sales and marketing

new product introduction and supply chain operations enable us to execute to our strategic growth initiatives

We have five major focused product groups to facilitate faster decision making and focus on delivering new

products As result of the current organizational structure we operate and account for our results in one

reportable segment We design develop manufacture and market high performance semiconductor products Our

Chief Executive Officer CEO has been identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker as defined by ASC

Topic 280 Segment Reporting ASC Topic 280 We have one operating segment as defined by ASC Topic

280 and therefore the aggregation criteria to determine the reportable segment are not applicable

Other Financial Data

Statements of Operations Supplemental Information

Intellectual Property Revenue

We entered into several intellectual property revenue arrangements during 2012 that contained multiple

deliverables The arrangements include multi-year patent license agreements ranging from six to eight years

one of which contains renegotiation rights from the second quarter of 2012 through the third quarter of 2013 and

renewal options upon the expiration of such license agreement and ii patent sales and services Certain of these

arrangements may limit our ability to sell or license some of our intellectual property to other parties through the

second quarter of 2013 and may reduce our intellectual property revenues that are not associated with these

agreements The total consideration to be received under these agreements is $287 million of which $194 million

was received in 2012 The remaining cash will be received over the next seven years with $65 million

anticipated to be received within the next twelve months

The total consideration was allocated to the separate units of accounting based on their relative selling price

Revenue or other income is recognized for the accounting units when the basic revenue recognition criteria are

met which is consistent with our policy for revenue recognition related to products and services

We recognized $136 million in revenue for these agreements during 2012 Revenue for the patent license

agreements will be recognized over the course of the renegotiation rights period which began in the second

quarter of 2012 and extends through the third quarter of 2013 if applicable and up-front if renegotiation rights

do not exist Revenue for the patent sales and services will be recognized upon delivery of such items and as

such there will be variability in the revenue recognized in future periods Revenue for the remaining items will

be recognized ratably over the course of the respective agreements We also recognized $56 million of
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intellectual property revenue in 2012 related to patent license agreements entered into previously At

December 31 2012 and 2011 included in accrued liabilities and other on our accompanying audited

Consolidated Balance Sheets was $103 million and $10 million respectively of deferred revenue related to our

intellectual property and other agreements

Loss on Extinguishment or Modflcation of Long-Term Debt Net

During 2012 we recorded charges totaling $32 million in the accompanying audited Consolidated

Statement of Operations associated with the close of the Qi 2012 Debt Refinancing Transaction which

included both the extinguishment and modification of existing debt and the issuance of the 2012 Term Loan and

ii the redemption of portion of our senior notes These charges consisted of call premiums the write-off of

unamortized deferred financing costs associated with the extinguished debt and other expenses not eligible for

capitalization in accordance with ASC Subtopic 470-50 Modifications and Extinguishments ASC Subtopic

470-50

During 2011 and in connection with the completion of the IPO we recorded net charge of $96 million in

the accompanying audited Consolidated Statement of Operations associated with IPO Debt Redemption the

Over-Allotment Debt Redemptions the Q3 2011 Debt Refinancing Transaction and the amendment to the Credit

Facility This charge consisted of expenses not eligible for capitalization under ASC Subtopic 470-50 including

call premiums of $74 million and the write-off of remaining unamortized deferred financing costs of $19 million

related to the extinguished debt In addition during 2011 we recorded $1 million loss related to the open-

market repurchases of $26 million of our senior unsecured notes

In 2010 we recorded net pre-tax charge of $432 million in the accompanying audited Consolidated

Statement of Operations attributable to the write-off of remaining original issue discount and unamortized

deferred financing costs along with other charges not eligible for capitalization under ASC Subtopic 470-50

associated with the 2010 Debt Refinancing Transactions as well as the first quarter of 2010 Amend and Extend

Arrangement AE Arrangement The AE Arrangement allowed Freescale Inc to issue new debt with

extended maturities and use the proceeds to prepay debt with maturities in the more immediate future

Additionally it allowed Freescale Inc to amend the Credit Facility to allow for additional future debt refinancing

or extension transactions These charges were partially offset by $15 million pre-tax gain net related to the

open-market repurchases of $213 million of our senior unsecured notes Refer to Note Debt for definitions

and discussion of the other capitalized terms referenced in this section

Other Expense Net

The following table displays the amounts comprising other expense net in the accompanying audited

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010

Interest expense $519 $572 $591
Interest income

Interest expense net 510 563 583
Other net 21 17

Other expense net $531 $559 $600

Cash paid for interest was $511 million $524 million and $472 million in 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively
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During 2012 we recorded losses in other net of $17 million attributable to the realized results and changes

in the fair value associated with our interest rate swap agreements as recorded in accordance with ASC Topic

815 Derivatives and Hedging ASC Topic 815 Additionally we recorded losses of $4 million in 2012

related primarily to foreign currency fluctuations Refer to Note Fair Value Measurement and Note Risk

Management for further discussion of our hedging arrangements

During 2011 we recorded gains in other net of $4 million primarily attributable to foreign currency

fluctuations partially offset by changes in the fair value of our interest rate swaps caps and gold swap contracts

During 2010 we recognized losses in other net of $14 million due to the change in the fair value of our

interest rate swaps and interest rate caps We also recorded $3 million loss in other net related to the decline in

value of one of our investments accounted for under the equity method

Net Loss Per Share

As result of the I-for-S 16 reverse stock split of our common shares as discussed below the number of

common shares outstanding on May 2011 decreased from approximately 1013 million to 196 million For the

year ended December 31 2010 basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding and net loss per

common share have been calculated to reflect the 1-for-S 16 reverse stock split

We calculate net loss per share in accordance with ASC Topic 260 Earnings per Share using the treasury

stock method Basic net loss per
share is computed based on the weighted-average number of common shares

outstanding and unissued shares underlying vested restricted share units RSUs during the period Diluted net

loss
per

share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common

shares were exercised or converted into common shares or resulted in the issuance of common shares that then

shared in the net loss of the Company Approximately 14 million 12 million and 21 million for 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively of the Companys stock options RSUs and warrant were excluded from the calculation of

diluted net loss per share because the inclusion of these awards would have been anti-dilutive These awards

could be dilutive in the future if the average
estimated fair value of the common shares increases and is greater

than the exercise price of these awards and the assumed repurchases of shares under the treasury stock method
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The following is reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted net loss per

common share computations for the periods presented

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
in millions except per share amounts 2012 2011 2010s

Basic net loss per share

Numerator

Netloss $102 $410 $l053
Denominator

Weighted average common shares outstanding 248 226 197

Basic net loss per share $0.41 $1.82 5.35

Diluted net loss per share

Numerator

Netloss $102 $410 $l053
Denominator

Number of shares used in basic computation 248 226 197

Add Incremental shares for dilutive effect of warrants2

Add Incremental shares for dilutive effect of stock

options3

Add Incremental shares for dilutive effect of unvested

restricted stock units4

Adjusted weighted average common shares outstanding 251 227 197

Diluted net loss per share $0.41 $1.82 5.35

Weighted average common shares outstanding includes outstanding common shares of the Company and

unissued common shares underlying vested RSUs

warrant to purchase an aggregate of 9.5 million common shares at $36.12 per share was outstanding

during all periods presented but was not included in the computation of diluted EPS because the warrants

exercise price was greater than the average estimated fair value of the common shares

Stock options to purchase an aggregate of million million and 11 million common shares were

outstanding during 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively are anti-dilutive and were not included in the

computation of diluted EPS because the exercise price was greater than the average estimated fair value of

the common shares or the number of shares assumed to be repurchased using the proceeds of unrecognized

compensation expense potential windfall tax benefits and exercise prices was greater than the weighted

average number of shares underlying outstanding stock options

Unvested RSUs of million and less than million for 2011 and 2010 respectively are anti-dilutive and

were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because the number of shares assumed to be

repurchased using the proceeds of unrecognized compensation expense and potential windfall tax benefits

was greater than the weighted average number of outstanding unvested RSUs There were no unvested

RSUs that are anti-dilutive for 2012

As adjusted for the impact of the 1-for-5 16 reverse stock split

Balance Sheets Supplemental Information

Inventory Net

Inventory net consisted of the following

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Work in process and raw materials $578 $591

Finished goods 219 212

$797 $803

95



As of December 31 2012 and 2011 we had $58 million and $73 million respectively in reserves for

inventory deemed obsolete or in excess of forecasted demand If actual future demand or market conditions are

less favorable than those projected by our management additional inventory write-downs may be required

Other Current Assets

Other current assets consisted of the following

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Deferred income taxes 86 94

Prepaid expenses
28 28

Miscellaneous receivables 20 31

Income tax receivable 10 17

Other 22 28

$166 $198

Property Plant and Equipment Net

Property plant and equipment net consisted of the following

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Land 56 56

Buildings and improvements 854 855

Machinery and equipment 2471 2508

Assets not yet placed in service 21 39

Total 3402 3458

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 2687 2686

715 772

Depreciation and amortization expense was $179 million $393 million and $488 million for the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively including capital lease amortization expense of $3 million $5

million and $10 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Included in property plant and equipment are

capital lease assets of $6 million and $8 million as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively These capital

lease asset amounts are net of accumulated amortization of $35 million and $70 million as of December 31 2012

and 2011 respectively

Effective January 2011 in order to more accurately reflect the expected useful lives of certain property

plant and equipment assets we extended the estimated depreciable lives of certain of our probe assembly and

test equipment During 2011 and as result of this change in our accounting estimate depreciation expense was

reduced by approximately $65 million Operating earnings increased and net loss decreased by approximately the

same amount or by $0.29 per
share
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Intangible Assets Net

Amortized intangible assets of $64 million and $84 million at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

were composed of the following

December 312012 December 312011

Amortized Accumulated Amortized Accumulated

Cost Amortization Cost Amortization

Developed technology purchased licenses 39 25 $749 $728

Customer relationships

Trademarks tradenames 144 94 144 81

$183 $119 $894 $810

Amortization expense for these intangible assets was $29 million $248 million and $481 million for the

years
ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Amortization expense

is estimated to be $22

million in 2013 $17 million in 2014 $13 million in 2015 and $12 million in 2016 There is currently no

amortization expense
scheduled past 2016 significant portion of our developed technology established in

connection with the Merger became fully amortized during 2011 In connection with the 2012 Strategic

Realignment we recorded an $11 million accelerated amortization charge associated with the change in

remaining useful lives of certain of our purchased licenses to reorganization of business and other in the

accompanying audited Consolidated Statement of Operations As result operating earnings decreased and net

loss increased by approximately the same amount or by $0.04 per share Refer Note 10 Reorganization of

Business and Other for further details regarding this charge

Other Assets Net

Other assets net consisted of the following

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Deferred financing costs net $106 $115

Deferred income taxes 101 100

Tool and die net 53 48

Other long-term receivables 43 28

Asia land leases 19 19

Income tax receivable

Other 14

$334 $327

Accrued Liabilities and Other

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Employee compensation $120 $121

Severance 107 48

Interest payable
103 115

Deferred revenue 103 10

Accrued technology cost 24 26

Taxes other than income taxes 23

Other 77 108

$543 $451
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Other Liabilities

Other liabilities consisted of the following

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Retiree healthcare obligation $157 $148

Pension obligations 102 78

Income taxes payable 71 116

Deferred income taxes 43 29

Environmental reserves 39 37

Interest rate swap agreements 14

Severance 70

Other 25 28

$455 $506

Common Shares

On May 2011 we effected 1-for-S 16 reverse stock split of our common shares which is referred to as

share consolidation under Bermuda law The reverse stock split increased the par value of those common shares

from $.005 per share to $0.0258 per share As result the number of shares outstanding has been adjusted

retrospectively to reflect the reverse stock split in all periods presented Also the exercise price and the number

of common shares issuable under the Companys share-based compensation plans and the authorized and issued

share capital as discussed in Note Employee Benefit and Incentive Plans have been adjusted retrospectively

to reflect the reverse stock split On May 26 2011 the par value of the common shares was reduced from

$00258 per
share to $0.01 per share which resulted in an authorized share capital of 1000 million shares of

which 900 million were designated common shares par value $0.01 each and 100 million were designated

preference shares par value $0.01 each The decrease in
par

value resulted in decrease in the value of common

shares and corresponding increase in the value of additional paid-in capital for the
year

ended December 31

2010

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Earnings

The following table provides the components of accumulated other comprehensive earnings net of tax

Unrealized

Unrealized Gain Loss on Foreign

Gain Loss Postretirement Currency

on Derivatives Obligation Translation Total

Balance at January 12010 14 29 $43

Current period net change 16 16

Balance at December 31 2010 $l $2 $30 $27

Current period net change

Balance at December 31 2011 $5 $5 $25 $25

Current period net change 18 11

Balance at December 31 2012 $2 $13 $25 $14

During 2012 in connection with the dissolution of the Sendai Japan entity the cumulative translation

adjustment associated with this entity was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive earnings to

reorganization of business and other within the accompanying audited Consolidated Statement of

Operations This amount was offset by the effects of translating the financial position and results of operations of

local currency functional operations for certain of our non-U.S subsidiaries into U.S dollars
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Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is defined as the exit price or the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to

transfer liability in an orderly transaction between market participants as of the measurement date

Authoritative guidance establishes hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of

observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be

used when available Observable inputs are market inputs participants would use in valuing the asset or liability

and are developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of us Unobservable inputs are inputs

that reflect our assumptions about the factors market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability The

guidance establishes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value

Level quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable and

Level inputs that are unobservable for example cash flow modeling inputs based on assumptions

Assets and Liabilities Measured and Recorded at Fair Value on Recurring Basis

We measure cash and cash equivalents and derivative contracts at fair value on recurring basis The table

below sets forth by level the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities as of December 31 2012 and

2011 respectively The table does not include assets and liabilities which are measured at historical cost or on

any basis other than fair value In 2012 and 2011 there were no significant transfers between Level and Level

inputs We had no Level instruments at December 31 2012 or December 31 2011

Quoted Prices in Significant

Active Markets Other

for Identical Observable
As of December 312012 Assets Inputs

Total Level Level

Assets

Money market mutual funds1 $192 $192

Time deposits 285 285

Foreign currency derivative contracts2

Total Assets $480 $477 $3
Liabilities

Interest rate swap agreements3 17 17

Foreign currency derivative contracts2

Total Liabilities $18 $18

Quoted Prices in Significant

Active Markets Other

for Identical Observable
As of December 312011 Assets Inputs

Total Level Level

Assets

Money market mutual funds $357 $357

Time deposits 246 246

Foreign currency derivative contracts2

Total Assets $605 $603 $2
Liabilities

Interest rate swap agreements3

Commodity derivative contracts4

Foreign currency derivative contracts2

Total Liabilities $13 $13
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The following footnotes indicate where the noted items are recorded in our accompanying audited

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 2012 and 2011

Money market funds and time deposits are reported as cash and cash equivalents

Foreign currency
derivative contracts are reported as other current assets or accrued liabilities and other

Interest rate swap agreements are reported as other liabilities and accrued liabilities and other at

December 31 2012 and as accrued liabilities and other at December 31 2011

Conmiodity derivative contracts are reported as accrued liabilities and other in both periods presented The

fair value at December 31 2012 is less than $1 million

Valuation Methodologies

In determining the fair value of our interest rate swap derivatives we use the present value of expected cash

flows based on market observable interest rate yield curves commensurate with the term of each instrument For

foreign currency and commodity derivatives our approach uses forward contract valuation models employing

market observable inputs such as spot and forward rates for currencies and commodities Since we only use

observable inputs in our valuation of our derivative assets and liabilities they are considered Level

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments

In addition to the assets and liabilities described above our financial instruments also include accounts

receivable other investments accounts payable accrued liabilities and long-term debt Except for the fair value

of our long-term debt which was $6562 million at December 31 2012 and $6632 million at December 31 2011

as determined based upon quoted market prices the fair values of these financial instruments were not

materially different from their carrying or contract values at those dates

Assets and Liabilities Measured and Recorded at Fair Value on Non-recurring Basis

We measure certain financial assets including cost and equity method investments at fair value on non

recurring basis These assets are adjusted to fair value when they are deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 the carrying value of these assets was $1 million and $2 million respectively

Refer to Note Risk Management for further discussion of our interest rate swap and cap agreements

our foreign currency
derivative contracts and our commodity derivative contracts

Debt

The carrying value of our long-term debt at December 31 2012 and 2011 consisted of the following

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Extended maturity term loan due 2016 $2215 $2215

2012 Term Loan due 2019 491

Replacement revolver due 2016

Senior secured 10.125% due 2018 663 663

Senior secured 9.25% due 2018 1380 1380

Senior unsecured floating rate notes due 2014 57 57

Senior unsecured 8.875% notes due 2014 98 298

Senior unsecured 10.75% notes due 2020 473 473

Senior unsecured 8.05% notes due 2020 739 739

Senior subordinated 10.125% notes due 2016 264 764

6380 6589

Less current maturities

Total long-term debt $6375 $6589
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Fourth Quarter 2012 Debt Redemption

On November 23 2012 Freescale Inc delivered to the holders of its Senior Unsecured 8.875% Notes due

2014 8.875% Unsecured Notes notice that it would redeem $100 million aggregate principal amount of the

notes at par value plus accrued and unpaid interest up to but not including the redemption date These notes

became callable at par on December 15 2012 The redemption date was December 26 2012 on which Freescale

Inc utilized $100 million of cash on hand to redeem $100 million of 8.875% Unsecured Notes and pay accrued

interest of less than $1 million In connection with the redemption we recorded charge of $1 million in the

accompanying audited Consolidated Statement of Operations associated with the write-off of unamortized

deferred financing costs Refer to Note Loss on Extinguishment or Modification of Long-Term Debt Net
for further information on the debt transactions discussed in this note

Third Quarter 2012 Debt Redemption

On August 13 2012 Freescale Inc delivered to the holders of its 8.875% Unsecured Notes notice that it

would redeem $100 million aggregate principal amount of the notes at the redemption price of 102.219% of the

outstanding aggregate principal amount being redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest up to but not

including the redemption date The redemption date was September 12 2012 on which Freescale Inc utilized

$104 million of cash on hand to redeem $100 million of 8.875% Unsecured Notes and pay related call premiums

of $2 million along with accrued interest of $2 million In connection with the redemption we recorded charge

of $3 million in the accompanying audited Consolidated Statement of Operations associated with the call

premiums and write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs

First Quarter 2012 Debt Refinancing Transaction

On February 28 2012 Freescale Inc received the requisite consents from its lenders to amend the senior

secured credit facility Credit Facility which among other things allowed for the issuance of new term loan

and eliminated the remaining incremental borrowing capacity previously available under the Credit Facility As

result on February 28 2012 Freescale Inc closed the transaction referred to as the Qi 2012 Debt Refinancing

Transaction and announced the amendment of the Credit Facility and the issuance of $500 million aggregate

principal amount of senior secured term loan due February 28 2019 2012 Term Loan The 2012 Term Loan

was issued with an original issue discount and was recorded at its fair value of $495 million on the accompanying

audited Consolidated Balance Sheet The net proceeds of this issuance along with approximately $59 million of

cash on hand were used on March 29 2012 to redeem $500 million of the senior subordinated 10.125% notes

due 2016 Senior Subordinated Notes and pay related call premiums of $25 million accrued interest of $15

million and amendment consent and other fees totaling $14 million in the aggregate In connection with the

transaction we recorded charge of $28 million in the accompanying audited Consolidated Statement of

Operations associated with the call premiums write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs and other

expenses not eligible for capitalization

The proceeds from the issuance of the 2012 Term Loan were used to extinguish portion of the Senior

Subordinated Notes thus relieving Freescale Inc and the Guarantors of their obligations associated with that

portion of the liability Refer to Note 14 Supplemental Guarantor Condensed Consolidating Financial

Statements for the definition of Guarantors This portion of the Qi 2012 Debt Refinancing Transaction

constitutes an extinguishment of debt in accordance with ASC Subtopic 470-50 and was accounted for

accordingly Certain lenders who participated in the partial repayment of the Senior Subordinated Notes were

also lenders under the 2012 Term Loan Effectively this portion of the Senior Subordinated Notes was

exchanged by these lenders for the new term loan This part of the transaction was accounted for as

modification of debt which was not deemed substantial under the guidance in ASC Subtopic 470-50
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IPO and Over-Allotment Debt Redemptions

In the second quarter of 2011 Freescale Ltd contributed the net proceeds from the IPO to Freescale Inc to

prepay and redeem $887 million of outstanding debt in transaction referred to as the IPO Debt Redemption

On June 2011 we prepaid the $532 million remaining outstanding balance under the original revolving credit

facility and issued 30-day notices of redemption announcing our intent to redeem portions of the senior

unsecured 10.75% notes due 2020 10.75% Unsecured Notes and the senior unsecured 9.125%/9.875% P1K-

election notes due 2014 P1K-Election Notes Upon the expiration of this 30-day period on July 2011 we

completed the IPO Debt Redemption by redeeming $262 million of the 10.75% Unsecured Notes and $93 million

of the P1K-Election Notes as well as paying related call premiums of $32 million and accrued interest of $13

million with the initial IPO proceeds along with cash on hand

On June 2011 the underwriters of our IPO partially exercised their over-allotment option to purchase an

additional 5567000 common shares at $18.00 per share The over-allotment transaction closed on June 14

2011 at which time we issued 30-day notice of redemption announcing our intent to redeem portion of the

senior secured 10.125% notes due 2018 10.125% Secured Notes Subsequently upon the expiration of this

30-day period on July 14 2011 we used $96 million of net proceeds received in the over-allotment transaction

along with cash on hand to redeem $87 million of the 10.125% Secured Notes and pay related call premiums of

$9 million and accrued interest of $3 million in transaction referred to as the Over-Allotment Debt

Redemption Because cash proceeds were used for the redemption of debt in the IPO Debt Redemption and the

Over-Allotment Debt Redemption which relieved Freescale Inc and the Guarantors of their obligations

associated with the aforementioned portion of the liability outstanding under the Credit Facility the 10.75%

Unsecured Notes the P1K-Election Notes and the 10.125% Secured Notes these transactions were accounted for

as extinguishments of debt in accordance with ASC Subtopic 470-50 In connection with these transactions we

recorded charge of $53 million in the accompanying audited Consolidated Statement of Operations associated

with the call premiums write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs and other expenses not eligible for

capitalization

Second Quarter Debt Issuance and Third Quarter 2011 Debt Refinancing Transactions

On June 10 2011 Freescale Inc issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 8.05% senior unsecured

notes due February 2020 8.05% Unsecured Notes with the intention to use the proceeds along with

existing cash to redeem the remaining outstanding balance of the P1K-Election Notes and portion of the

8.875% Unsecured Notes and to pay related call premiums and accrued interest in transaction referred to as

the Q2 2011 Debt Issuance On June 10 2011 Freescale Inc also issued 30-day notices of redemption

announcing their intent to redeem the aforementioned senior unsecured notes The Q2 2011 Debt Issuance was

completed in compliance with Credit Facility as well as the indentures governing the senior secured senior

unsecured and senior subordinated notes collectively the Senior Notes The 8.05% Unsecured Notes were

recorded at fair value which was equal to the gross cash proceeds received from the issuance Upon the

expiration of this 30-day period on July 11 2011 we used the net proceeds from the issuance of the 8.05%

Unsecured Notes along with existing cash to redeem $162 million of P1K-Election Notes and $588 million of

the 8.875% Unsecured Notes and to pay related call premiums of $33 million and accrued interest of $5 million

in transaction referred to as the Q3 2011 Debt Refinancing Transactions In connection with the transaction

we recorded charge of $43 million in the accompanying audited Consolidated Statement of Operations

associated with the call premiums and write-off of unamortized deferred financing costs Because cash proceeds

from the Q2 2011 Debt Issuance were used for the redemption of debt which relieved Freescale Inc and the

Guarantors of their obligations associated with the abovementioned portion of the liabilities outstanding under

the 8.875% Unsecured Notes and the P1K-Election Notes the transaction was accounted for as an extinguishment

of debt in accordance with ASC Subtopic 470-50 Additionally the $750 million aggregate principal amount of

8.05% Unsecured Notes was separately accounted for as an issuance of debt
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First Quarter 2011 Amendment to the Credit Facility

On March 2011 and in connection with the IPO Freescale Inc entered into an amendment to the Credit

Facility to among other things allow for the replacement of its existing revolving credit facility thereunder with

new revolving credit facility the Replacement Revolver We received commitments of $425 million for the

Replacement Revolver which became available and the amendments became effective on June 2011 at

which time Freescale Inc had satisfied certain conditions The Replacement Revolvers available capacity is

reduced by outstanding letters of credit

Open-Market Bond Repurchases

During 2011 Freescale Inc repurchased $11 million of the 8.05% Unsecured Notes and $15 million of the

10.75% Unsecured Notes at $1 million loss During 2010 Freescale Inc repurchased $120 million of its

8.875% Unsecured Notes $78 million of its P1K-Election Notes and $15 million of its senior unsecured floating

rate notes due 2014 Floating Rate Notes at $15 million gain net

Credit Facility

At December 31 2012 Freescale Inc.s Credit Facility included the $2215 million extended maturity

term loan Extended Term Loan ii the 2012 Term Loan and iii the Replacement Revolver including

letters of credit and swing line loan sub-facilities with committed capacity of $425 million The interest rate on

the 2012 Term Loan and the Extended Term Loan at December 31 2012 was 6.0% and 4.46% respectively

The spread over LIBOR with respect to the 2012 Term Loan and the Extended Term Loan was 4.75% and

4.25% respectively As noted below the 2012 Term Loan has LIBOR floor of 1.25% The spread over LIBOR

with respect to the Replacement Revolver is 3.75% At December 31 2012 the Replacement Revolvers

available capacity was $408 million as reduced by $17 million of outstanding letters of credit

2012 Term Loan

At December 31 2012 $496 million was outstanding under the 2012 Term Loan which will mature on

February 28 2019 The 2012 Term Loan bears interest at Freescale Inc.s option at rate equal to margin

over either base rate equal to the higher of either the prime rate of Citibank N.A or the federal

funds rate plus one-half of 1% or ii LIBOR rate based on the cost of funds for deposit in the currency of

borrowing for the relevant interest period adjusted for certain additional costs The Second Amended and

Restated Credit Agreement as of February 28 2012 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
provides that the spread over LIBOR with respect to the 2012 Term Loan is 4.75% with LIBOR floor of

1.25% Under the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement Freescale Inc is required to repay

portion of the 2012 Term Loan in quarterly installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 1% of the

initial $500 million outstanding balance There is an early maturity acceleration clause associated with the

2012 Term Loan such that principal amounts under the loan will become due and payable on December 15

2017 if at December 2017 Freescale Inc.s total leverage ratio is greater than 41 at the

September 30 2017 test period and ii the aggregate principal amount of the 10.125% Secured Notes or the

senior secured 9.25% notes due 2018 9.25% Secured Notes exceeds $500 million individually or

collectively Additionally the 2012 Term Loan contains provision whereby Freescale Inc can call the loan

at 101% of the principal amount within twelve months from the date of issuance At December 31 2012 the

2012 Term Loan was recorded on the accompanying audited Consolidated Balance Sheet at $5 million

discount which is subject to accretion to par value over the term of the loan using the effective interest

method

The obligations under the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement are unconditionally guaranteed

by the same parties and in the same manner as under the credit agreement that was in effect prior to the Q1 2012

Debt Refinancing Transaction as further discussed below In addition the Second Amended and Restated Credit

Agreement contains the same prepayment provisions as the previous credit agreement except as indicated above

103



Senior Notes

Freescale Inc had an aggregate principal amount of $3674 million in Senior Notes outstanding at

December 31 2012 consisting of $663 million of 10.125% Secured Notes ii$1380 million of 9.25%

Secured Notes iii $57 million of Floating Rate Notes iv $98 million of 8.875% Unsecured Notes $473

million of 10.75% Unsecured Notes vi $739 million of 8.05% Unsecured Notes and vii $264 million of

Senior Subordinated Notes With regard to our fixed rates notes interest is payable semi-annually in arrears as

follows every March 15th and September 15th commencing on September 15 2010 for the 10.125% Secured

Notes ii every April 15th and October 15th commencing on October 15 2010 for the 9.25% Secured Notes

iii every February 1st and August 1st commencing February 2011 for the 10.75% Unsecured Notes iv every

February 1st and August Pt commencing on February 2012 for the 8.05% Unsecured Notes and every

June 15t and December lSth commencing on June 15 2007 for the 8.875% Unsecured Notes and the

Subordinated Notes The Floating Rate Notes bear interest at rate reset quarterly equal to three-month LIBOR

which was 0.31% on December 31 2012 plus 3.875% per annum which is payable quarterly in arrears on

every March 15th June 15th September 15th and December 15th commencing March 15 2007

Guarantees and Right of Payment

The obligations under the Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by certain of the Parent Companies

and subject to certain exceptions each of our material domestic wholly-owned Restricted Subsidiaries as

defined in the Credit Facility agreement As of December 31 2012 Freescale Inc had no material domestic

wholly owned Restricted Subsidiaries All obligations under the Credit Facility and the guarantees of those

obligations are secured by substantially all the following assets of Freescale Inc and each guarantor subject to

certain exceptions pledge of 100% of the capital stock of each of Holdings III Holdings IV and Holdings

pledge of 100% of the capital stock of Freescale Inc 100% of the capital stock of our subsidiary SigmaTel

Inc and 65% of the voting stock and 100% of the non-voting stock of each of our material wholly owned

foreign subsidiaries in each case that are directly owned by Freescale Inc or one of the guarantors
and ii

security interest in and mortgages on substantially all tangible and intangible assets of each of Holdings IV

Holdings and Freescale Inc In addition in the event that Freescale Inc transfers foreign subsidiaries to or

forms new foreign subsidiaries under Holdings III or another foreign entity but not any entity directly or

indirectly owned by U.S entity or ii transfers assets to such foreign subsidiaries Freescale Inc will be

required to pledge 100% of the voting stock of those wholly owned foreign subsidiaries so transferred or formed

and such foreign subsidiaries would be required to guarantee our obligations under the senior secured credit

agreement There are prepayment requirements under the Credit Facility in certain circumstances and subject to

certain exceptions These potential prepayment requirements
include 50% of annual excess cash flow as

defined in the senior secured credit agreement subject to an incremental full step-down based upon attaining

certain leverage ratios ii 100% of net cash proceeds of all non-ordinary course assets sales or other dispositions

by Holdings III and its restricted subsidiaries if the net cash proceeds are not reinvested in the business and

iii 100% of the net proceeds of any issuance or incurrence of debt by Holdings III or any of its restricted

subsidiaries other than debt permitted under our Credit Facility The foregoing mandatory prepayments will be

applied to scheduled installments of the Extended Term Loan in direct order of maturity

The 10.125% Secured Notes are governed by the indenture dated as of February 19 2010 the 10.125%

Indenture and the 9.25% Secured Notes are governed by the indenture dated as of April 13 2010 the 9.25%

Indenture The Guarantors also guarantee jointly and severally the 10.125% Secured Notes and 9.25%

Secured Notes on senior secured basis The 8.05% Unsecured Notes are governed by the Indenture dated as of

June 10 2011 the 8.05% Indenture the 10.75% Unsecured Notes are governed by the indenture dated as of

September 30 2010 the 10.75% Indenture and the Floating Rate Notes the 8.875% Unsecured Notes and

the Senior Subordinated Notes are governed by two indentures dated as of December 2006 as supplemented

and amended While the 8.05% Unsecured Notes the 10.75% Unsecured Notes the Floating Rate Notes and the

8.875% Unsecured Notes are guaranteed jointly and severally on senior unsecured basis by the Guarantors

the Senior Subordinated Notes are guaranteed with guarantee that ranks junior in right of payment to all of the

other senior indebtedness of each Guarantor
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Relative to our overall indebtedness the 10.125% Secured Notes and the 9.25% Secured Notes rank in right

of payment pan passu to our existing senior secured indebtedness ii senior to senior unsecured indebtedness

to the extent of the value of any underlying collateral but otherwise pan passu to such senior unsecured

indebtedness and iiisenior to all senior subordinated indebtedness The Floating Rate Notes the 8.875%

Unsecured Notes the 10.75% Unsecured Notes and the 8.05% Unsecured Notes rank in right of payment

junior to senior secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of any underlying collateral but otherwise
pan

passu to such senior secured indebtedness ii pafi passu to our existing senior unsecured indebtedness and

iiisenior to all senior subordinated indebtedness The Senior Subordinated Notes are unsecured senior

subordinated obligations and rank junior in right of payment to all other of our senior secured and unsecured

indebtedness

Redemption

Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in part the 10.125% Secured Notes at any time prior to March 15
2014 at redemption price equal to 100% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus

the applicable make-whole premium as defined in the 10.125% Indenture Freescale Inc may redeem in

whole or in part the 10.125% Secured Notes at any time after March 15 2014 at redemption price equal to

100% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus premium declining over time as set

forth in the 10.125% Indenture In addition at any time on or prior to March 15 2013 Freescale Inc may
redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the 10.125% Secured Notes with the proceeds of certain

equity offerings at redemption price equal to 110.125% of the aggregate principal amount plus accrued and

unpaid interest if any as described in the 10.125% Indenture If Freescale Inc experiences certain change of

control events holders of the 10.125% Secured Notes may require Freescale Inc to repurchase all or part of their

10.125% Secured Notes at 101% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest

Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in part the 9.25% Secured Notes at any time prior to April 15 2014

at redemption price equal to 100% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus the

applicable make-whole premium as defined in the 9.25% Indenture Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in

part the 9.25% Secured Notes at any time on or after April 15 2014 at redemption price equal to 100% of the

principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus premium declining over time as set forth in the

9.25% Indenture In addition until April 15 2013 Freescale Inc may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate

principal amount of the 9.25% Secured Notes with the proceeds of certain equity offerings at redemption price

equal to 109.25% of the aggregate principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest if any as described in the

9.25% Indenture If Freescale Inc experiences certain change of control events holders of the 9.25% Secured

Notes may require Freescale Inc to repurchase all or part of their 9.25% Secured Notes at 101% of the principal

balance plus accrued and unpaid interest

Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in part the Floating Rate Notes at any time on or after

December 15 2008 and the 8.875% Unsecured Notes at any time on or after December 15 2010 In each case

the redemption price equals fixed percentage of the related notes principal balance ranging from 100% to

104.6% depending upon the series of notes redeemed and the redemption date plus accrued and unpaid interest

Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in part the 10.75% Unsecured Notes at any time prior to August

2015 at redemption price equal to 100% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus

the applicable make-whole premium as defined in the 10.75% Indenture Freescale Inc may redeem in whole

or in part the 10.75% Unsecured Notes at any time on or after August 2015 at redemption price equal to

100% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus premium declining over time as set

forth in the 10.75% Indenture In addition at any time on or prior to August 2013 Freescale Inc may redeem

up to 35% of the aggregate principal balance of 10.75% Unsecured Notes with the proceeds of certain equity

offerings at redemption price equal to 110.75% of the aggregate principal amount plus accrued and unpaid

interest if any as described in the 10.75% Indenture If Freescale Inc experiences certain change of control

events holders of the 10.75% Unsecured Notes may require Freescale Inc to repurchase all or part of their

10.75% Unsecured Notes at 101% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest
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Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in part the 8.05% Unsecured Notes at any time prior to June 2015

at redemption price equal to 100% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus the

applicable make-whole premium as defined in the 8.05% Indenture Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in

part the 8.05% Unsecured Notes at any time on or after June 2015 at redemption price equal to 100% of the

principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest if any plus premium declining over time as set forth in the

8.05% Indenture In addition at any time on or prior to June 2014 Freescale Inc may redeem up to 35% of the

aggregate principal balance of 8.05% Unsecured Notes with the proceeds of certain equity offerings at

redemption price equal to 108.05% of the aggregate principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest as

described in the 8.05% Indenture If Freescale Inc experiences certain change of control events holders of the

8.05% Unsecured Notes may require Freescale Inc to repurchase all or part of their 8.05% Unsecured Notes at

101% of the principal balance plus accrued and unpaid interest

Freescale Inc may redeem in whole or in part the Senior Subordinated Notes at any time on or after

December 15 2011 The redemption price is at fixed percentage of the notes principal balance ranging from

100% to 105.1% depending upon the redemption date plus accrued and unpaid interest as described in the

indenture governing these notes

Covenant Compliance

Freescale Inc.s Credit Facility and indentures governing the senior notes the Indentures contain

restrictive covenants that limit the ability of our subsidiaries to among other things incur or guarantee additional

indebtedness or issue preferred shares pay dividends and make other restricted payments impose limitations on

the ability of our restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends or make other distributions create or incur certain liens

make certain investments transfer or sell assets engage in transactions with affiliates and merge or consolidate

with other companies or transfer all or substantially all of our assets Under the Credit Facility Freescale Inc

must comply with conditions precedent that must be satisfied prior to any borrowing

As of December 31 2012 Freescale Inc was in compliance with the covenants under the Credit Facility

and the Indentures but did not meet the ratios thereunder the total leverage ratio of 6.51 the senior secured first

lien leverage ratio of 3.501 the fixed charge coverage ratio of 2.01 or the consolidated secured debt ratio of

3.251 As of December 31 2012 Freescale Inc.s total leverage ratio was 6.811 senior secured first lien

leverage ratio was 4.821 the fixed charge coverage ratio was 1.791 and the consolidated secured debt ratio was

5.671 Accordingly we are currently restricted from making restricted payments and incurring liens on assets

securing indebtedness except as otherwise permitted by the Credit Facility and the Indentures The fact that we

do not meet these ratios does not result in any
default under the Credit Facility or the Indentures

Hedging Transactions

Freescale Inc has entered into interest rate swap agreements and has previously used interest rate cap

agreements with various counterparties as hedge of the variable cash flows of our variable interest rate debt

Refer to Note Fair Value Measurement and Note Risk Management for further details of these interest

rate swap and cap agreements

Debt Service

We are required to make debt service principal payments under the terms of our debt agreements As of

December 31 2012 future obligated debt service principal payments are $5 million in 2013 $160 million in

2014 $5 million in 2015 $2484 million in 2016 $5 million in 2017 and $3726 million thereafter
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Qi 2013 Debt Refinancing Transaction

On February 2013 Freescale Inc was advised by the lead arranger under its proposed new senior secured

term loan facility that sufficient orders have been received by the arrangers to allocate and close the proposed

new term loan facility The proposed new term loan facility provides for two term loan tranches in an aggregate

principal amount of approximately $2.74 billion consisting of $350 million term loan that will mature in

December 2016 and $2.39 billion term loan that will mature in March 2020

The proceeds anticipated from the proposed new term loan facilities are intended to be used to refinance

Freescale outstanding term loans under the Credit Facility and to pay portion of the related fees and expenses

Freescale expects to use cash on hand to pay any remaining fees and expenses The refinancing is expected to

among other things reduce principal amount of indebtedness currently due in 2016 ii extend to 2020 the

maturities of our indebtedness currently due in 2019 and portion of our indebtedness currently due in 2016 and

iii increase our cash interest expense by approximately $6 million annually based on current interest rates The

proposed new term loan facilities will be effected as an amendment to or an amendment and restatement of the

Credit Facility subject to customary conditions

Under the terms of the new $350 million facility the loan is expected to bear interest at rate equal to

margin of 3.25% over either base rate equal to the higher of either the prime rate of Citibank N.A or

the federal funds rate plus one-half of 1% or ii LIBOR rate based on the cost of funds for deposit in the

currency of borrowing for the relevant interest period adjusted for certain additional costs The facility will also

be subject to 1.00% LIBOR floor Freescale Inc will be required to repay portion of the loan in quarterly

installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to 1% of the initial loan commitment The facility will mature on

December 2016 but contains provision whereby Freescale Inc can call the loan at 101% of the principal

amount within six months from the date of issuance

Under the terms of the new $2.39 billion facility the loan is expected to bear interest at rate equal to

margin of 3.75% over either base rate equal to the higher of either the prime rate of Citibank N.A or

the federal funds rate plus one-half of 1% or ii LIBOR rate based on the cost of funds for deposit in the

currency of borrowing for the relevant interest period adjusted for certain additional costs The facility will also

be subject to 1.25% LIBOR floor Freescale Inc will be required to repay portion of the loan in quarterly

installments in aggregate annual amounts equal to of the initial loan commitment The facility will mature on

March 2020 but includes an early maturity acceleration clause such that principal amounts under the loan will

become due and payable on December 15 2017 if at December 2017 Freescale Inc.s total leverage ratio

is greater than 41 at the September 30 2017 test period and ii the aggregate principal amount of the

outstanding 10.125% Secured Notes or 9.25% Secured Notes exceeds $500 million individually or collectively

Additionally the facility contains provision whereby Freescale Inc can call the loan at 101% of the principal

amount within twelve months from the date of issuance

These transactions are currently scheduled to close on March 2013 subject to customary closing

conditions at which time we expect the 2016 loan will be issued at par and the 2020 loan will be issued with an

original issue discount of $24 million subject to accretion to par value over the term of the facility In connection

with this transaction we expect to record charge for the write-off of deferred financing costs associated with

the extinguished debt along with other charges not eligible for capitalization There can be no assurance that

Freescale Inc will be successful in obtaining the proposed new term loan facility on the terms discussed above

on reasonably acceptable terms or at all

Risk Management

Foreign Currency Risk

The functional
currency

for most of our foreign operations is the U.S dollar Accordingly exchange rate

gains and losses are recognized on transactions in currencies other than the U.S dollar and included in operations

for the period in which the exchange rates changed
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In order to reduce the exposure
of our financial results resulting from fluctuations in exchange rates our

principal strategy has been to naturally hedge the foreign currency-denominated liabilities on our balance sheet

against corresponding foreign currency-denominated assets such that any changes in liabilities due to fluctuations

in exchange rates are inversely offset by changes in their corresponding foreign currency assets In order to

further reduce our exposure to U.S dollar exchange rate fluctuations we have entered into foreign currency

hedge agreements related to the currency and the amount of expenses we expect to incur in jurisdictions in which

our operations are located No assurance can be given that our hedging transactions will prevent us from

incurring higher foreign currency-denominated costs when translated into our U.S dollar-based accounts in the

event of weakening of the U.S dollar on the non-hedged portion of our costs and expenses

At December 31 2012 and 2011 we had outstanding foreign exchange contracts not designated as

accounting hedges with notional amounts totaling approximately $217 million and $198 million respectively

which are accounted for at fair value These forward contracts have original maturities of less than three months

The fair value of these forward contracts was net unrealized loss of less than $1 million and $1 million at

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively Forward contract losses gains of $2 million $2 million and less

than $1 million for 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively were recorded in other net in the accompanying audited

Consolidated Statements of Operations related to our realized and unrealized results associated with these foreign

exchange contracts Management believes that these financial instruments should not subject us to undue risk due

to foreign exchange movements because gains and losses on these contracts should offset losses and gains on the

assets liabilities and transactions being hedged The following table shows in millions of U.S dollars the

notional amounts of the most significant foreign exchange hedge positions not designated as accounting hedges

as of December 31 2012 and 2011

December 31 December 31

Buy Sell
2012 2011

Euro $104 $119

Japanese Yen 28 $13

Malaysian Ringgit 26 18

Chinese Renminbi 23

Israeli Shekel

TaiwanDollar $l2 $12

Cash Flow Hedges

We use foreign currency exchange contracts to hedge future expected cash flows associated with cost of sales

general and administrative expenses and research and development expenses At December 31 2012 we had

Malaysian Ringgit and Chinese Renminbi forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges with notional amounts

of $68 million and $77 million respectively and fair values of net unrealized gains of $1 million for both

currencies At December 31 2011 we had Malaysian Ringgit and Israeli Shekel forward contracts designated as

cash flow hedges with notional amounts of $71 million and $30 million respectively and fair values of net

unrealized gain loss of $1 million and $1 million respectively These forward and option contracts have original

maturities of less than 18 months Gains of $3 million for 2012 and less than $1 million for both 2011 and 2010

were recorded in cost of sales in the accompanying audited Statements of Operations related to our realized results

associated with the Malaysian Ringgit cash flow hedges Losses of $2 million for 2012 were recorded in research

and development expenses in the accompanying audited Statement of Operations related to our realized results

associated with Israeli Shekel hedges that settled during the year Management believes that these financial

instruments will not subject us to undue risk due to foreign exchange movements because gains and losses on these

contracts should offset losses and gains on the forecasted expenses being hedged

Commodity Price Risk

We operate facilities that consume commodities and we have established forecasted transaction risk

management programs to mitigate fluctuations in fair value and the volatility of future cash flows caused by
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changes in commodity prices These programs reduce but do not always entirely eliminate the impact of

commodity price movements

At December 31 2012 and 2011 we had gold swap contracts to hedge our exposure to increases in the price

of gold bullion Our gold swap contracts were designated as cash flow hedges under ASC Topic 815 These

contracts had outstanding notional amounts totaling 17000 ounces and 27500 ounces at December 31 2012 and

December 31 2011 respectively which were accounted for at fair value All of these outstanding gold swap

contracts had original maturities of 15 months or less The fair value of these gold swap contracts was net

unrealized loss of less than $1 million and $4 million at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively During 2012

and 2011 losses gains of $3 million and $2 million respectively were recorded in cost of sales related to our

realized results attributable to these gold swap contracts Additionally during 2012 and 2011 losses gains of

less than million and $2 million respectively were recorded in other expense net in the accompanying

audited Consolidated Statements of Operations related to ineffectiveness on these gold swap contracts as well as

the change in fair value associated with these swap contracts up to the date of designation Management believes

that these financial instruments will not subject us to undue risk of fluctuations in the price of gold bullion

because gains and losses on these swap contracts should offset losses and gains on the forecasted gold wire

expense being hedged

Interest Rate Risk

We use interest rate swap agreements to assist in managing the floating rate portion of our debt portfolio

During 2012 we entered into interest rate swap agreements in order to effectively fix our interest rate beginning

on December 2012 We are required to pay the counterparties stream of fixed rate interest payments at an

average rate of 0.99% on notional amount of $100 million from December 2012 through December

2015 ii 1.46% on notional amount of $200 million from December 2012 through December 2016 and

iii 1.26% on notional amount of $500 million from December 2013 through December 2016 In

connection with our interest rate swap agreements we receive variable rate interest payments based on 3-month

LIBOR 0.31% in effect on December 31 2012 from the counterparties We had $200 million of variable rate

debt hedged based on fixed interest payments at an average rate of 3.76% using interest rate swaps that

concluded in December 2012 During 2012 2011 and 2010 in accordance with ASC Topic 815 we recognized

losses of $17 million $1 million and $8 million respectively in other expense net in the accompanying audited

Consolidated Statements of Operations associated with the realized results and change in fair value of our interest

rate swaps The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements was an unrealized loss of $17 million and $6

million at December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 respectively

In addition to interest rate swap agreements we previously used interest rate cap agreements to manage our

floating rate debt During 2009 we entered into interest rate cap contracts as hedge of the variable cash flows

of our variable interest rate debt Under the terms of these contracts we effectively hedged $400 million of our

variable interest rate debt at cap rate of 2.75% The caps became effective on December 2009 and were

scheduled to mature on December 2012 In the fourth quarter of 2011 we terminated the interest rate cap

agreements As these interest rate caps did not meet the requirements of cash flow hedge under ASC Topic 815

all related gains and losses due to the change in fair value were recognized in other net During 2011 and 2010

we recognized losses of less than $1 million and $6 million respectively in other net in the accompanying

audited Consolidated Statements of Operations associated with the change in fair value of these interest rate swap

agreements

Counterparty Risk

Outstanding financial derivative instruments expose us to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the

counterparties to the agreements We also enter into master netting arrangements with counterparties when

possible to mitigate credit risk in derivative transactions master netting arrangement may allow counterparties

to net settle amounts owed to each other as result of multiple separate derivative transactions The credit

exposure related to these financial instruments is represented by the contracts with positive fair value at the
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reporting date On periodic basis we review the credit ratings of our counterparties and adjust our exposure as

deemed appropriate As of December 31 2012 we believe that our exposure to counterparty risk is immaterial

Employee Benefit and Incentive Plans

Share and Equity-based Compensation

Our total share and equity-based compensation expense is presented below

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010

Cost of sales

Selling general and administrative 26 21 23

Research and development

Total $39 $27 $29

2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan

In connection with the completion of the IPO we adopted new share-based compensation plan referred to

as the 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan the 2011 Plan which authorizes stock-based awards for up to 22 million

of our common shares The purpose of the 2011 Plan is to provide additional incentive to selected management

employees directors independent contractors and consultants of the Company in order to strengthen their

commitment to the Company The 2011 Plan permits the grant of incentive awards to employees non-employee

directors and consultants or independent contractors as selected by the administrator As publicly-traded

company we have transitioned from one time grants of share-based compensation awards to annual grants under

the 2011 Plan The 2011 Plan authorizes the granting of awards in the following forms

options to purchase common shares intended to be nonqualified stock options

share appreciation rights which give the holder the right to receive the difference payable in cash

shares or combination of cash and shares between the fair market value per share on the date of

exercise over the base price of the award which cannot be less than the fair market value of the

underlying shares as of the grant date

restricted shares which are shares subject to restrictions on transferability and subject to forfeiture on

terms set by the administrator

deferred shares which represent the right to receive shares at the end of specified deferral period andl

or upon the attainment of specified performance objectives

performance shares which are shares subject to restrictions that lapse upon the attainment of specified

performance goals

other share-based awards which may include restricted share units RSU5 or performance units

representing the right to receive shares at designated time in the future or dividend equivalents

representing the right to receive payment equal to the cash dividends paid with respect to share

each of which may be subject to terms and conditions including the attainment of performance goals or

period of continued employment and

cash-based awards which may include awards of restricted cash or cash awarded on the attainment of

performance goals

During 2012 we granted approximately 1.2 million options to purchase common shares of Freescale Ltd

with an exercise price of $10.06 per share and 387 thousand total RSUs and performance-based restricted share

units PRSUs to our new CEO under the 2011 Plan Under the terms of each award the underlying options or

110



shares will vest over period of two to four
years The number of common shares underlying each PRSU is

contingent on Company performance measured by annual revenue and earnings per share goals established by

the Compensation and Leadership Committee of the Board of Directors for each annual performance

period Each PRSU entitles the grant recipient to receive from to times the target number of common shares

based on the Companys achievement of the performance goals for each annual performance period The

aggregate fair value of these awards of approximately $11 million is being amortized on straight-line basis to

additional paid-in-capital over periods ranging from two to four years according to each awards vesting

schedule

Non-qualified Options

As of December 31 2012 we had issued approximately 4.6 million non-qualified stock options in Freescale

Ltd 2011 Options which remain outstanding with exercise prices ranging from $8.74 to $17.30 per share to

certain qualified participants pursuant to the 2011 Plan The 2011 Options generally vest at rate of 25% of the

total grant on each of the first second third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant and are subject to the

terms and conditions of the 2011 Plan As of December 31 2012 we had approximately $23 million in

unamortized expense net of expected forfeitures which is being amortized on straight-line basis over period

of four years to additional paid-in capital

The fair value of the 2011 Options was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option

pricing method The assumptions used in the model are outlined in the following table

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31

2012 2011

Weighted average grant date fair value per share $6.93 $7.82

Weighted average assumptions used

Expected volatility 63.0% 80.0%

Expected lives in years 5.00 4.75

Risk free interest rate 0.92% 0.89%

Expected dividend yield

In accordance with ASC Topic 718 the computation of the expected volatility assumptions used in the

Black-Scholes calculations for grants was based on historical volatilities and implied volatilities of peer

companies The Company utilized the volatilities of peer companies due to its lack of extensive history as

public company and the fact that its current equity was not publicly traded prior to May 26 2011 The peer

companies operate in the semiconductor industry and are of similar size When establishing its expected life

assumptions we use the simplified method prescribed in ASC Topic 718 for companies that do not have

adequate historical data The risk-free interest rate is measured as the prevailing yield for U.S Treasury

security with maturity similar to the expected life assumption

summary of changes in the 2011 Options outstanding during the year ended December 31 2012 is

presented below

Wtd Avg Aggregate
Wtd Avg Remaining Intrinsic

Stock Options exercise price Contractual Value

in thousands per share Term Years in millions

Balance at January 2012 890 $12.50

Granted 4259 $13.25

Terminated cancelled or expired 543 $14.77

Exercised

Balance at December 31 2012 4606 $12.13

Exercisable options at December 31 2012 203 $12.64
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Restricted Share Units

Since the IPO RSUs have been granted under the 2011 Plan to certain employees and executives of the

Company While RSUs to the extent earned generally vest at rate of 25% of the total grant on the first second

third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant some RSUs vest at rate of one-third of the total grant on each

of the first second and third anniversaries of the date of grant depending on the award These grants are not

entitled to dividends or voting rights if any until the underlying common shares are delivered The fair value of

the RSU awards is being recognized on straight-line basis over the employee service period

During 2012 and in addition to the CEO PRSUs described above we granted PRSUs to certain executives of

the Company under the 2011 Plan These PRSUs to the extent earned vest at rate of one-third of the total grant

on each of the first second and third anniversaries of the date of grant both are subject to the terms and

conditions of the 2011 Plan The number of common shares underlying each PRSU is contingent on Company

performance measured by annual revenue and earnings per
share goals established by the Compensation and

Leadership Committee of the Board of Directors for each annual performance period Each PRSU entitles the

grant recipient to receive from to 1.50 common shares based on the Companys achievement of the

performance goals for each performance period

As of December 31 2012 we had approximately $48 million in unamortized expense net of expected

forfeitures which is being amortized on straight-line basis to additional paid-in capital over period of three or

four years depending on the award for RSUs and three years for PRSUs Under the terms of the RSU and PRSU

award agreements common shares underlying RSU and PRSU awards are issued to the participant upon vesting

of the award

summary of changes in the RSUs and PRSUs outstanding under the 2011 Plan during the year
ended

December 31 2012 is presented below

RSUs and PRSUs

in thousands

Non-vested RSU and PRSU balance at January 2012 1373

Granted 4046

Vested

Issuances 310
Terminated cancelled or expired 589

Non-vested RSU and PRSU balance at December 31 2012 4520

The total intrinsic value of RSUs issued under this plan during 2012 was $3 million

2006 Management Incentive Plan and 2007 Employee Incentive Plan

Upon completion of the IPO the shares reserved for issuance under the 2006 Management Incentive Plan

2006 MIP and 2007 Employee Incentive Plan 2007 EIP both as described below that were not issued or

subject to outstanding grants became available under the 2011 Plan and no further awards will be made under

the 2006 MIP or 2007 EIP In the event that any outstanding award under the 2011 Plan the 2007 EIP or the

2006 MIP is forfeited for any reason terminates expires or lapses any shares subject to such award will be

available for issuance under the 2011 Plan

Option Exchange

On April 2009 Freescale Ltd granted options to purchase common shares of Freescale Ltd under the

2006 MIP and the 2007 EIP by entering into new non-qualified option agreements
with certain officers and

employees The Compensation and Leadership Committee of the Freescale Ltd Board of Directors approved the

112



form of the non-qualified option agreements in connection with an exchange of existing vested and unvested

Class Limited Partnership Interests in Freescale LP Class Interests and options to purchase Freescale

Ltd common shares both as described below in each case for new options to purchase Freescale Ltd common

shares Option Exchange Under the terms of each of the agreements the new options have term of ten years

and vest and become exercisable in four equal installments on each of the first second third and fourth

anniversaries of the grant date and are subject to the terms and conditions of the investors agreements The

exercise price for the new options granted under both agreements is equal to the fair value per share of Freescale

Ltd common shares on the date of grant

Previously granted options and Class Interests were exchanged for new options with lower exercise

price granted on one-for-one basis for options and on one-for-one hundred forty-four basis for Class

Interests including the 1.2472% Class B-2008 Series Interest discussed later in this Note Options to purchase

an aggregate of approximately million shares of Freescale Ltd common shares 67 thousand Class Interests

and the 1.2472% Class B-2008 Series Interest were exchanged for new options to purchase an aggregate of

approximately million common shares of Freescale Ltd Options granted pursuant to the Option Exchange have

an exercise price of $6.40 per share In accordance with ASC Topic 718 the increase in the fair value of the

Freescale Ltd options that occurred in connection with the Option Exchange resulted in modification charge of

approximately $18 million which is being recognized over the vesting period of the new options four years

less estimated forfeitures

Non-qualified and Rollover Options

In connection with the Merger we adopted the 2006 MIP which authorized share-based awards to be

granted to management key employees and directors for up to 6.0 million common shares On February 2009

the 2006 MIP was amended to allow up to approximately 11.7 million common shares to be issued under this

plan On October 28 2009 the 2006 MIP was further amended to allow up to approximately 13.5 million

common shares to be issued under the plan As of December 31 2012 the Company had issued approximately

6.7 million non-qualified options to purchase its common shares 2006 Options which remain outstanding

with exercise prices ranging from $6.40 to $36.12 per share to certain members of management pursuant to the

2006 MIP These options include those issued in connection with the Option Exchange The 2006 Options vest

25% on each of the first second third and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant and are subject to the terms

and conditions of certain investor agreements As of December 31 2012 we had approximately $7 million in

unamortized expense net of expected forfeitures which is being amortized on straight-line basis over period

of four years to additional paid-in capital The fair value of the 2006 Options was estimated on the date of grant

using the Black-Scholes option pricing method The assumptions used in the model are outlined in the following

table

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31
2011 2010

Weighted average grant date fair value per share $7.43 $4.08

Weighted average assumptions used

Expected volatility 70.0% 77.0%

Expected lives in years 6.25 6.25

Risk free interest rate 1.8% 2.6%

Expected dividend yield
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summary of changes in the 2006 Options outstanding during the year ended December 31 2012 is

presented below

Wtd Avg Aggregate
Wtd Avg Remaining Intrinsic

Stock Options exercise price Contractual Value

in thousands per share Term Years in millions

Balance at January 2012 8436 7.08 $50

Granted

Terminated cancelled or expired 498 $11.40

Exercised 1192 6.42

Balance at December 31 2012 6746 6.88 $30

Exercisable options at December 31 2012 4963 6.98 $30

The intrinsic value of options exercised under this plan during 2012 and 2011 was $9 million and $1

million respectively

Under the 2006 MIP we also issued fully vested options Rollover Options to purchase approximately

0.8 million shares of our common shares in exchange for approximately 143 thousand fully vested Freescale Inc

options held by certain members of management that were not exercised before the closing of the Merger The

number and exercise price for the Rollover Options were determined based on formula that maintained the

intrinsic value of the Freescale Inc options and maintained the fair value of the award before and after

conversion Using the closing price of Freescale Inc.s common shares at the conclusion of the Merger the

average price for the Rollover Options was $22.24 per
share Except as noted for the number and exercise price

the Rollover Options generally maintained the same terms as the options that existed prior to the Merger

The Rollover Options are considered temporary equity under the provisions
of SEC Accounting Series

Release No 268 Presentation in Financial Statements of Redeemable Preferred Stocks due to having

contingent cash-settlement feature upon the death or disability of the option holder and the awards having

intrinsic value as of December 2006 the Grant Date As such the Grant Date intrinsic value of

approximately $11 million recognized in additional paid-in capital should be considered temporary equity of the

Company

In June 2007 we adopted the 2007 EIP which authorized the issuance of up to 0.9 million shares of our

common shares in the form of share-based awards to key employees On October 28 2009 the 2007 EIP was

amended to allow up to approximately 2.1 million shares of to be issued under the plan As of December 31

2012 approximately 1.2 million non-qualified options to purchase our common shares 2007 Options with

exercise prices ranging from $6.40 to $36.12 per share were issued to key employees and remain outstanding

These options include those issued in connection with the Option Exchange The 2007 Options vest 25% on

each of the first second third and fourth anniversaries of the options grant date As of December 31 2012 we

had approximately $1 million in unamortized expense net of expected forfeitures which is being amortized on

straight-line basis over period of four years to additional paid-in capital
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The fair value of the options granted was estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing

method The assumptions used in the model are outlined in the following table

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31
2011 2010

Weighted average grant date fair value per share $7.43 $4.08

Weighted average assumptions used

Expected volatility 70.0% 77.0%

Expected lives in years 6.25 6.25

Risk free interest rate 1.8% 2.6%

Expected dividend yield

summary of changes in the 2007 Options outstanding during the year ended December 31 2012 is

presented below

Wtd Avg Aggregate
Stock Wtd Avg Remaining Intrinsic

Options exercise price Contractual Value

in thousands per share Term Years in millions

Balance at January 2012 1491 $6.92

Granted

Terminated cancelled or expired 93 $7.76

Exercised 176 $6.40

Balance at December 31 2012 1222 $6.93 $37

Exercisable options at December 31 2012 874 $7.08 $27

The intrinsic value of options exercised under this plan during 2012 and 2011 was $1 million and less than

$1 million respectively

Class Interests

In connection with the Merger Freescale LP adopted an equity-based management compensation plan

2006 Interest Plan under which 344 thousand unvested Class Interests in Freescale LP were issued to

thirteen individuals thereby making those individuals parties to the Amended and Restated Agreement of

Limited Partnership of Freescale LP Limited Partnership Agreement Under the provisions of the Limited

Partnership Agreement the Class Interests will participate in any increase in the equity of the partnership

subsequent to the initial contribution The Class Interests awards vest 25% on each of the first second third

and fourth anniversaries of the date of grant The Class Interests are subject to the terms conditions and

restrictions of the Limited Partnership Agreement and the Investors Agreement dated December 2006 In

2009 approximately six thousand Class Interests became vested upon the separation of two executives and

concurrently approximately three thousand Class Interests were forfeited As of December 31 2012

130 thousand Class Interests held by former executives of Freescale Inc remain outstanding These Class

Interests exclude those canceled in exchange for new options to purchase Freescale Ltd common shares in

connection with the Option Exchange

Restricted Stock Units and Deferred Stock Units

Under the terms of the 2006 MIP RSUs were granted to certain members of management key employees

and directors The grants are rights to receive our common shares on one-for-one basis and vest 25% on each of

the first second third and fourth anniversaries of the grant date and are not entitled to dividends or voting rights

if any until they are vested The fair value of the RSU awards is being recognized on straight-line basis over

the employee service period
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During 2009 we also granted performance-based deferred stock units DSUs to certain executives of

Freescale Inc under the 2006 MIP The number of DSUs that could be earned pursuant to such awards range

from zero to twice the number of target DSUs established at the grant date based upon the achievement of

EBITDA and revenue growth levels measured against group of peer companies over three-year period from

January 2009 As of February 2012 these performance-based DSUs were cancelled because the minimum

performance conditions were not achieved

summary of changes in RSUs and DSUs outstanding during the year ended December 31 2012 is

presented below

RSUs and DSUs

in thousands

Non-vested RSU and DSU balance at January 2012 1894

Granted

Vested 457

Issuances 440
Terminated cancelled or expired 1812

Non-vested RSU and DSU balance at December 31 2012 99

The total intrinsic value of RSUs issued under this plan during 2012 2011 and 2010 was $4 million $1

million and $1 million respectively

Under the terms of the RSU award agreements common shares are not issued to the participant upon

vesting of the RSU Shares are issued upon the earlier of the participants termination of employment ii the

participants death iiithe participants disability iv change of control or the seventh anniversary of the

date of grant Vested RSUs are considered outstanding until shares have been issued or the awards have been

cancelled

As of December 31 2012 we had approximately $1 million in unamortized expense
related to RSUs and

DSUs issued under the 2006 MIP net of expected forfeitures which is being amortized on straight-line basis

over period of two to four years to additional paid-in capital

Employee Share Purchase Plan

We initiated an Employee Share Purchase Plan ESPP upon the completion of the IPO for which we

have approximately six million common shares reserved for future issuance Under the ESPP eligible

participants are allowed to purchase common shares of Freescale through payroll deductions of up to 15% of

their compensation on an after-tax basis The price an employee pays per share is 85% of the fair market value of

the common shares on the close of the last trading day of the purchase period The ESPP has two six-month

purchase periods the first of which begins on January and the second of which begins on July

The offering period for the first ESPP began on January 2012 and ended on June 30 2012 During this

offering period approximately 1.4 million common shares of Freescale were issued to participating employees

under the ESPP at discounted price of $8.71 per share The offering period for the second ESPP began on

July 2012 and ended on December 31 2012 On January 32013 approximately 1.2 million common shares of

Freescale were issued to participating employees under the ESPP at discounted price of $9.36 per share During

2012 we recognized $4 million in compensation costs related to the 15% discount offered under this plan

Defined Contribution Plans

We have retirement savings plan covering substantially all eligible U.S employees the Plan The Plan

provides for employer matching contributions Matching contributions may be made in amounts up to 100%

match of each participants pre-tax contributions to the Plan not to exceed 5% of the participants eligible

contribution Under our defined contribution plans matching contributions totaled $29 million in 2012 $31

million in 2011 and $29 million in 2010
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Incentive Plans

We are parties to an incentive awards program under which the Company has the authority to grant cash

bonuses to employees In conjunction with this awards program Freescale Inc established the 2012 First half

and 2012 Second Half Freescale Bonus Plan Freescale Inc plans to allocate an incentive pooi percentage to each

designated employee for each semi-annual period during the calendar year The employees incentive award then

will be determined by us based on the employees allocated portion of the incentive pool our performance

against pre-established objectives and the employees individual performance subject to adjustment at our sole

discretion No
expense was recorded in 2012 as the company did not achieve the pre-established performance

objectives for the 2012 First Half and 2012 Second Half Freescale Bonus Plan We recognized expense of $59

million in 2011 and $102 million in 2010 related to this program

Pension and Post-retirement Benefit Plans

In accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 715 Compensation Retirement Benefits we recognize

the funded status of our defined-benefit postretirement plans on our accompanying audited Consolidated Balance

Sheets and changes in the funded status are reflected in comprehensive earnings in the accompanying audited

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss The measurement date for all U.S and non-U.S plans was

December 31st for 2012 and 2011

Pension Benefits

At the Distribution Date the pension benefits for all active U.S employees were frozen Obligations related

to retired and other vested participants as of the Distribution Date remained the responsibility of Motorola We
did not adopt new U.S pension plan Most of Freescale Inc.s non-U.S retirement benefit plans were frozen as

of the Distribution with respect to our employees with the obligation for retirees and vested participants

remaining the responsibility of Motorola and Freescale Inc no longer participating in the Motorola plans We

continue to offer defined benefit plans to approximately 2600 non-U.S employees

Net periodic benefit cost for pension plans was $11 million $11 million and $10 million in 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively Our contributions to these plans aggregated to $3 million $5 million and $3 million in 2012

2011 and 2010 respectively

The weighted average assumptions for these benefit plans as of December 31 2012 and 2011 were as

follows

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Discount rates 3.00% 3.50%

Expected return on plan assets 3.40% 3.00%

Rate of compensation increase 3.00% 2.70%

The overall expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on expected returns on individual asset

types included in asset portfolios provided by pension plan fund managers as well as expected interest on

insurance contracts purchased to fund pension benefits

The accumulated benefit obligation ABO for all defined benefit plans was $139 million and $116 million

at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively The projected benefit obligation of these plans was $155 million

and $129 million at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively At December 31 2012 and 2011 plan assets of

approximately $55 million and $54 million respectively were principally invested in equity debt and

guaranteed investment securities
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Post-retirement Health Care Benefits

Certain retiree benefits are available to eligible U.S employees meeting certain age and service

requirements upon termination of employment through the Motorola Post-retirement Healthcare Plan At the

Distribution Date Freescale Inc assumed responsibility for the retiree medical benefit obligation for all eligible

retired participants active vested participants and active participants who vest within the three year period

following the Distribution

The components of the expense we incurred under the Post-retirement Healthcare Plan were as follows

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010

Service cost

Interest cost

Net amortization of losses

One-time deviation

Post-retirement expense
$7 $9 $9

The measurement date for the valuation of our obligations and assets for the Post-retirement Healthcare Plan

was December 31st for 2012 and 2011 Our obligation consists of an ABO and represents the actuarial present

value of benefits payable to plan participants for services rendered at the valuation date Our obligation to the

Post-retirement Healthcare Plan is as follows

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010

Benefit obligation

Beginning of year
$158 $177 $165

Service cost

Interest cost

Actuarial loss gain 10 18 14

Benefits paid net 10 12
Prior service cost

Other

One-time deviation

$166 $158 $177

Benefit payments which reflect expected future service are estimated to be $8 million in 2013 $9 million

in 2014 $10 million in 2015 $11 million in 2016 $12 million in 2017 and $63 million for the next five years

thereafter

The weighted average assumptions for these retiree medical benefits as of December 31 2012 and 2011

were as follows

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Discount rate 3.75% 4.75%

Assumed health care trend rate for next year
7.24% 7.84%

Assumed ultimate health care trend rate 5.00% 5.00%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2020 2019
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The assumed discount rate is based on market rates as of the measurement date and is utilized in calculating

the actuarial present value of our obligation periodic expense and health care cost trend rate for the Post-

retirement Healthcare Plan

The assumed health care cost trend rate represents our estimate of the annual rates of change in the costs of

the health care benefits currently provided by the Post-retirement Healthcare Plan The estimated effect of 1%

increase in assumed health care cost trends would increase 2013 costs by $1 million and increase the benefit

obligation at December 31 2012 by $15 million The estimated effect of 1% decrease in assumed health care

cost trends would decrease 2013 costs by $1 million and decrease the benefit obligation at December 31 2012 by

$13 million

The reconciliation of the funded status of the Post-retirement Healthcare Plan is as follows

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Benefit obligation $166 $158
Fair value of plan assets

Funded status 166 158
Unrecognized net gain 23 34
Unrecognized prior service cost

Accrued cost $194 $192

Plan Assets Underlying Pension Plans

The pension plans for certain of our foreign subsidiaries have underlying assets while pension plans of

other foreign subsidiaries are unfunded Our overall investment strategy with regard to these pension assets is to

achieve wide diversification of asset types fund strategies and fund managers with resulting future cash flows

associated with such investments sufficient to fund anticipated future pension payments The target allocations

for plan assets are 30% equity securities and 70% fixed income securities with minimal cash investment

although the actual plan asset allocations may be within specified range of these targets Equity securities

primarily include investments in U.S and international large-cap and mid-cap companies Fixed income

securities include international government securities corporate bonds from diversified industries municipal

bonds and U.S Treasury securities Cash investments primarily include cash balances and investments in time

deposits The actual asset allocations are reviewed and rebalanced on periodic basis to maintain the target

allocations The portfolio diversification provides protection against single security or class of securities having

disproportionate impact on aggregate performance

The fair values of our pension plan assets at December 31 2012 and 2011 by asset category utilizing the

fair value hierarchy discussed in Note Fair Value Measurements are as follows

Quoted Prices Significant

in Active Other

Markets for Observable

As of December 31 2012 Identical Assets Inputs

Total Level Level

Asset Category

Common collective trust $41 $41

Insurance contracts 14 14

Total Assets $55 $55
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Quoted Prices Significant

in Active Other

Markets for Observable

As of December 31 2011 Identical Assets Inputs

Total Level Level

Asset Category

Common collective trust $42 $42

Insurance contracts 12 12

Total Assets $54 $54

Our interest in the common collective trust investments are managed by one custodian Consistent with our

investment strategy the custodian has invested the assets across widely diversified portfolio of U.S and

international equity and fixed income securities Fair values of each security within the collective trust as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 were obtained from the custodian and are based on quoted market prices of

individual investments however since the fund itself does not have immediate liquidity or quoted market

price these assets are considered Level

Our insurance contract pension assets represent claim on policy value which are independent from the

value of investments underlying it as the insurer is obliged to guarantee this amount regardless of how the

amount is invested ii the value of the insurers investment at point in time and iii the future fluctuations in

value of the insurers assets underlying the policies This guaranty is demanded by the German Federal Insurance

Board and any insurer must accept and declare this guaranty
in its business terms otherwise their terms are not

approved The value of the insurance contracts is considered Level There were no Level instruments at

December 31 2012 or 2011

Income Taxes

The Company is Bermuda exempted company Bermuda does not impose corporate income tax Our

operations are conducted through our various subsidiaries in number of countries throughout the world

Consequently income taxes have been provided based on the laws and rates in effect in the countries in which

operations are conducted or in which we or our subsidiaries are considered resident for income tax purposes

Components of loss before income taxes are as follows

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010

Bermuda 13
United States 301 536 1313
Foreign 209 167 241

$lOO $382 $1078
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Components of income tax expense benefit are as follows

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010

Current

United States

Foreign 23 19 28

Total current $23 $19 $28

Deferred

United States 11

Foreign 14 51

Total deferred $25 $13 $47

Non-current

United States 10
Foreign 36

Total non-current $46 $4 $6
Total expense benefit for income taxes $2 $28 $25

Cash paid for taxes net of cash refunds was $18 million $25 million and $14 million for 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively

ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes ASC Topic 740 requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by

valuation allowance if based on all available evidence it is considered more likely than not that some portion or

all of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future period As we have incurred cumulative

losses in the United States the Company recorded valuation allowance on substantially all of its U.S net

deferred tax assets after considering all positive and negative factors as to the recoverability of these assets In

addition we recorded valuation allowances in certain foreign jurisdictions after considering all positive and

negative factors as to the recoverability of these assets

The provision for income taxes differed from the amount computed by applying the Bermuda statutory rate

of 0% to our loss before tax as follows

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010

Provision at Bermuda Statutory rate of zero

Taxes on U.S and foreign losses earnings which are different than

the Bermuda rate 71 136 394
Valuation allowance on deferred taxes 131 207 427

Research credits 12 32 21
Foreign capital incentive 10 34
Other activity in unrecognized tax benefits 44
Other

$2 $28 $25

portion of our operations are eligible for reduced or zero tax rate under various tax holidays which

expire in whole or in part through 2020 The income tax benefits attributable to the tax status of the subsidiaries

with tax holidays are estimated to be approximately $2 million $3 million and $2 million for 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively The benefit of the tax holidays on diluted net loss per
share was $0.01 in each of the three

years 2012 2011 and 2010
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Significant components of deferred tax assets liabilities are as follows

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Tax carryforwards 703 785

Accrued interest 308 155

Depreciation 225 262

Employee benefits 102 99

Other capitalized items 84 85

Accrued intercompany expenses 66 57

Share-based compensation 44 44

Inventory 41 44

Deferred revenue 34

Other net 23 30

Foreign capital incentive 25 29

Sales bad debt and warranty reserves 20 23

Environmental reserves 16 15

Investments 10 10

Capitalized research and development

Undistributed foreign earnings 406 445
Valuation allowance 1156 1030

Net deferred tax assets 141 163

We have provided additional deferred taxes for the anticipated repatriation of earnings of our foreign

subsidiaries where our management has determined that the foreign subsidiaries earnings are not indefinitely

reinvested For foreign subsidiaries whose earnings are indefinitely reinvested no provision for income taxes has

been provided It is not practicable to reasonably estimate the amount of additional income tax liabilities that may
be payable should these earnings be distributed in the future

Gross deferred tax assets were $1842 million and $1788 million at December 31 2012 and 2011

respectively Gross deferred tax liabilities were $545 million and $595 million at December 31 2012 and 2011

respectively The Companys deferred tax positions are reflected in the following captions on the accompanying

audited Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Other current assets 86 94

Other assets 101 100

Accrued liabilities

Other liabilities 43 __
Net deferred tax assets $141 $163

At December 31 2012 and 2011 we had valuation allowances of $1089 million and $955 million

respectively against certain of our deferred tax assets in the United States and valuation allowances of $67

million and $75 million respectively against net deferred tax assets of certain foreign subsidiaries respectively

to reflect the deferred tax assets at the net amounts that are more likely than not to be realized Valuation

allowances have been recorded on substantially all our U.S deferred tax assets as we have incurred cumulative

losses in the United States We have not recognized all of the tax benefits for these losses as we are precluded

from considering the impact of future forecasted earnings pursuant to the provisions of ASC Topic 740 in

assessing whether it is more likely than not that all or portion of our deferred tax assets may be recoverable

The Company computes cumulative losses for these
purposes by adjusting U.S pre-tax results excluding the
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cumulative effects of accounting method changes and including discontinued operations and other non

recurring items such as restructuring or impairment charges for permanent items During 2012 we recorded

net increase in our valuation allowance of $126 million This net increase consisted of $134 million increase in

our U.S valuation allowance partially offset by an $8 million decrease in our overall foreign valuation

allowance The increase in the U.S valuation allowance is attributable to an overall increase in U.S net deferred

tax assets $134 million of which was recorded through deferred tax expense The decrease in the foreign

valuation allowance was result of $3 million deferred tax benefit and $5 million deferred tax benefit

recorded in other comprehensive earnings

At December 31 2012 we had U.S federal net operating losses of $609 million which expire in the

years 2016 through 2031 ii state net operating losses of $300 million which expire in the years 2015 through

2032 and iiiforeign capital losses of $47 million and foreign net operating losses of $110 million which expire

starting in 2013 We had U.S federal research credits of $241 million which expire in the years 2015 through

2031 ii state research credits of $101 million which expire in the years 2018 through 2027 and iii foreign

research credits of $8 million which expire in the years 2027 through 2032 We also had U.S foreign tax credits

of $174 million which expire in the years 2013 through 2022 If certain substantial changes in the Companys

ownership occur there would be an annual limitation on the amount of U.S federal carryforwards that can be

utilized

We account for uncertainty in tax positions in accordance with ASC Topic 740 which prescribes

recognition threshold and measurement criteria for financial statement recognition of tax position taken or

expected to be taken in tax return ASC Topic 740 requires us to recognize in our financial statements the

impact of tax position if that position is more likely than not of being sustained upon examination including

resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes
based on the technical merits of the position The

interpretation also provides guidance on derecognition classification interest and penalties accounting for

interim periods disclosure and transition

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was

as follows

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31
2012 2011 2010

Balance as of beginning of year $207 $210 $207

Tax positions related to the current year

Additions 10

Reductions

Tax positions related to prior years

Additions

Reductions 22
Foreign currency translation adjustments

Settlements

Lapses in statutes of limitations 17
Balance as of end of year $168 $207 $210

As of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 unrecognized tax benefits were $168 million $207 million and

$210 million respectively During 2012 the reduction of $22 million on unrecognized tax benefits from prior

years primarily related to favorable resolutions of European tax audit issues The total liability for unrecognized

tax benefits at December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 was $173 million $217 million and $218 million

respectively The amount of tax benefits included in this total liability which if recognized would affect our

effective tax rate is $28 million $61 million and $66 million as of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively The remaining portion of the total liability in each year represents tax benefits that were offset by

valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets and would not have an impact to the effective tax rate
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We recognized accrued interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as part of the tax

provision and these amounts are included in income tax expense During 2012 we released $4 million of reserves

for interest and penalties During 2011 we accrued $2 million of reserves for interest and penalties During 2010

we released $4 million of interest and penalties As of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 we had accrued

interest and penalties of $6 million $10 million and $8 million respectively

We file U.S state and foreign income tax returns in jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations Our

income tax returns for the 2004 through 2011 tax years are currently under examination by various taxing

authorities around the world Although the resolution of open audits is highly uncertain management considers it

unlikely that the results of these examinations will have material negative impact on our financial condition or

results of operations It is reasonably possible that our existing liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits may

increase or decrease in the next twelve months primarily due to the progression of open audits or the expiration

of statutes of limitation The liability for unrecognized tax benefits is expected to decrease by approximately $48

million during the next twelve months primarily due to the lapsing of statutes With few exceptions we are not

subject to tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2004

On January 2013 President Obama signed into law the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 the ATR
Act which included an extension of the federal research and development credit retroactively to 2012 and

prospectively through 2013 The effects of the ATR Act are recognized in 2013 The renewal of this credit is not

anticipated to change the Companys effective tax rate because the Company has incurred cumulative domestic

losses and has recorded valuation allowances against substantially all its domestic deferred tax assets

Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

Leases

We own most of our major facilities however we do lease certain office factory and warehouse space

land information technology and other equipment under principally noncancellable operating leases expiring

through 2019 Rental expense net of sublease income for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

was $36 million $34 million and $34 million respectively Future minimum lease payments net of minimum

sublease rentals of such operating leases for each of the five years subsequent to December 31 2012 are $34

million $26 million $18 million $15 million and $14 million respectively and $8 million thereafter Minimum

sublease income on operating leases is approximately $3 million in 2013 and less than $1 million in 2014

Currently there is no minimum sublease income scheduled beyond 2014

As of December 31 2012 and 2011 we had $1 million and $3 million respectively in capital lease

obligations We recorded $1 million in capital lease obligations for each of the three years ending December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 Future minimum lease payments under capital leases for 2013 are $1 million Currently

there are no significant capital lease payments scheduled beyond 2013

In 2011 we executed the sale and partial leaseback of our facilities in Tempe Arizona and East Kilbride

Scotland We received $57 million in cash proceeds for the sale of these properties resulting in $17 million

gain of which substantial portion was deferred This deferred gain is being amortized in proportion to our gross

rental expense over the term of our operating leases at these properties in accordance with ASC Subtopic 840-

40 Sale-Leaseback Transactions During 2012 we recognized $3 million of this deferred gain as reduction of

our gross rental expense

Other Commitments

Product purchase commitments associated with our strategic manufacturing relationships with our wafer

foundries and for assembly and test services include take or pay provisions based on volume commitments for

work in progress and forecasted demand based on 18-month rolling forecasts which are adjusted monthly The

commitment under these relationships is $55 million as of December 31 2012
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We have multi-year commitments under various software service supply and other contracts requiring

payments for each of the five years subsequent to December 31 2012 of $102 million $62 million $34 million

$16 million $10 million respectively Currently there are no payments related to these items scheduled beyond

2017

Contingencies

Environmental

Under the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980 as amended

CERCLA or Superfund and equivalent state law Motorola has been designated as Potentially Responsible

Party by the United States Environmental Protection Agency with respect to certain waste sites with which the

Companys operations may have had direct or indirect involvement Such designations are made regardless of the

extent of Motorolas involvement Pursuant to the master separation and distribution agreement entered into in

connection with our spin-off from Motorola Freescale Inc has indemnified Motorola for these liabilities going

forward These claims are in various stages of administrative or judicial proceedings They include demands for

recovery of past governmental costs and for future investigations or remedial actions The remedial efforts

include environmental cleanup costs and communication programs In many cases the dollar amounts of the

claims have not been specified and have been asserted against number of other entities for the same cost

recovery or other relief as was asserted against Freescale Inc We accrue costs associated with environmental

matters when they become probable and reasonably estimable by recording the future estimated cash flows

associated with such costs on discounted basis as the amount and timing of cash payments become fixed or

readily determinable for the estimated remediation periods ranging from years to over 50 years

Due to the uncertain nature the actual costs that will be incurred could differ significantly from the amounts

accrued As of December 31 2012 and 2011 the undiscounted future cash flows are estimated at $83 million and

$90 million respectively The expected payments for 2013 through 2017 are $6 million $5 million $3 million

$3 million and $3 million respectively with remaining expected payments of $63 million anticipated thereafter

Accruals at December 31 2012 and 2011 were $44 million utilizing discount rate of 4.4% and $42 million

utilizing discount rate of 5.3% respectively the majority of which are included in other liabilities on the

accompanying audited Consolidated Balance Sheets with related charges reversals to operating earnings of $3

million $2 million and $5 million in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively These amounts represent only our

estimated share of costs incurred in environmental cleanup sites without considering recovery of costs from any

other party or insurer since in most cases Potentially Responsible Parties other than us may exist and be held

responsible

Litigation

We are defendant in various lawsuits including intellectual property suits noted in this section and are

subject to various claims which arise in the normal course of business The Company records an associated

liability when loss is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable

From time to time we are involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business including

tort contractual and customer disputes claims before the United States Equal Employment Opportunity

Commission and other employee grievances and intellectual property litigation and infringement claims

Intellectual property litigation and infringement claims could cause us to incur significant expenses or prevent us

from selling our products Under agreements with Motorola Freescale Inc must indemnify Motorola for certain

liabilities related to our business incurred prior to our separation from Motorola

On April 17 2007 Tessera filed lawsuit in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of

Texas against ATI Freescale Inc Motorola and Qualconim claiming an unspecified amount of monetary

damage as compensation for the alleged infringement of two identified patents related to ball grid array

packaging technology The lawsuit was subsequently transferred to the United States District Court for the
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Northern District of California The case is proceeding through the discovery phase of litigation and is currently

set for trial in April of 2014 We continue to assess the merits of the United States District Court litigation and

have recorded no associated liability as of December 31 2012

The resolution of intellectual property litigation including those matters described above may require us to

pay damages for past infringement or to obtain license under the other partys intellectual property rights that

could require one-time license fees or ongoing royalties require us to make material changes to our products and

or manufacturing processes require us to cross-license certain of our patents and other intellectual property and

or prohibit us from manufacturing or selling one or more products in certain jurisdictions which could adversely

impact our operating results in future periods If any of those events were to occur our business financial

condition and results of operations could be adversely affected

Other Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business we regularly execute contracts that contain customary indemnification

provisions Additionally from time to time we execute contracts considered outside the ordinary course of

business which may contain broader indemnification provisions and other reimbursement obligations for costs

related to epidemic failure of Freescale product late delivery or breach of confidentiality Examples of these

types of agreements include customer supply contracts business divestitures business acquisitions settlement

agreements and third-party performance guarantees In each of these circumstances payment by us is

conditioned on the other party making claim pursuant to the procedures specified in the particular contract

which procedures typically allow us to challenge the other partys claims Further our obligations under these

agreements may be limited in terms of duration and/or amounts not in excess of the contract value and in some

instances we may have recourse against third parties for certain payments made by us

Historically we have not made significant payments for indenmification provisions contained in these

agreements During 2012 we recorded benefit of $4 million to reorganization of business and other for the

expiration of indemnification obligations under contract previously executed outside the ordinary course of

business At December 31 2012 we have no remaining accruals related to known estimated indemnification

obligations We believe that if we were to incur additional losses with respect to any unknown matters at

December 31 2012 such losses would not have material negative impact on our financial position results of

operations or cash flows

Asset Impairment Charges

We review our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that

the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable We evaluate the recoverability of long-lived assets to

be held and used by comparing the carrying value of the assets to the estimated future net undiscounted cash

flows expected to be generated by the assets An asset is considered impaired if the carrying value of the asset is

greater than its estimated future net undiscounted cash flows

We measure the impairment to be recognized from assets to be held and used as the amount by which the

carrying value of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets The fair value of the asset is the quoted market

price if available or discounted cash flows using discount rate commensurate with the risk inherent in our

current business model for the specific asset being valued To compute the estimated expected future cash flows

on discounted and undiscounted basis we group assets at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash

flows We base our estimates of future cash flows on historical and current financial results and managements

best estimates of future operating trends We project cash inflows and outflows until the operations will cease or

significant capital re-investment would be required to continue operations whichever is shorter In evaluating

assets held for use for impairment we also consider whether the events that triggered the impairment analysis

give rise to change in the estimated useful lives of the associated assets Asset useful lives are adjusted when

appropriate
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Asset impairment charges of $49 million and $6 million have been included in reorganization of business

and other in the accompanying audited Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years December 31 2011
and 2010 respectively in accordance with ASC Topic 360 Impairment and Disposal of Long Lived Assets

ASC Topic 360 The 2011 charges related primarily to our former manufacturing facility in Sendai Japan

which suffered extensive infrastructure equipment and inventory damage as the result of the March 2011

earthquake The 2010 charges related to our former manufacturing facility in East Kilbride Scotland Refer to

Note 10 Reorganization of Business and Other for further details regarding these charges

10 Reorganization of Business and Other

Chief Executive Leadership Transition

During 2012 $13 million net charge was recorded in reorganization of business and other related to the

change in the executive leadership of the Company The majority of this amount was charge related to

indemnification and other provisions included in Gregg Lowes our current president and CEO employment

agreement along with other costs associated with his hiring We also recognized costs related to the successful

transition of duties of our former Chairman of the Board and CEO

2012 Strategic Realignment

Following the appointment of Gregg Lowe as president and CEO we completed strategic review with the

overall objective of identifying opportunities that would accelerate revenue growth and improve profitability and

have shifted our research and development investment and sales force to reflect our changing strategic focus We
recorded charge of $52 million to reorganization of business and other comprised of non-cash accelerated

amortization charge along with cash costs for employee termination benefits and other exit costs incurred in

connection with re-allocating research and development resources and re-aligning sales resources

The following table displays roll-forward from January 2012 to December 31 2012 of the employee

separation and exit cost accruals established related to the 2012 Strategic Realignment

Accruals at 2012 Accruals at

January Amounts December 31
in millions except headcount 2012 Charges Adjustments Used 2012

Employee Separation Costs

Supply chain

Selling general and administrative 14 11

Research and development 16 13

Total 38 $30

Related headcount 660 390 270

Exit and Other Costs $2

In 2012 we recorded $38 million in cash charges for severance costs of which $8 million were paid to

employees separated as part of the 2012 Strategic Realignment The accrual of $30 million at December 31 2012

reflects the estimated liability to be paid to employees separated during 2012 and the remaining 270 employees

to be separated through the end of 2013 based on current exchange rates Additionally we recorded $3 million in

exit and other costs primarily related to additional compensation for employees who were deemed crucial to the

implementation of the 2012 Strategic Realignment plan in accordance with ASC Topic 420 Exit or Disposal

Cost Obligations ASC Topic 420 During 2012 we paid $1 million of these exit costs

Accelerated Amortization Charge

In connection with the re-allocation of research and development resources under the 2012 Strategic

Realignment we will no longer pursue certain products and technologies As result and in accordance with

ASC Topic 360 we have recorded charge of $11 million to reorganization of business and other based on the
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reassessment of useful lives and related acceleration of remaining amortization for certain of our purchased

licenses which have no future benefit due to being directly related to programs we have cancelled Refer to Note

Other Financial Data for further details regarding this charge

Sendai Japan Fabrication Facility and Design Center

On March 11 2011 9.0-magnitude earthquake off the coast of Japan caused extensive infrastructure

equipment and inventory damage to our 150 millimeter fabrication facility and design center in Sendai Japan

The design center was vacant and being marketed for sale at the time of the earthquake The fabrication facility

was previously scheduled to close in the fourth quarter of 2011 The extensive earthquake damage to the facility

and the interruption of basic services coupled with numerous major aftershocks and the resulting environment

prohibited us from returning the facility to an operational level required for wafer production in reasonable time

frame As result the Sendai Japan fabrication facility ceased operations at the time of the earthquake and we

were unable to bring the facility back up to operational condition due to the extensive damage to our facilities

and equipment During 2012 we recorded $90 million benefit attributable to finalizing our business

interruption insurance recoveries which was partially offset by $9 million of expenses related to on-going closure

costs and costs associated with the dissolution of the Sendai Japan entity We also recorded benefit of $9

million related to proceeds received in connection of the sale of the Sendai Japan design center Additionally in

2012 the remaining $3 million of contract termination exit costs previously accrued in connection with the site

closure were paid

Reorganization of Business Program

In 2008 we began executing series of restructuring initiatives under the Reorganization of Business

Program that streamlined our cost structure and re-directed some research and development investments into

expected growth markets The closure of our Toulouse France manufacturing facility occurred during the third

quarter of 2012 The only remaining actions relating to the Reorganization of Business Program are the disposal

or sale of the land and buildings located in Sendai Japan and the decommissioning of the land and buildings at

our Toulouse France manufacturing facility along with payment of the remaining separation costs

At each reporting date we evaluate our accruals for exit costs and employee separation costs which consist

primarily of separation benefits principally severance and relocation payments to ensure that our accruals are

still appropriate In certain circumstances accruals are no longer required because of efficiencies in carrying out

our plans or because employees previously identified for separation resign unexpectedly and do not receive

severance or are redeployed due to circumstances not foreseen when the original plans were initiated We reverse

accruals to earnings when it is determined they are no longer required

The following table displays roll-forward from January 2012 to December 31 2012 of the employee

separation and exit cost accruals established related to the Reorganization of Business Program

Accruals at Adjustments 2012 Accruals at

January Currency Amounts December 31

in millions except headcount
2012 Charges Impact Used 2012

Employee Separation Costs

Supply chain $106 30 77

Selling general and administrative

Research and development 14 12

Total $128 17 $81

Related headcount 720 200 520

Exit and Other Costs $6
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The $30 million used reflects cash payments made to employees separated as part of the Reorganization of

Business Program in 2012 We have adjusted our anticipated future severance payments by $14 million to

incorporate the currency impact in the above presentation These adjustments reflect the strengthening of the

U.S dollar against the Euro partially offset by the weakening of the U.S dollar against the Japanese Yen since

the charges were originally recorded in 2009 Additionally we reversed $3 million of accruals related to the

finalization of the closure of the Sendai Japan manufacturing facility The accrual of $81 million at

December 31 2012 reflects the estimated liability to be paid to the remaining 520 employees through 2014 based

on current exchange rates Additionally during 2012 we recorded and paid $2 million in exit costs related to

the termination of various supply agreements in connection with the closure of our Toulouse France

manufacturing facility and ii restructured lease agreement where we had previously recorded charges for

vacant office space resulting in an adjustment of $2 million and payments of $4 million during the year These

amounts were recorded in accordance with ASC Topic 420

Other Contingencies and Disposition Activities

During 2012 we recorded benefits totaling $16 million primarily related to the expiration of

indemnification obligations under contract previously executed outside the ordinary course of business and the

expiration of contractual obligations associated with the wind down of our cellular handset business

Additionally we incurred $18 million of on-going closure and decommissioning costs associated with the

closure our Toulouse France manufacturing facility and net $5 million contract termination charge related to

our corporate aircraft lease agreement accounted for in accordance with ASC Topic 420

Year Ended December 31 2011

IPO-Related Costs

During 2011 and in connection with the IPO we recorded $71 million of cash costs primarily attributable to

the termination of management agreements with affiliates and advisors of the Sponsors Refer to Note 11

Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions for further discussion

Sendai Japan Fabrication Facility and Design Center

During 2011 we reported $11 million in net charges associated with non-cash asset impairment and

inventory charges and cash costs for employee termination benefits contract termination and other on-going

closure costs which were partially offset by insurance proceeds received in connection with the March 2011

earthquake that occurred off the coast of Japan

The following table displays roll-forward from January 2011 to December 31 2011 of the employee

termination benefits and exit cost accruals established related to the closing of our fabrication facility in Sendai

Japan

Accruals at 2011 Accruals at

January Amounts December 31
in millions except headcount 2011 Charges Adjustments Used 2011

Employee Separation Costs

Supply chain 12

Selling general and administrative

Research and development

Total $12

Related headcount 480 100 380

Exit and Other Costs $12 $3
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We recorded $12 million in employee termination benefits associated with the closure of the Sendai Japan

fabrication facility in 2011 The $9 million used reflects cash payments made to employees separated as part of

this action in 2011 We reversed $3 million of employee termination benefits as result of 100 employees

previously identified as eligible for such benefits who either were temporarily redeployed due to circumstances

not foreseen when the original plan was approved or have forfeited these benefits in connection with establishing

other employment outside the Company In addition we also recorded $10 million net of exit costs related to the

termination of various supply contracts During 2011 $7 million of these exit costs were paid

Asset Impairment Charges Disposition Activities and Other Costs

As result of the significant structural and equipment damage to the Sendai Japan fabrication facility and

the Sendai Japan design center we recorded $49 million in non-cash asset impairment charges in 2011 We also

had raw materials and work-in-process inventory that were destroyed or damaged either during the earthquake or

afterwards due to power outages continuing aftershocks and other earthquake-related events As result we

recorded non-cash inventory net charge of $14 million directly attributable to the impact of the earthquake in

2011 We also recorded benefit of $10 million in connection with the sale of certain tools and equipment

previously impaired and $2 million benefit related to the settlement of the majority of our Sendai Japan

subsidiarys pension plan liability In addition we incurred $36 million of on-going closure costs due to

inactivity subsequent to the March 11 2011 earthquake

Insurance Recoveries

During 2011 we recorded $95 million benefit for insurance recoveries based on an agreement with our

insurance carriers regarding the impact of the property and inventory damage to our Sendai Japan facilities and

related business interruption losses as result of the March 11 2011 earthquake

Reorganization of Business Program

The following table displays roll-forward from January 2011 to December 31 2011 of the employee

separation and exit cost accruals established related to the Reorganization of Business Program

Accruals at 2011 Accruals at

January Amounts December 31

in millions except headcount 2011 Charges Adjustments Used 2011

Employee Separation Costs

Supply chain 157 51 $106

Selling general and administrative 12

Research and development 16 14

Total 185 57 $128

Related headcount 1420 700 720

Exit and Other Costs 15 $6

The $57 million used reflects cash payments made to employees separated as part of the Reorganization of

Business Program in 2011 Severance accruals for employees at our Sendai Japan facility related to the original

Reorganization of Business Program are reflected in the table above refer to the prior section Sendai Japan

Fabrication Facility and Design Center for other charges associated with this facility in 2011 as result of the

earthquake in Japan In addition in connection with our Reorganization of Business Program we recorded $2

million of exit costs associated with the sale and leaseback of our facility in Tempe Arizona that were not

eligible for deferral This amount was offset by $3 million benefit related to exit costs associated primarily with

underutilized office space previously vacated in connection with our Reorganization of Business Program and

subsequently sublet During 2011 $8 million of these exit costs were paid
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11 Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions

Arrangements with our investors

Prior to the IPO we had management agreements with affiliates or advisors of the Sponsors and other

investors in Freescale LP pursuant to which the Sponsors and other investors in Freescale LP or their affiliates

officers employees and/or representatives and/or co-investors the Advisors provided management and

advisory services to us Pursuant to the agreements the Advisors received an aggregate annual management fee

equal to 1.5% of our annual Adjusted EBITDA and reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the

Advisors pursuant to the agreements Also the Advisors could receive additional compensation for investment

banking or other advisory services provided to the Company by the Advisors or any of their affiliates in

connection with specific acquisition divestiture refinancing recapitalization or similar transaction or ii other

consulting services provided to the Company by the Advisors and out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the

Advisors while providing such consulting services The management agreements included customary exculpation

and indemnification provisions in the favor of the Advisors The management agreements were terminated by us

in connection with the completion of the IPO in the second quarter of 2011 Pursuant to the terms of the

management agreements the Advisors received $68 million payment in 2011 from us in consideration for the

termination of these services Refer to Note 10 Reorganization of Business and Other for further discussion

For the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 we recorded management fees of $12 million and $17 million

respectively in selling general and administrative expense

12 Supplemental Enterprise-Wide Information

Geographic Region information

The following geographic region information includes net sales as measured by each of our subsidiaries

from which our products were sold to external customers as well as property plant equipment based on

physical location Net sales by country for the
years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 as well as

property plant equipment as of December 31 2012 and 2011 were as follows

Net Sales

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31 December 31 December 31

2012 2011 2010

Hong Kong $1107 $1403 $1481

United States 1061 1126 960

Switzerland 929 1232 1180

Malaysia 606 543 225

Japan 227 245 233

Singapore 359

Other nations 15 23 20

$3945 $4572 $4458

Property Plant Equipment

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

United States $346 $377

Malaysia 211 242

China 85 77

Other nations 73 76

$715 $772
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Product Group Revenues

During the periods presented we aligned our product revenues into five focused product groups

Microcontrollers Digital Networking Automotive MCUs Analog and Sensors and Radio Frequency We also

derive net sales from Other which consists of product sales associated with end markets outside of target

markets including the cellular market intellectual property sales foundry wafer sales to other semiconductor

companies and net sales from sources other than semiconductors Net sales by product group for the years
ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 were as follows

Year ended Year ended Year ended

December 31 December 31 December 31

2012 2011 2010

Microcontrollers 707 790 801

Digital Networking 852 928 1013

Automotive MCUs 986 1072 1013

Analog and Sensors 722 785 700

Radio Frequency 303 418 356

Other 375 579 575

$3945 $4572 $4458

Major Customers

Continental Automotive represented 15% 13% and 12% of our total net sales in 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively No other end customer represented more than 10% of our total net sales in any of the last three

years

13 Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

The following table presents the valuation and qualifying account activity for the years ended December 31

2OI2and2Oll

Additions

Balance at charged to

beginning of costs Balance at

period expenses Deductions end of period

As of December 31 2012

Allowance for doubtful accounts $2 $2

Product and service warranties $4 $6

As of December 31 2011

Allowance for doubtful accounts $2 $2

Product and service warranties $6 $4

Accrual Usage

14 Supplemental Guarantor Condensed Consolidating Financial Statements

Pursuant to the terms of our acquisition by consortium of private equity funds Sponsors in

transaction referred to as the Merger in December 2006 Freescale Inc continues as wholly owned indirect

subsidiary of Freescale Ltd The reporting entity subsequent to the Merger is Freescale Ltd

In connection with the Merger and subsequent debt refinancing transactions we had $3674 million

aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes outstanding as of December 31 2012 as disclosed in Note Debt

The senior secured notes are jointly and severally guaranteed on secured senior basis the senior unsecured

notes are jointly and severally guaranteed on an unsecured senior basis and the senior subordinated notes are
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jointly and severally guaranteed on an unsecured senior subordinated basis in each case subject to certain

exceptions by Freescale Ltd its wholly owned subsidiaries created in connection with the Merger and

SigmaTel LLC together the Guarantors Each Guarantor fully and unconditionally guarantees jointly and

severally with the other Guarantors as primary obligor and not merely as surety the due and punctual

payment and performance of the obligations As of December 31 2012 other than Sigmalel LLC none of

Freescale Inc.s domestic or foreign subsidiaries Non-Guarantors guarantee the Senior Notes or Credit

Facility In the future other subsidiaries may be required to guarantee all or portion of the Senior Notes if and

to the extent they guarantee the Credit Facility The relationship between the Company and the parent

companies is defined and discussed in Note Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The following tables present our results of operations comprehensive loss financial position and cash flows

of Freescale Ltd the Guarantors Freescale Inc the Non-Guarantors and eliminations as of December 31 2012

and December 31 2011 and for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31 2012

Freescale Ltd Guarantors Freescale Inc Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Net sales $5179 $5339 $6573 $3945

Cost of sales 3827 5050 6573 2304

Gross margin 1352 289 1641

Selling general and administrative 643 184 396 438

Research and development 471 271 742

Amortization expense for acquired

intangible assets 13 13

Reorganization of businesses and

other 35 20 15

Operating loss earnings 260 186 396 463

Loss on extinguishment or

modification of long-term debt net 32 32
Other income expense net 92 94 141 405 981 531

Earnings loss before income taxes 85 94 87 219 585 100
Income tax benefit expense

Net earnings loss $85 $94 94 210 585 102
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Loss

For the Year Ended December 31 2012

Net earnings loss

Other comprehensive earnings net of

Derivative instrument

adjustments

Unrealized gains arising

during the period

Less reclassification

adjustment for items

included in net earnings

loss

Post-retirement adjustments

Net loss arising during the

period

Other comprehensive earnings loss

Comprehensive earnings loss $85

12

12

$95 $198

$585 $102

18

11

$585 $113

Net sales

Cost of sales

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31 2011

Gross margin

Selling general and administrative

Research and development

Amortization expense for acquired

intangible assets

Reorganization of businesses and

other

Operating loss earnings

Loss on extinguishment or

modification of long-term debt net

Other expense income net

Loss earnings before income taxes

Income tax expense

Net loss earnings

Eliminations Consolidated

$7804 $4572

7804 2677

1895

374 510

797

232

82

374 274

97

_______
559

382
28

373 410

in millions

tax

Freescale Ltd Guarantors Freescale Inc Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

85 $94 $210
____

94

94

Freescale Ltd Guarantors Freescale Inc Non-Guarantors

$6078

4486

1592

12 664

504

232

58

13 134

$6298

5995

303

208

293

23

221

386

165

14

151

306

319

$319

306

306

$306

97
332

295
14

309

373
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Loss

For the Year Ended December 31 2011

in millions Freescale Ltd Guarantors Freescale Inc Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Net loss earnings $319 $306 $309 $151 $373 $410

Other comprehensive earnings net of

tax

Foreign currency translation

adjustments

Derivative instrument

adjustments

Unrealized losses arising

during the period

Post-retirement adjustments

Net gain loss arising

during the period 18 11
Other comprehensive earnings loss 14 16
Comprehensive loss earnings $319 $306 $295 $135 $373 $412

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the Year Ended December 31 2010

Freescale Ltd Guarantors Freescale Inc Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Net sales 5967 $6503 $8012 4458
Cost of sales 4610 6170 8012 2768

Gross margin 1357 333 1690

Selling general and

administrative 657 197 357 502

Research and development 518 264 782

Amortization expense for

acquired intangible assets 467 467

Reorganization of businesses

and other

Operating loss 294 119 357 61
Loss on extinguishment or

modification of long-term

debt net 417 417
Other expense income net 1048 1047 328 353 1470 600

Loss earnings before income

taxes 1053 1047 1039 234 1827 1078
Income tax expense benefit 34 25
Net loss earnings $1053 $1047 $1048 268 1827 $1053
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Comprehensive Loss

For the Year Ended December 31 2010

in millions Freescale Ltd Guarantors Freescale Inc Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Net loss earnings $l053 $1047 $1048 $268 $1827 $l053

Other comprehensive loss net of tax

Foreign currency translation

adjustments

Derivative instrument

adjustments

Unrealized losses arising

during the period

Post-retirement adjustments

Net loss arising during the

period 16 16

Other comprehensive loss earnings 17 16

Comprehensive loss earnings $1053 $1047 $1065 $269 $1827 $1069

Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

December 31 2012

Freescale Ltd Guarantors Freescale Inc Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
104 606 711

Inter-company receivable 213 397 459 1069
Accounts receivable net 99 285 384

Inventory net 280 517 797

Other current assets 105 61 166

Total current assets 214 985 1928 1069 2058

Property plant and equipment net 346 369 715

Investment in affiliates 4717 4717 1600 7834

Intangible assets net 64 64

Inter-company note receivable 114 157 271
Other assets net 166 168 334

Total Assets $4503 $4603 3161 $2622 6494 3171

Liabilities and Stockholders

Deficit Equity

Current portion of long-term debt

and capital lease obligations

Inter-company payable
697 372 1069

Accounts payable
179 144 323

Accrued liabilities and other 337 206 543

Total current liabilities 1219 722 1069 872

Long-term debt 6375 6375

Inter-company note payable
43 114 114 271

Other liabilities 284 170 455

Total liabilities 44 114 7878 1006 1340 7702

Total stockholders deficit

equity 4547 4717 4717 1616 7834 4531

Total Liabilities and

Stockholders Deficit

Equity $4503 $4603 3161 $2622 6494 3171
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

December 31 2011

Freescale Ltd Guarantors Freescale Inc Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 56 714 772

Inter-company receivable 200 430 505 1135
Accounts receivable net 127 332 459

Inventory net 290 513 803

Other current assets 124 74 198

Total current assets 202 1027 2138 1135 2232

Property plant and equipment net 378 394 772

Investment in affiliates 4645 4643 1607 7681

Intangible assets net 83 84

Inter-company note receivable 110 12 148 270
Other assets net 171 156 327

Total Assets $4443 $4533 3278 $2837 6276 3415

Liabilities and Stockholders

Deficit Equity

Current portion of long-term debt

and capital lease obligations

Inter-company payable 569 566 1135
Accounts payable 187 160 347

Accrued liabilities and other 284 167 451

Total current liabilities 1041 894 1135 800

Long-term debt 6589 6589

Inter-company note payable 37 111 122 270
Other liabilities 291 214 506

Total liabilities 37 112 7921 1230 1405 7895

Total stockholders deficit

equity 4480 4645 4643 1607 7681 4480

Total Liabilities and

Stockholders Deficit

Equity $4443 $4533 3278 $2837 6276 3415
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31 2012

Freescale Ltd Guarantors Freescale Inc Non-Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities

Net earnings loss 85 94 94 210 $585 $102

Dividends from affiliates
203 203

Non-cash adjustments 73 94 285 228 588 364

Proceeds from insurance settlements 78 18 96

Deferred intellectual property revenue 86 86

Changes in operating assets and

liabilities 12 150 228 94

Cash flow used for provided by

operating activities 326 228 203 350

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases for property plant and

equipment 58 65 123
Proceeds from sale of property plant

and equipment and assets held for

sale
18 19

Sales and purchases of short-term and

other investments net

Payments for purchase licenses and

other assets 32 41 73

Inter-company loan receivable

dividends and capital contributions 28 30 37 30

Cash flow used for investing activities 28 30 51 97 30 176

Cash flows from financing activities

Retirements of and payments for long-

term debt capital lease obligations

and notes payable 733 734

Debt issuance proceeds net of debt

issuance costs 481 481

Proceeds from stock option exercises

and ESPP share purchases 21 21

Inter-company loan payable dividends

and capital contributions 31 25 235 173

Cash flow provided by used for

financing activities 27 31 227 236 173 232

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

and cash equivalents ______c_

Net decrease increase in cash and cash

equivalents
48 108 61

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of

period
56 714 772

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 104 606 711
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31 2011

Freescale Non
Ltd Guarantors Freescale Inc Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss earnings $319 $306 309 151 373 410
Dividends from affiliates 80 80
Non-cash adjustments 318 567 392 231 610 898

Proceeds from business interruption and

inventory insurance recoveries 14 38 52

Changes in operating assets and liabilities 10 259 73 339 220 441

Cash flow provided by operating activities 104 81 97 99

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases for property plant and equipment 83 52 135
Proceeds from sale of property plant and

equipment and assets held for sale 55 13 68

Sales and purchases of short-term and other

investments net

Payments for purchased licenses and other

assets 36 26 62
Contribution of proceeds from IPO of

common shares and over-allotment

exercise net of offering costs 838 838 1676

Proceeds from property and casualty

insurance recoveries 37 37

Inter-company loan receivable dividends and

capital contributions 10 11

Cash flow used for investing activities 838 838 62 38 1687 89
Cash flows from financing activities

Retirements of and payments for long-term

debt capital lease obligations and notes

payable 1850 1853
Debt issuance proceeds net of debt issuance

costs 724 724

Proceeds from IPO of common shares and

over-allotment exercise net of offering

costs 838 838

Receipt of contribution of net proceeds from

IPO of common shares and over-allotment

exercise 838 838 1676
Other

Inter-company loan payable dividends and

capital contributions 76 86

Cash flow provided by used for financing

activities 831 836 288 79 1590 290

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and

cash equivalents

Net increase decrease in cash and cash

equivalents 246 27 271
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 302 741 1043

Cash and cash equivalents end of period $2 56 $714 772
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Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31 2010

Freescale Non
Ltd Guarantors Freescale Inc Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Cash flows from operating activities

Net loss earnings $1053 $1047 $1048 268 1827 $1053

Dividends from affiliates

Non-cash adjustments 1030 94 1347 206 1204 1473

Changes in operating assets and liabilities 953 464 103 623 26

Cash flow used for provided by operating

activities 18 165 577 394

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases for property plant and equipment 88 193 281

Proceeds from sale of property plant and

equipment and assets held for sale 19 22

Sales and purchases of short-term and other

investments net 34 35

Payments for purchased licenses and other

assets 19 77 96

Inter-company loan receivable dividends and

capital contributions 168 174 122 116

Cash flow used for provided by investing

activities 134 71 373 116 320

Cash flows from financing activities

Retirements of and payments for long-term

debt capital lease obligations and notes

payable
3113 68 3181

Debt issuance proceeds net of debt issuance

costs 2798 2798

Inter-company loan payable dividends and

capital contributions 18 104 61 67 116

Cash flow provided by used for financing

activities 18 104 254 135 116 383

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and

cashequivalents 11 _____ 11

Net decrease increase in cash and cash

equivalents 30 359 69 320

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 30 661 672 1363

Cash and cash equivalents end of period
302 $741 1043
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15 Quarterly and Other Financial Data unaudited

2012 Operating Results in millions except per share data 4th 3rd 2nd 1st

Net sales 957 $1009 $1029 950

Gross margin 375 424 440 402

Operating earnings 56 127 112 168

Net loss 35 24 34
Net loss

per common share

Basic $0.14 $0.10 $0.14 $0.04
Diluted 0.14 0.10 0.14 0.04

2011 Operating Results in millions except per share data 4th 3rd 2nd 1st

Net sales $1013 $1142 $1223 $1194
Gross margin 413 481 517 484

Operating earnings loss 136 110 31

Netloss 88 168 148
Net loss per common share

Basic 0.02 0.36 0.79 0.75
Diluted 0.02 0.36 0.79 0.75

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Managements Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The term disclosure controls and procedures is defined in Rules 3a- 15e and Sd- 15e of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 the Exchange Act This term refers to the controls and procedures of company that

are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by company in the reports it files under the

Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC An
evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of the Companys management

including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the Companys
disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31 2012 Based on that evaluation the Companys

management including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer the principal executive officer

and principal financial officer respectively concluded that the Companys disclosure controls and procedures

were effective as of December 31 2012 During the year ending on December 31 2012 there was no change in

the Companys internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to

materially affect the Companys internal control over financial reporting

The certifications of the Companys Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required under

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have been filed as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this report

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15f under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 The Companys internal

control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes

in accordance with U.S GAAP
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Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Therefore even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance

with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2012 using the criteria set forth in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on this assessment management

believes that as of December 31 2012 the Companys internal control over financial reporting was effective

based on those criteria

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Our independent registered accounting firm KPMG LLP independently assessed the effectiveness of the

Companys internal control over financial reporting as stated in their attestation report
which is included at the

beginning of Part II Item of this Amended Report on Form 10-K

Change in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financial reporting occurred during our most recent fiscal year that

has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

Compliance Disclosure

Pursuant to Section 13r of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the Exchange Act we are

required to include certain disclosures in our periodic filings if we or any of our affiliates engaged in certain

transactions with Iran or with persons or entities designated under certain executive orders during the period

covered by the periodic filing During 2012 the Company did not engage in any transactions with Iran or with

persons or entities related to Iran

Funds affiliated with The Blackstone Group Blackstone hold 25% of the total outstanding voting shares

of Freescale GP the general partner of our largest shareholder Freescale LP which beneficially owns

approximately 79% of the Companys shares Blackstone and the Company are parties to shareholders

agreement under which Blackstone among other things has the right to designate two directors to our board of

directors Accordingly Blackstone may be deemed an affiliate of the Company as that term is defined in

Exchange Act Rule 12b-2 Subsequent to the initial filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K we received

notice from Blackstone that it had determined to include in its Annual Report on Form 10-K disclosures

regarding two of its portfolio companies TRW Automotive Holdings Corp TRW and Travelport Limited

Travelport that may be deemed to be affiliates of Blackstone Because of the broad definition of affiliate in

Exchange Act Rule 2b-2 these portfolio companies of Blackstone through Blackstone ownership of Freescale

GP and Freescale LP may also be deemed to be affiliates of ours Accordingly we note that Blackstones

Annual Report on Form 10-K states that in 2012 certain of TRWs non-U.S subsidiaries sold products to

customers that could be affiliated with or deemed to be acting on behalf of the Industrial Development and

Renovation Organization which has been designated as an agency of the Government of Iran Gross revenue

attributable to such sales was approximately $8326000 and net profit from such sales was approximately

$377000 TRW also states that those activities have been discontinued With regard to Travelport Blackstone

Annual Report on Form 10-K disclosed that as part of Travelports global business in the travel industry

Travelport provides certain passenger travel-related GDS and airline IT services to Iran Air and airline IT

services to Iran Air Tours Travelport intends to continue these business activities as such activities are either

exempt from applicable sanctions prohibitions or specifically licensed by the U.S Office of Foreign Assets

Control No information was provided with respect to the gross revenues and net profits attributable to
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Travelports activities Other than as described above we have no knowledge of the activities of TRW and

Travelport with respect to the transactions with Iran and we have not independently verified or participated in

the preparation of the disclosures described in this paragraph

Certain of our Sponsors are continuing to review the transactions of their portfolio companies and to the

extent they make additional disclosures under Section 13r we will provide updates in our subsequent periodic

filings
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PART Ill

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The response to this Item incorporates by reference with respect to directors and executive officers the

information under the captions Election of Directors and Executive Officers of our 2013 Proxy Statement

and with respect to the Audit and Legal Committee the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee the

Finance Committee and the Compensation and Leadership Committee the information under the captions

Board Structure and Compensation and Report of the Audit and Legal Committee of our 2013 Proxy

Statement

The response to this Item incorporates by reference the information under the caption Section 16a

Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance of our 2013 Proxy Statement

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted Code of Business Conduct and Ethics which applies to our senior financial officers

including our Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Chief Accounting Officer and any other person

performing similar functions The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on our website

www.freescale.com We intend to disclose on our website any amendments to or waivers of this Code of

Business Conduct and Ethics

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The response to this Item incorporates by reference the information appearing
under the captions Board

Structure and Compensation Executive Compensation Employment Contracts Termination of Employment

and Change-in-Control Arrangements Compensation Committee Interlocks and Compensation and

Leadership Committee Report of our 2013 Proxy Statement

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The response to this Item incorporates by reference the information under the captions Equity

Compensation Plan Information and Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management of

our 2013 Proxy Statement

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The response to this Item incorporates by reference the relevant information under the captions Certain

Relationships and Related Party Transactions and Board Structure and Compensation of our 2013 Proxy

Statement

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The response to this Item incorporates by reference the information under the caption Independent

Registered Public Accounting Firm of our 2013 Proxy Statement
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

a1 Financial Statements

The information required by this Item is included in Item of Part II of this
report

a2 Financial Statement Schedules

None

a3 Exhibits

See Item 15b below

Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger dated September 15 2006 by and among Freescale Semiconductor

Inc Firestone Holdings LLC and Firestone Acquisition Corporation incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 2.1 to the Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the

SEC on March 2007 File No 333-141128

3.1 Memorandum of Association of Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Ltd formerly Firestone

Holdings Bermuda Ltd incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on Form S- 1/A filed with the SEC on April 25 2011

File No 333-172 188

3.2 Certificate of Incorporation of Freescale Holdings Bermuda Ltd as issued by the Bermuda

Registrar of Companies on November 2006 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the

Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on March

2007 File No 333-141128

3.3 Amended and Restated Bye-laws of Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Ltd incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on June 2011

3.4 Amended and Restated Agreement of Exempted Limited Partnership of Freescale Holdings L.P
dated February 11 2008 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.21 to the Freescale Semiconductor

Ltd Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2007 filed with the SEC

on March 13 2008

4.1 Senior Notes Indenture dated as of December 2006 among Freescale Acquisition Corporation the

Guarantors listed therein and The Bank Of New York as Trustee for $500000000 Senior Floating

Rate Notes Due 2014 $1500000000 9.125% 9.875% Senior P1K-Election Notes Due 2014 and

$2350000000 7/8% Senior Fixed Rate Notes Due 2014 including the forms of notes

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement

on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on March 2007 File No 333-141128

4.2 Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture dated as of December 2006 among Freescale Acquisition

Corporation the Guarantors listed therein and The Bank Of New York as Trustee for

$1600000000 10 1/8% Senior Subordinated Notes Due 2016 including the form of note

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement

on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on March 2007 File No 333-141128
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

4.3 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 2006 by and among Freescale Semiconductor

Inc the guarantors listed therein and The Bank of New York as Trustee to the Senior Notes Indenture

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement

on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on March 2007 File No 333-141128

4.4 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of December 2006 by and among Freescale

Semiconductor Inc the guarantors listed therein and The Bank of New York as Trustee to the

Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on March 2007

File No 333-141128

4.5 Registration Rights Agreement dated December 2006 by and among Freescale Holdings L.P and

certain Freescale Holdings L.P investors incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.11 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on March 2007

File No 333-141128

4.6 Warrant Agreement dated December 2006 between Freescale Holdings Bermuda Ltd and

Freescale Holdings L.P incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to the Freescale Semiconductor

Inc Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on March 2007

File No 333-141128

4.7 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 20 2008 between Sigmalel Inc and The Bank of

New York as trustee to the Senior Notes Indenture as previously supplemented by first

supplemental indenture thereto each dated as of December 2006 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.1 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal

quarter ended June 27 2008 filed with the SEC on July 28 2008

4.8 Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 20 2008 between SigmaTel Inc and The Bank of

New York as trustee to the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture as previously supplemented by

first supplemental indenture thereto each dated as of December 2006 incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.2 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal

quarter ended June 27 2008 filed with the SEC on July 28 2008

4.9 Indenture dated as of February 19 2010 by and among Freescale the Guarantors named therein and

The Bank of New York Mellon as Trustee governing the 10.125% Senior Secured Notes including

the form of notes incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 22 2010

4.10 Indenture dated as of April 13 2010 by and among Freescale the Guarantors named therein and

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A as Trustee governing the 9.25% Senior

Secured Notes including the form of note incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 14 2010

4.11 Indenture dated as of September 30 2010 by and among Freescale the Guarantors named therein

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A as Trustee governing the 10.75% Senior

Notes including the form of notes incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2010

4.12 Registration Rights Agreement dated September 30 2010 by and among Freescale the Guarantors

party thereto and Citigroup Global Markets Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 2010

4.13 Indenture dated as of June 10 2011 among Freescale Semiconductor Inc the guarantors listed therein

and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company N.A as Trustee governing the 8.05% Senior

Notes due 2020 including the form of notes incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 14 2011
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

4.14 Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 10 2011 among Freescale Semiconductor Inc
the guarantors listed therein and Barclays Capital Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to

the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 14
2011

10.1 Freescale Holdings 2006 Management Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to

the Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on

March 2007 File No 333-141128

10.2 Form of Freescale Holdings Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.8 to the Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with

the SEC on March 82007 File No 333-141128

10.3 Form of Freescale Holdings Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement Rollover Option incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement on

Form S-4 filed with the SEC on March 2007 File No 333-141128

10.4 Form of Freescale Holdings Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.10 to the Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with

the SEC on March 2007 File No 333-141128

10.5 Freescale Holdings Dividend Rights Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the

Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on March

2007 File No 333-141 128
10.6 Form of Freescale Holdings L.P Award Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to

the Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on

March 2007 File No 333-141128

10.7 Freescale Holdings L.P 2006 Interest Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the

Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on March

2007 File No 333-141128

10.8 Security Agreement dated as of December 2006 among Freescale Acquisition Corporation as

Borrower prior to the Merger Freescale Semiconductor Inc as Borrower after the Merger
Freescale Acquisition Holdings Corp as Holdings Freescale Holdings Bermuda IV Ltd as

Foreign Holdings certain subsidiaries of Parent identified therein and Citibank N.A as Collateral

Agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Freescale Semiconductor Inc Registration

Statement on Form S-4 filed with the SEC on March 2007 File No 333-141128

10.9 Guaranty dated as of December 2006 among Freescale Acquisition Holdings Corp as Holdings
Freescale Holdings Bermuda Ltd Freescale Holdings Bermuda II Ltd Freescale Holdings

Bermuda III Ltd as Parent Freescale Holdings Bermuda IV Ltd as Foreign Holdings certain

subsidiaries of Parent identified therein and Citibank N.A as Administrative Agent incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on

Form 5-1/A filed with the SEC on April 2011 File No 333-172188

10.10 Intellectual Property Security Agreement dated as of December 2006 among Freescale

Acquisition Corporation as Borrower before the Merger Freescale Semiconductor Inc as

Borrower after the Merger Freescale Holdings Acquisition Corp as Holdings certain

subsidiaries of Freescale Holdings Bermuda III Ltd identified therein and Citibank N.A as

Collateral Agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Registration Statement on Form S-i/A filed with the SEC on April 25 2011

File No 333-172 188
10.11 Employment Agreement dated February 11 2008 between Freescale Semiconductor Inc and

Richard Beyer incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 14 2008
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

10.12 Form of Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Ltd Performance-Based Restricted Cash Award

Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2007 filed with the SEC on March 13

2008

10.13 Form Employment Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on Form S-i/A filed with the SEC on March 17 2011

File No 333-172188

10.14 Form of Supplement to the Intellectual Property Security Agreement dated as of December 2006

among Freescale Acquisition Holdings Corp n/k/a Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Inc

Freescale Semiconductor Inc the Subsidiaries of Freescale Holdings Bermuda III Ltd n/Ida

Freescale Semiconductor Holdings III Ltd from time to time party thereto and Citibank N.A

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 27 2008 filed with the SEC on July 28 2008

10.15 Supplement No dated as of June 2008 between SigmaTel Inc and Citibank N.A as

Administrative Agent under the Guaranty dated as of December 2006 among Freescale

Semiconductor Holdings Inc formerly known as Freescale Acquisition Holdings Corp

Freescale Semiconductor Holdings III Ltd formerly known as Freescale Holdings Bermuda III

Ltd Parent Freescale Semiconductor Holdings IV Ltd formerly known as Freescale

Holdings Bermuda IV Ltd Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Ltd formerly known as

Freescale Holdings Bermuda Ltd Freescale Semiconductor Holdings II Ltd formerly known

as Freescale Holdings Bermuda II Ltd the subsidiaries of Parent from time to time party thereto

and Citibank N.A as Administrative Agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the

Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 27

2008 filed with the SEC on July 28 2008

10.16 Supplement No dated as of June 2008 between Sigmalel Inc and Citibank N.A as

Collateral Agent under the Security Agreement dated as of December 2006 among Freescale

Semiconductor Holdings Inc formerly known as Freescale Acquisition Holdings Corp

Freescale Semiconductor Inc successor in interest to Freescale Acquisition Corporation

Freescale Semiconductor Holdings IV Ltd formerly known as Freescale Holdings Bermuda IV

Ltd the Subsidiaries of Freescale Semiconductor Holdings III Ltd formerly known as Freescale

Holdings Bermuda III Ltd from time to time party thereto and Citibank N.A as Collateral

Agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Registration

Statement on Form S-i/A filed with the SEC on April 2011 File No 333-172188

10.17 Freescale Holdings L.P Award Agreement dated as of April 2008 between Freescale Holdings

L.P and Richard Beyer incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Holdings Ltd Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended

June 27 2008 filed with the SEC on July 28 2008

10.18 Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement dated as of April

2008 between Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Ltd and Richard Beyer incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Quarterly Report on Form iO-Q for

the fiscal quarter ended June 27 2008 filed with the SEC on July 28 2008

10.19 Freescale Semiconductor Inc Deferred Compensation Agreement dated as of February ii2008

between Freescale Semiconductor Inc and Richard Beyer incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.6 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Quarterly Report on Form iO-Q for the fiscal

quarter ended June 27 2008 filed with the SEC on July 28 2008

10.20 Amended and Restated Freescale Semiconductor Holdings 2007 Employee Incentive Plan

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Quarterly Report on

Form 0-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 27 2008 filed with the SEC on July 28 2008
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

10.21 Freescale Semiconductor Inc 2008 Incentive Performance Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.23 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on Form S-i/A filed

with the SEC on March 17 2011 File No 333-172188

10.22 Form of Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreement to be used under the Freescale Semiconductor

Holdings Ltd 2006 Management Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 23 2008

10.23 Form of Restricted Cash Award Agreement to be used under the Freescale Semiconductor Holdings

Ltd 2007 Employee Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 23 2008

10.24 Form of Indemnification Agreement for the Companys Directors and certain officers incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to the Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Ltd Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2008 filed with the SEC on February 2009

10.25 Amendment to the Freescale Holdings 2006 Management Incentive Plan dated February 2009

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2008 filed with the SEC on February 2009

10.26 Form of Amendment to the Employment Agreement for certain officers incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.30 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on Form S-i/A filed

with the SEC on March 17 2011 File No 333-172188

10.27 Incremental Amendment dated as of March 17 2009 by and among Freescale Semiconductor Inc
as Borrower Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Inc Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Ltd
Freescale Semiconductor Holdings II Ltd Freescale Semiconductor Holdings IV Ltd Freescale

Semiconductor Holdings III Ltd each of the subsidiary guarantors party thereto the New Term
Lenders as defined therein and Citibank N.A as Administrative Agent Collateral Agent and

Incremental Collateral Agent incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 17 2009

10.28 Form of Freescale Holdings 2006 Management Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option

Agreement in exchange for Class Interests incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the

Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 2009

10.29 Form of Freescale Holdings 2006 Management Incentive Plan Nonqualified Stock Option

Agreement in exchange for existing stock options incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the

Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 2009

10.30 Form of Freescale Holdings 2006 Management Incentive Plan Deferred Stock Unit Award Agreement

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 2009 filed with the SEC on April 24 2009

10.31 Amendment to the Freescale Holdings 2006 Management Incentive Plan dated October 28 2009

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 2009

10.32 Amendment to the Amended and Restated Freescale Semiconductor Holdings 2007 Employee

Incentive Plan dated October 28 2009 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 2009

10.33 Form of Freescale Holdings GP Ltd and Freescale Semiconductor Inc Second Amendment to

Employment Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on Form S-i/A filed with the SEC on March 17 2011

File No 333-172 188
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

10.34 Security Agreement dated February 19 2010 by and between Freescale the Guarantors party

thereto and Citibank N.A in its capacity as collateral agent for the holders of the 10.125% Senior

Secured Notes incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Registration Statement on Form S-i/A filed with the SEC on March 17 2011

File No 333-172188

10.35 Intellectual Property Security Agreement dated February 19 2010 by and between Freescale the

guarantors party
thereto and Citibank N.A in its capacity as collateral agent for the holders of the

10.125% Senior Secured Notes incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on Form S-i/A filed with the SEC on March 17 2011

File No 333-172188

10.36 Amendment Agreement dated as of February 19 2010 to the Credit Agreement dated as of

December 2006 among Freescale the guarantors party thereto the lenders party thereto and

Citibank N.A in its capacity as collateral agent for the lenders incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.40 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on Form S-i/A filed

with the SEC on April 2011 File No 333-172188

10.37 Form of Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 2006 as amended and

restated as of February 19 2010 among Freescale the guarantors party thereto the lenders party

thereto and Citibank N.A in its capacity as collateral agent for the lenders incorporated by

reference as Exhibit to Exhibit 10.40 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement

on Form S-i/A filed with the SEC on April 2011 File No 333-172188

10.38 Amendment No dated as of March 2011 to the Credit Agreement dated as of December

2006 as amended and restated as of February 19 2010 among Freescale the guarantors party

thereto the lenders party
thereto and Citibank N.A in its capacity as administrative agent for the

lenders incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Registration Statement on Form 5-1/A filed with the SEC on April 2011 File No 333-172188

10.39 Security Agreement dated April 13 2010 by and between Freescale the Guarantors party thereto

and Citibank N.A in its capacity as collateral agent for the holders of the 9.25% Senior Secured

Notes incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current

Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 14 2010

10.40 Intellectual Property Security Agreement dated April 13 2010 by and between Freescale the

Guarantors party thereto and Citibank N.A in its capacity as collateral agent for the holders of the

9.25% Senior Secured Notes incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on Form S-i/A filed with the SEC on April 2011

File No 333-172 188

10.4 Form of 2006 Management Incentive Plan Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Annual Report on

Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February ii2011

10.42 Form of 2006 Management Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Annual Report on Form 10-K

filed with the SEC on February 11 2011

10.43 Separation and Release Agreement dated January 12 2011 by and between Freescale

Semiconductor Inc and Alex Pepe incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 11 2011

10.44 Employment Agreement dated May 2009 between Freescale Semiconductor Inc and

Reza Kazerounian incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Registration Statement on Form S-l/A filed with the SEC on March 17 2011 File No 333-172 188
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

10.45 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated June 2011 by and among Freescale

Holdings L.P Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Ltd and certain Freescale Holdings L.P
investors incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current

Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 2011

10.46 Shareholders Agreement of Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Ltd dated June 2011 by and

among Freescale Holdings L.P Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Ltd each of the Blackstone

Investors as defined therein each of the Carlyle Investors as defined therein each of the TPG
Investors as defined therein and each of the TPG Investors as defined therein incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the SEC on June 2011

10.47 Amended and Restated Investors Rights Agreement dated June 2011 by and among Freescale

Holdings L.P the Company Freescale Semiconductor Holdings II Ltd Freescale Semiconductor

Holdings III Ltd Freescale Semiconductor Holdings IV Ltd Freescale Semiconductor Holdings

Inc Freescale Semiconductor Inc certain Freescale Holdings L.P investors and certain

Stockholders of the Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 2011

10.48 Form of officer and director indemnification agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59

to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on Form S-hA filed with the SEC on

April 25 2011 File No 333-172188

10.49 Employer Health Program Agreement dated July 2008 between Equity Healthcare LLC and

Freescale Semiconductor Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on Form S-i/A filed with the SEC on April 25 2011

File No 333-172188

10.50 Agreement Relating to Termination of Management Fee Agreement dated June 2011 between

Freescale Semiconductor Inc and Blackstone Management Partners L.L.C incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed

with the SEC on June 2011

10.51 Agreement Relating to Termination of Management Fee Agreement dated June 2011 between

Freescale Semiconductor Inc and Permira Advisors London Limited incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.5 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on June 32011

10.52 Agreement Relating to Termination of Management Fee Agreement dated June 2011 between

Freescale Semiconductor Inc and Permira Advisors LLC incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6

to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June

2011

10.53 Agreement Relating to Termination of Management Fee Agreement dated June 2011 between

Freescale Semiconductor Inc and IC Group IV L.L.C incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to

the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 2011

10.54 Agreement Relating to Termination of Management Fee Agreement dated June 2011 between

Freescale Semiconductor Inc and TPG GenPar IV AIV L.P incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.8 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on June 32011

10.55 Agreement Relating to Termination of Management Fee Agreement dated June 2011 between

Freescale Semiconductor Inc and TPG GenPar AIV L.P incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.9 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on June 2011
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

10.56 Form of Freescale Semiconductor Inc 2011 Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.62 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on Form S-i/A filed

with the SEC on April 25 2011 File No 333-172188

10.57 Freescale Semiconductor Holdings 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.10 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC

on June 32011

10.58 Freescale Semiconductor Holdings Ltd Employee Share Purchase Plan incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on

Form S-8 filed with the SEC on June 29 2011 File No 333-175 194

10.59 Reimbursement Agreement dated March 10 2008 between Freescale Semiconductor Inc and

TPG Capital L.P incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Registration Statement on Form S-I/A filed with the SEC on April 25 2011

File No 333-172188

10.60 Reimbursement Agreement dated May 2009 between Freescale Semiconductor Inc and TPG

Capital L.P incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Registration Statement on Form S-i/A filed with the SEC on April 25 2011 File No 333-

172188

10.61 Amendment No to Reimbursement Agreement dated November 2009 between Freescale

Semiconductor Inc and TPG Capital L.P incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 to the

Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Registration Statement on Form S-I/A filed with the SEC on

April 25 2011 File No 333-172188

10.62 Form Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement employees to the Freescale Semiconductor

Holdings 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 2012

10.63 Form Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement senior management to the Freescale

Semiconductor Holdings 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62

to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on

February 2012

10.64 Form Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement employees to the Freescale Semiconductor

Holdings 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 2012

10.65 Form Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement senior management to the Freescale Semiconductor

Holdings 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 2012

10.66 Form Performance Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement to the Freescale Semiconductor

Holdings 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 2012

10.67 Form Restricted Share Unit Award Agreement select to the Freescale Semiconductor Holdings

2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 2012

10.68 Amendment Agreement dated as of February 28 2012 to the Amended and Restated Credit

Agreement dated as of December 2006 as amended and restated as of February 19 2010 among

Freescale the guarantors party thereto the lenders party thereto and Citibank N.A as

administrative agent for the lenders incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 29 2012
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

10.69 Transition and Release Agreement dated as of June 2012 between the Company Freescale

Holdings GP Ltd and Richard Beyer incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 2012

10.70 Employment Agreement dated as of May 31 2012 between the Company and Gregg Lowe
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 2012

10.71 Freescale Semiconductor Holdings 2011 Omnibus Plan Performance Restricted Share Unit Award
Agreement dated as of May 31 2012 between Freescale Semiconductor Ltd and Gregg Lowe
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 29 2012 filed with the SEC on July 20 2012

10.72 Freescale Semiconductor Holdings 2011 Omnibus Plan Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement
dated as of May 31 2012 between Freescale Semiconductor Ltd and Gregg Lowe incorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the fiscal quarter ended June 29 2012 filed with the SEC on July 20 2012

10.73 Freescale Semiconductor Holdings 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Make Whole Restricted Share

Unit Award Agreement dated as of May 31 2012 between Freescale Semiconductor Ltd and

Gregg Lowe incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended June 29 2012 filed with the SEC on

July 20 2012

10.74 Freescale Semiconductor Holdings 2011 Omnibus Incentive Plan Form Restricted Share Unit

Award AgreementDirector incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 29 2012
filed with the SEC on July 20 2012

12.1 Statement of Computation of Ratios

21.1 Subsidiaries of Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer

32.1 Section 1350 Certification Chief Executive Officer

32.2 Section 1350 Certification Chief Financial Officer

101 Interactive Data Files

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan arrangement

Furnished not filed
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Freescale

Semiconductor Ltd has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly

authorized

FREESCALE SEMICONDUCTOR LTD

By Is GREGG LOWE

Gregg Lowe

President and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

February 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed

below by the following persons on behalf of Freescale Semiconductor Ltd and in the capacities and on the

dates indicated

Signature
Title

Date

/5/ GREGG LOWE President Chief Executive Officer February 2013

Gregg Lowe and Director

Principal Executive Officer

Is ALAN CAMPBELL Chief Financial Officer February 2013

Alan Campbell Principal Financial Officer

Is RANDY HYzAK Chief Accounting Officer February 2013

Randy Hyzak
Principal Accounting Officer

Is RIcHARD BEYER Director February
2013

Richard Beyer

Is CHINH CHu Director February 2013

Chinh Chu

Is JOHN DIcKsoN Director February 2013

John Dickson

Is DANIEL HENEGHAN Director February 2013

Daniel Heneghan

Is THOMAS LI5TER Director February 2013

Thomas Lister

Is JOHN MARREN Director February 2013

John Marren

Is DANIEL MccRANIE Chairman of the Board February 2013

Daniel McCranie

/s JAMES QuELLA Director February 2013

James Quella
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Signature Title Date

Is PETER SMITHAM Director
February 2013

Peter Smitham

/s GREGoRY SuMME Director
February 2013

Gregory Summe

/s CLAuDIus WArrs Iv Director
February 2013

Claudius Watts IV
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Freescale Semiconductor Ltd

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures

Unaudited

in millions

Adjusted operating loss earnings

Incremental depreciation expense ag
Amortization expense for acquired intangible assets

Reorganization of business and other

Operating loss earnings

Adjusted net loss earnings

Purchase price accounting impact

Non-cash share-based compensation expense

Fair value adjustment on interest rate and commodity derivatives

Defened and non-cunent tax impact

Gain loss on extinguishment or modification of long-term debt net

Reorganization of business and other

Other

Net earnings loss

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Summary of Key Reconciling Items

Twelve Months Ended

December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31

2009 2010 2011 2012

144 566 761 461

243 160 173

486 467 232 13

345 82 15

$l218 61 274 $463

20 217 19
613 400 13

28 27 43

17

16

97 32

82 15

Includes the effects of purchase price accounting relating to our acquisition by consortium of investors in 2006 and our

acquisition of SigmaTel Inc in 2008 including as applicable depreciation expense associated with the property plant

and equipment step up to fair value and amortization expense for acquired intangible assets related to developed

technology and tradenames/trademarks

Reflects non-cash share-based compensation expense under the provisions of ASC Topic 718 Compensation Stock

Compensation
Reflects the change in fair value of our interest rate and commodity derivatives which are not designated as cash flow

hedges under the provisions of ASC Topic 815 Derivatives and Hedging

Adjustments to reflect cash income tax expense

Reflects gains losses on extinguishments and modifications of our long-term debt net

Reflects items related to our reorganization of business programs and other charges

Reflects the acceleration of depreciation relating to the closure of certain of our 150mm manufacturing facilities

Notes

Adjusted operating earnings loss represent operating earnings loss adjusted for the following as necessary

incremental depreciation expense
for property plant and equipment fair value step-up and associated with reduction in lives

of certain manufacturing assets amortization of acquired intangible assets and reorganization of businesses and other

charges Adjusted operating earnings loss is not recognized term under generally accepted accounting principles in the

United States U.S GAAP Adjusted operating earnings loss does not represent operating earnings loss as the term is

defined under U.S GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to operating earnings loss as an indicator of our

operating performance We have included information concerning adjusted operating earnings loss because we use such

information when evaluating operating earnings loss to better evaluate the underlying performance of the Company

Adjusted operating earnings loss as presented herein is not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures

Adjusted net earnings loss is net earnings loss adjusted for certain items that we believe are not indicative of the

performance of our ongoing operations We present adjusted net earnings loss as supplemental performance measure We

believe adjusted net earnings loss is helpful to an understanding of our business and provides means of evaluating our

performance from period to period on more consistent basis This presentation should not be construed as an indication that

similar items will not recur or that our future results will be unaffected by other items that we consider to be outside the

ordinary course of our business Because adjusted net earnings loss facilitates internal comparisons of our historical

financial position and operating performance on more consistent basis we also use adjusted net earnings loss for business

planning purposes in measuring our performance relative to that of our competitors and in evaluating the effectiveness of our

operational strategies Adjusted net earnings loss has limitations as an analytical tool and you should not consider it in

isolation or as substitute for an analysis of our results as reported under U.S GAAP We compensate for these limitations

by relying primarily on our U.S GAAP results and using adjusted net earnings loss only supplementally

692
709

38

264
2296

345

20

748

14

53
417

14

$1053 $410 $102
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OATH OR AFFIRMATION

Elias Cervantes swear or affirm that to the best of

my knowledge and belief the accompanying financial statement and supporting schedules pertaining to the firm of

Montgomery Co LLC as

of December 31 20 12 are true and correct further swear or affirm that

neither the company nor any partner proprietor principal officer or director has any proprietary interest in any account

classified solely as that of customer except as follows

C0MM 1841886 in

NOTARY PUBLIC.CALIPORMA Signature
Los ANGELES COUNTY

Cow Exp MAR 26 2013T

Title

th-
Notary Public

This report contains check all applicable boxes

Facing Page

Statement of Financial Condition

El Statement of Income Loss
El Statement of Changes in Financial Condition

Statement of Changes in Stockholders Equity or Partners or Sole Proprietors Capital

El Statement of Changes in Liabilities Subordinated to Claims of Creditors

El Computation of Net Capital

Computation for Determination of Reserve Requirements Pursuant to Rule 15c3-3

El Information Relating to the Possession or Control Requirements Under Rule 15c3-3

El Reconciliation including appropriate explanation of the Computation of Net Capital Under Rule 5c3- and the

Computation for Determination of the Reserve Requirements Under Exhibit of Rule 5c3-3

El Reconciliation between the audited and unaudited Statements of Financial Condition with respect to methods of

consolidation

An Oath or Affirmation

copy of the SIPC Supplemental Report

report describing any material inadequacies found to exist or found to have existed since the date of the previous audit

Forconditions of confidential treatment of certain portions of this filing see section 240.1 7a-5e3
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Members of

Montgomery Co LLC

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial condition of Montgomery Co LLC
Delaware limited liability company the Company as of December 31 2012 and the related notes

to the financial statement

Managements Responsibility for the Financial Statement

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of this financial statement in

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America this

includes the design implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation

and fair presentation of financial statement that is free from material misstatement whether due to

fraud or error

Auditors Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial statement based on our audit We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of

America Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statement is free of material misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statement The procedures selected depend on the auditors judgment including the

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statement whether due to fraud or

error In making those risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the

Companys preparation and fair presentation of the financial statement in order to design audit

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control Accordingly we express no such

opinion An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management as well as evaluating the

overall presentation of the financial statement

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide basis

for our audit opinion

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statement referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

financial position of Montgomery Co LLC as of December 31 2012 in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America

1PWAU 4kV1ibt 11 4If UiO

Long Beach California

March 112013

11444 Olympic Boulevard 11th Floor West Los Angeles CA 90064 4550 Thousand Oaks Boulevard Suite 100 Westlake Village CA 91362

100 Oceangate Suite 800 Long Beach CA 90802 117 East Colorado Boulevard 6th Floor Pasadena CA 91105

555 Anton Boulevard Suite 700 Costa Mesa CA 92626 15760 Ventura Boulevard Suite 1700 Encino CA 91436

400 Ventura Boulevard Suite 250 Camarillo CA 93010 115 West 2nd Street Suite 204 Fort Worth TX 93010



MONTGOMERY CO LLC

DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

DECEMBER 31 2012

ASSETS

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4635600

Restricted cash 406782

Accounts receivable net 125604

Investments at fair value cost of $361468 1105441

Property net 1019300

Prepayments and other assets 1215268

Total assets 8507995

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS EQUITY

Liabilities

Bonus payable 1002500

Deferred rent 562145

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 755425

Total liabilities 2320070

Commitments and contingencies

Members equity deficit

Common 520956
Class members 2841199
Class members

Class members

Class members 7995942

Class D-1 members 1554138

Total members equity 6187925

Total liabilities and members equity 8507995

See accompanying notes to statement of financial condition



MONTGOMERY CO LLC
DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

NOTES TO STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

DECEMBER 31 2012

NOTE ORGANIZATION

Montgomery Co LLC the Company is limited liability company organized pursuant to

Delaware Limited Liability Company Law The Company was formed on July 15 1996

The Company is an investment bank focused on mergers and acquisitions and private

placement advisory services for growth companies in the information technology

communications and media industries

The Company is registered broker-dealer under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and

is member of Financial Industry Regulatory Authority FINRA and various state regulatory

agencies

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting

The Company uses the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America Revenues and expenses are recorded

as earned and incurred respectively

Presentation of Statement of Financial Condition

The Company does not present classified statement of financial condition that presents

short-term and long-term assets and liabilities Managements expectation is that in the

normal course of business certain assets will benefit future periods of greater than twelve

months and certain liabilities are payable later than twelve months after December 31 2012

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of amounts on deposit with major financial institutions

and highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are customer obligations due under normal trade terms The Company

performs continuing credit evaluations on each customers financial condition and senior

management reviews accounts receivable on monthly basis to determine if any receivable

will potentially be uncollectible The Company includes any accounts receivable balances

that are determined to be uncollectible in the allowance for doubtful accounts Allowance for

doubtful accounts on accounts receivable balances for the year ended December 31 2012

amounted to $160219

Bonus Payable

The Company records incentive compensation for its employees which is unpaid at

December 31 2012 as bonus payable in the accompanying statement of financial condition

Accrued incentive compensation amounts are based on formulas established by and

discretionary decisions made by the Companys compensation committee All bonus

payable amounts at December 31 2012 are expected to be paid in 2013



MONTGOMERY CO LLC
DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

NOTES TO STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

DECEMBER 31 2012

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Property

Property is stated at cost Depreciation and amortization are provided for using the straight-

line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets ranging from three to five

years Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the lease terms or the

estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line method

Betterments renewals and extraordinary repairs that materially extend the useful life of the

asset are capitalized other repairs and maintenance charges are expensed as incurred The

cost and related accumulated depreciation applicable to assets retired are removed from the

accounts and the gain or loss on disposition if any is recognized in the statement of

operations for that period

Useful lives by asset category are as follows

Internally developed computer software years

Computers and equipment 3-5 years

Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years

Leasehold improvements Lesser of estimated useful life or

remaining lease term

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial

statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period

Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the valuation of

investments in non-marketable securities the accrual of incentive compensation and the

allowance for doubtful accounts Actual results could differ from those estimates

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Companys cash and cash equivalents are maintained in various bank accounts The

Company may have exposure to credit risk to the extent that its cash and cash equivalents

exceed amounts covered by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation The Company

believes that its credit risk is not significant

As of December 31 2012 three clients accounted for 26% 18% and 10% respectively of total

accounts receivable No other client accounted for more than 10% of total accounts receivable



MONTGOMERY CO LLC
DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

NOTES TO STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

DECEMBER 31 2012

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Income Taxes

The Company is limited liability company LLC treated as partnership for federal and

state income tax purposes and therefore does not incur federal income taxes at the company
level Instead its earnings and losses are passed through to the members and included in

the calculation of the individual members tax liability

However because the Company is an LLC it is subject to state fees based on its annual

gross receipts In addition the Company is required to pay an $800 annual tax to the state

of California for the right to conduct business in the state

The Company has adopted the accounting topic generally accepted in the United States of

America for income taxes which provides guidance for how uncertain income tax positions

should be recognized measured presented and disclosed in the financial statements The

Company is required to evaluate the income tax positions taken or expected to be taken to

determine whether the positions are more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination

by the applicable tax authority The Company has determined that the application of the

accounting topic for income taxes does not impact its operations With few exceptions the

Company is no longer subject to U.S federal and state income tax examinations by tax

authorities for years before 2008

Investment Valuation

Investments were stated at fair value as of December 31 2012 Marketable securities are

valued based on published price quotations for their last reported sales price In making the

valuation of its investments the Company takes into account the cost of the investment to

the Company developments since the acquisition of the investment the quoted prices of

similar securities that are publicly traded and other factors pertinent to the valuation of the

investment

Investments held by the Company which have an active public market are valued based on

the closing day price on the exchange where they are publicly traded For those investments

held by the Company where there is no public market the Company has relied on financial

data and representations of the investee on its own estimates Black-Scholes option-pricing

models and on projections made by the investee as to the effect of future developments

Because of the uncertainty of valuation the estimated value may differ significantly from the

value that would have been used had ready market for the investment existed and the

difference could be material Net unrealized change in value of investments during the year

is included in revenues in the accompanying statement of operations

Fair Value Measurement

The Company accounts for the fair value of its financial instruments in accordance with

Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Accounting Standards Codification ASC
Topic 820 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures ASC 820 Non-recurring non
financial assets and liabilities are also accounted for under the provisions of ASC 820 In

accordance with ASC 820 the Company has categorized its financial instruments based on

the priority of the inputs to the valuation technique into three-level fair value hierarchy



MONTGOMERY CO LLC
DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

NOTES TO STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

DECEMBER 31 2012

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Fair Value Measurement Continued

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for

identical assets or liabilities Level and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs Level

If the inputs used to measure the financial instruments fall within different levels of the

hierarchy the categorization is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement of the instrument

Financial assets and liabilities recorded on the statement of financial condition at fair value

are classified and disclosed in one of the following categories

Level Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on unadjusted quoted

prices for identical assets or liabilities in an accessible and active market as

of the measurement date As required by ASC 820 the Company does not

adjust the quoted price for these assets and liabilities even in situations

where the Company holds large position and purchase or sale could

reasonably impact the quoted price

Level Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on quoted prices in

markets that are not active or whose values are based on pricing inputs that

are both significant to the overall fair value measurement and observable

either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or

liability

Level Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on prices or valuation

techniques that require inputs that are both unobservable and significant to

the overall fair value measurement The selection of inputs and pricing

techniques will typically require significant amount of judgment and will

involve assumptions about what market participant would use to price the

asset or liability

The following table presents the Companys fair value hierarchy for those assets measured

at fair value on recurring basis as of December31 2012

Level Level Level Total

Investments in securities 1105441 1105441

The changes in investment amounts classified as Level are as follows

Balance at January 12012 2103169

Unrealized gains and losses net 450590
Purchases 7572

Sales 554710
Balance at December 31 2012 1105441



MONTGOMERY CO LLC
DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

NOTES TO STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

DECEMBER 31 2012

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Continued

Fair Value Measurement Continued

The Company recognizes transfers between the Levels as of the beginning of the year

There were no transfers between Level and Level or during the year

The following table describes the valuation techniques used to calculate fair values for

assets in Level For Level assets the Companys finance department which reports to

the chief financial officer determines the fair value measurement valuation policies and

procedures At least annually the finance department determines if the current valuation

techniques used in the fair value measurements are still appropriate and evaluates and

adjusts the unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements based on current

market conditions and third-party information There were no changes in the valuation

techniques during the current year Quantitative Information about Level Fair Value

Measurements is as follows

Valuation Techniques Unobservable Input Range Average

Market comparable EBITDA multiplea 4.8.9 5.0
companies Revenue multiplea 1.21.3 1.3

Discount for lack of

marketabilityb 30%

Notes

Represents amounts used when the Company has determined that market participants would use

such multiples when pricing the investments

Represents amounts used when the Company has determined that market participants would take

into account these premiums and discounts when pricing the investments

NOTE TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Included in prepayments and other assets in the accompanying statement of financial

condition is $723948 of receivables due from related parties of which $156773 relates to

management fees receivable from Montgomery MM Investment Partners LLC and

Montgomery Vantage LLC and $47150 $47540 and $56178 due from Digital Coast

Ventures Corp Montgomery Manager LLC and Montgomery MM Manager LLC

respectively for rental and administrative fees An additional $221133 is receivable from

Digital Coast Ventures LLC for amounts held in escrow as part of the sale of one of its

investments during 2012 Also of the $723948 related party receivables $84837 relates to

amounts due from MCO Class Partner GP LLC MCO Class Partner Holdings LP MCO
Common Partner GP LLC MOO Common Partner Holdings LP Montgomery Insiders VMH
Partnership Montgomery MM Direct Investment Partners Montgomery MM Investment

Partners LLC Montgomery Vantage II LLC and Montgomery Vantage III LLC for payment

of taxes on the entities behalf and for professional services provided Additionally $1 10337

of the $723948 receivable relates to amounts due from various members for payment of

taxes on their behalf



MONTGOMERY CO LLC
DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

NOTES TO STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

DECEMBER 31 2012

NOTE TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES Continued

The Company is general partner in management company Shah Management Partners

which is the general partner in the equity fund Shah Capital Partners Some partners of Shah

Capital Partners and Shah Management Partners are also Class members of the

Company

NOTE PROPERTY

Property consists of the following at December 31 2012

Computers and equipment 687694

Customer relationship management software 357740

Furniture and fixtures 431690

Leasehold improvements 3668737

5145861

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 4126561

1019300

NOTE DEFFERED RENT

The Company leases office facilities and equipment under various operating lease

arrangements These leases contain rent escalation clauses that require additional rental

amounts in the later years of the lease term Rent expense for leases with escalation clauses

is recognized on straight-line basis over the minimum lease term The excess or deficit of

rent expense recognized over rent paid is recorded as an increase or decrease to deferred

rent in the accompanying statement of financial condition

In connection with the lease agreement entered into by the Company on its San Francisco

premises on January 2005 the Company received tenant leasehold improvement

allowance in the amount $754040 which was recorded as deferred rent and is being

amortized on straight-line basis over the lease term Such amortization is included in rent

expense in the accompanying statement of operations

In addition the Company renewed its Santa Monica California office lease agreement on

January 2011 In connection with this agreement the Company received tenant

leasehold improvement allowance in the amount of $158818 which was recorded as

deferred rent and is being amortized on straight-line basis over the lease term Such

amortization is included in rent expense in the accompanying statement of operations



MONTGOMERY CO LLC
DELAWARE LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

NOTES TO STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

DECEMBER 31 2012

NOTE MEMBERS EQUITY

Under the Eighth Amended and Restated Operating Agreement the Operating Agreement

effective December 31 2009 the Company issued the following membership unit classes

Common Units Class Units Class Units Class Units Class Units and Class D-1

Units Common Units and Class Units have been issued to employee members of the

Company The Class Class Class and Class D-1 Units have been issued to certain

nonemployee institutional investors The amount and type of units outstanding distribution

preferences redemption provision and voting rights for each class of member are subject to

provisions of the Operating Agreement

During 2010 the Company granted 27.375 Class member units to certain employees of

the Company During 2012 the Company granted an additional 1.000 Class member unit

to board member The Class member units outstanding distribution preferences

redemption provision vesting period and voting rights for each member are governed by the

Restricted Unit Award Agreements and are subject to provisions of the Operating

Agreement The awards vest over four year period and 20.5447 units have vested as of

December 31 2012 The fair value of the awards as determined by the Companys Board of

Managers was zero based upon the facts and circumstances available as of the grant dates

During 2012 the Company distributed to an employee of the Company portion of their

Class units in connection with certain Repurchase Agreements entered into by the

Company MCO Class Partner Holdings LP Class member and such

employee Immediately after the distribution of the Class member units to the employees

such units were acquired by the Company No cash was given for these units Similarly in

accordance with the Operating Agreement the effect of redeeming the Class membership

units has been charged to the Class and Class D-1 members

Certain members of the Company are entitled to liquidation preference as set forth in the

Companys Operating Agreement As of December 31 2012 the total liquidation preference

was $17422649

NOTE ALLOCATIONS OF PROFITS AND LOSSES AND DISTRIBUTIONS

Profits and losses are allocated to members in accordance with the provisions set forth in the

Companys Operating Agreement as restated Distributions are made in accordance with the

Operating Agreement



MONTGOMERY CO LLC
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DECEMBER 31 2012

NOTE COMMITMENTS

At December 31 2012 the Company was obligated under non-cancelable operating leases

for office spaces through March 2016 which contain escalation clauses

The aggregate future minimum rental commitments under the operating leases are as

follows

Cash Straight-Line Deferred

Years ending December 31 Payments Rent Expense Rent

2013 1055236 983157 72079

2014 1076342 983157 93185

2015 834495 745740 88755

2016 148382 127081 21301

3114455 2839135 275320

Tenant Improvements 286825

Deferred rent as of December 31 2012 562145

The Companys policy is to record tenant improvement allowances received as deferred rent

and amortize them as reduction to rent expense over the lease term

For its San Francisco California and Santa Monica California offices the Company

delivered letters of credit to the landlords in the amounts of $87932 and $300000

respectively No amounts have been used against the letters of credit as of December 31

2012 The Company maintains restricted cash deposit of $406782 to secure the letters of

credit on the leases This amount is included in restricted cash in the accompanying

statement of financial condition

The Company has entered into partnership agreements with related parties Montgomery

Manager LLC and Montgomery MM Manager LLC and has committed to fund capital to

these partnerships in the amounts of $104214 and $82386 respectively As of December

31 2012 $94272 has been funded to Montgomery Manager LLC and $44096 has been

funded to Montgomery MM Manager LLC Outstanding commitments of $9942 and $38290

may be called by the partnerships as outlined in their respective operating agreements

NOTE INDEMNIFICATION ARRANGEMENTS

The Companys Operating Agreement obligates the Company to indemnify Members from

and against any and all losses they incur in connection with the Company its properties

business or affairs This indemnity does not extend to any conduct which constitutes

recklessness willful misconduct or gross negligence as determined by court of competent

jurisdiction following the expiration of all appeals The Company has never had and is not

currently aware of any facts that would give rise to claim for indemnification under the

Operating Agreement and such possible claims are considered remote
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NOTE 10 NET CAPITAL REQUIREMENT

As broker-dealer the Company is subject to the Securities and Exchange Commission

Uniform Net Capital Rule rule 15c3-1 which requires the maintenance of minimum net

capital and the ratio of aggregate indebtedness to net capital both as defined will not

exceed 15 to The basic concept of the net capital rule is liquidity its objective being to

require broker-dealer to have at all times sufficient liquid assets to meet its current

liabilities

Summarized net capital information for the Company at December 31 2012 is as follows

Net capital Schedule 2315530

Required net capital 132025
Excess net capital 2183505

Ratio of aggregate indebtedness to net capital 0.86 to

NOTE 11 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has evaluated subsequent events that have occurred from January 2013

through March 11 2013 which is the date that the financial statements were available to be

issued and determined that there were no subsequent events or transactions that required

recognition or disclosure in the financial statements except as follows

On February 28 2013 the Company received subordinated loans in the amount of $400000

from two LLC Members The loans bear an interest rate of 15% and mature on February 28

2014 The subordinated loans are qualified for net capital purposes
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